AGENDA

REGULAR MEETING
ORANGE COUNTY JUVENILE JUSTICE COORDINATING COUNCIL

Thursday, July 23, 2020, 3:30 P.M.

MEETING HELD BY ZOOM AND TELECONFERENCE ONLY

**Pursuant to the provisions of California Governor’s Executive Order N-29-20,

issued on March 17, 2020, this meeting will be held by Zoom and teleconference.
Members of the public may attend and participate by following the instructions below.**

STEVE SENTMAN, Chair
Probation

KELLI BELTRAN
Juvenile Court Representative

JARED DAHL
Sheriff-Coroner

ANDREW DO
Orange County Board of Supervisors

DEBRA BAETZ
Social Services Agency

HETHER BENJAMIN
Community Based Organization Rep.

TOM DARE
Local Law Enforcement

JEFFREY NAGEL
Health Care Agency, Mental Health

MEGHAN MEDLIN
At Large Community Representative

NAZLY RESTREPO
Community Based Drug & Alcohol Rep.

TODD SPITZER DARREN THOMPSON
District Attorney Public Defender
LYNN GARRETT VACANT

Education Representative Business Representative

The Orange County Juvenile Justice Coordinating Council welcomes you to this meeting. This agenda contains a brief general
description of each item to be considered. The Council encourages your participation. If you wish to speak on an item contained
in the agenda, please press *9 following the Chair’s invitation from the public to speak. Once acknowledged and prompted by
the Chair or Clerk, you may begin to speak. Except as otherwise provided by law, no action shall be taken on any item not
appearing in the agenda. When addressing the Council, please state your name for the record prior to providing your comments.

** INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTENDING THE MEETING BY TELECONFERENCE**
Members of the public may observe and participate in the meeting telephonically. To attend the meeting via
teleconference please call:

e iPhone one-tap: US: +16699009128, 88584933423# or +13462487799, 88584933423# or

e Telephone: US: +1 669 900 9128 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312

626 6799 or +1 646 558 8656 (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location)

Webinar ID: 885 8493 3423 (once you enter this code, you should be automatically connected to the call; you will
remain on the line until meeting begins).

**|n compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for this meeting should
notify the Clerk of the Board's Office 72 hours prior to the meeting at (714) 834-2206**

AGENDA - ORANGE COUNTY JUVENILE JUSTICE COORDINATING COUNCIL, July 23, 2020
PAGE 1



AGENDA

All supporting documentation is available for public review in the office of the Clerk of the Board of
Supervisors located in the Hall of Administration Building, 333 W. Santa Ana Blvd., 10 Civic Center Plaza,
Room 465, Santa Ana, California 92701 during regular business hours,

8:00 a.m. - 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.

ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS: (Items 1 - 5)

At this time, members of the public may ask the Council to be heard on the following items as those items are
called.

1. Welcome and Introductions

2. Receive and file FY 2020-21 Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act (JJCPA) funding allocation based on
Governor’s May Revise

3. Receive and file Final Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) FY 2020-21 JJCPA-YOBG
Consolidated Annual Plan submitted to the BSCC

4. Discussion of Joint Legislative Audit Committee Report 2019-116, Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act:
Weak Oversight Has Hindered Its Meaningful Implementation

5. Discussion and approval of plan to review current JJCPA approved programs and reporting requirements
for compliance with regulations governing the requirements of funded programs with consideration given
to findings in Joint Legislative Audit Committee Report; and approve creation of ad hoc committee

PUBLIC & COUNCIL COMMENTS:

At this time members of the public may address the Orange County Juvenile Justice Coordinating Council on any
matter not on the agenda but within the jurisdiction of the Council. The Council or Chair may limit the length of
time each individual may have to address the Council.

PUBLIC COMMENTS:

COUNCIL COMMENTS:

ADJOURNMENT

NEXT MEETING:
October 22, 2020 Regular Meeting, 3:30 P.M.

AGENDA - ORANGE COUNTY JUVENILE JUSTICE COORDINATING COUNCIL, July 23, 2020
PAGE 2



Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act (JJCPA)

FY 2020-21 CEO Recommended Budget for Discussion and Approval

CEO
Recommended Governor May
Budget Revise
FY 2020-21 FY 2020-21

Total Carryover Funds from Prior Year 4,149,671 4,149,671
Anticipated Allocation for FY 2020-21 14,270,409 12,613,001
Total Funds Available 18,420,079 16,762,671
Programs Approved for Funding:

Substance Use Disorder 5,474,595 5,474,595

Juvenile Recovery Court 844,238 844,238

Decentralized Intake/Sheriff's Prevention 372,985 372,985

Truancy Response 919,967 919,967

School Mobile Assessment & Response Team - South 1,143,210 1,143,210

School Mobile Assessment & Response Team - North*** (pilot - 12 months) 1,647,462 1,647,462

Youth Reporting Centers 4,880,236 4,880,236

Active Recidivism Reduction Initiative via Engagement (ARRIVE) 500,000 500,000

School Threat Assessment Team Training* 63,750 63,750

Administrative Costs (0.5%)** 71,352 63,065
Total Funding Approved for Programs for FY 2019-20 15,917,795 15,909,508
Future Obligations Approved by Committee
School Mobile Assessment & Response Team - North (pilot - 6 months) 823,731 823,731
Anticipated Balance of Funds Available 1,678,553 29,432

* Indicates one-time funding request.

ITEM #2

** Administrative Costs includes administrative support services provided by CEO Budget and Clerk of the Board. Government Codes 30062(c)(1) and 30062(d)(2).
*** HCA in-kind services for SMART FY 2019-20 projected cost is $125,895 for 1 Behavioral Health Clinician 1l and FY 2020-21 budget is $277,175 for 2 Behavioral Health Clinician |

Path: S:\CEO Budget\Public Protection & Community Services\Program N\JJCPA\FY 2020-21\
File: FY 20-21 JJCPA Budget - MASTER Working File
Tab: FY 2021 Overview

Updated by CEO Budget/DT
5/15/2020


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #2


ITEM #3

Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act &
Youthful Offender Block Grant (JJCPA-YOBG)

FY 2020-2021
Consolidated Annual Plan

Date: May 29, 2020

COU nty Name: County of Orange

Contact Name: |DatThomas

Telephone Number: [714-834-2320

E-Mail Address: |datthomas@ocgov.com

Instructions:

Government Code Section 30061(b)(4) and Welfare & Institutions
Code Section 1961(b) call for consolidation of the annual plans
required for JUCPA and YOBG.

Please submit your most up-to-date consolidated plan.

The rest of this document is a standardized template for a
consolidated county plan. If you find it helpful to use this template,
please do so.

Your submission will be posted, as submitted, to the BSCC
website.

Please e-mail your plan to:

JJCPA-YOBG@bscc.ca.gov

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 1 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


Juvenile Justice Plan

Part I. Countywide Service Needs, Priorities and Strategy

A.

Assessment of Existing Services

B. ldentifying and Prioritizing Focus Areas
C.
D. Comprehensive Plan Revisions

Juvenile Justice Action Strategy

Part Il. Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act (JJCPA)

A.
B.
C. Funded Programs, Strategies and/or System Enhancements

Information Sharing and Data Collection
Juvenile Justice Coordinating Councils

Part I11. Youthful Offender Block Grant (YOBG)

A.
B.
C.

Strategy for Non-707(b) Offenders

Regional Agreements

Funded Programs, Placements, Services, Strategies and/or System

Enhancements

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan

ITEM #3

Page 2 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

Part I. Service Needs, Priorities & Strategy — (Government Code
Section 30061(b)(4)(A))

A. Assessment of Existing Services

Include here an assessment of existing law enforcement, probation, education,
mental health, health, social services, drug and alcohol, and youth services resources
that specifically target at-risk juveniles, juvenile offenders, and their families.

Orange County law enforcement consists of 26 city police agencies, the Orange County Sheriff's Department, the
Probation Department, the District Attorney, and the Public Defender's Office.

In addition to local school districts, the Orange County Department of Education (OCDE) provides educational
services. OCDE provides alternative schools for youth who have been unsuccessful in the local school districts
and in the Probation Department operated juvenile facilities.

The Orange County Health Care Agency (HCA) provides mental health and substance use therapy at community
clinics throughout Orange County, in youth reporting centers, and in juvenile facilities. HCA and the Orange
County Social Services Agency (SSA) also provide wraparound services for youth involved in the juvenile
dependency/delinquency system.

There are many community-based organizations that collaborate in working with system-involved youth and
their families, including the Orange County Bar Foundation, Waymakers, Padres Unidos, Boy's and Girl's Club of
Garden Grove, Project Kinship, various faith-based organizations and many other secular human service
organizations.

Describe what approach will be used to facilitate collaboration amongst the
organizations listed above and support the integration of services.

Juvenile Justice Services are coordinated by various multi-agency collaborative groups, including the Orange
County Juvenile Justice Commission, the Orange County Criminal Justice Coordinating Council, the Juvenile
Justice Coordinating Council, and the Orange County Superior Court Blue Ribbon Commission. These bodies
make determinations and provide oversight in the use of resources and the initiatives undertaken to address
juvenile dependency/delinquency services.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 3 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

B. Identifying and Prioritizing Focus Areas

Identify and prioritize the neighborhoods, schools, and other areas of the county that
face the most significant public safety risk from juvenile crime.

One of the priorities has been to focus intervention and services to the zip codes identified as having the highest
arrest rates in Orange County. These zip codes are all located in the cities of Santa Ana and Anaheim, the two (2
largest cities by population in Orange County. These zip codes include areas with diverse populations and
problems with gang activity, narcotics sales, and abuse. The Probation Department, the local law enforcement
and our community-based partners have targeted these areas for human services interventions, as well as law
enforcement suppression activities.

C. Juvenile Justice Action Strategy

Describe your county's juvenile justice action strategy. Include an explanation of
your county's continuum of responses to juvenile crime and delinquency as well as a
description of the approach used to ensure a collaborative and integrated approach
for implementing a system of swift, certain, and graduated responses for at-risk
youth and juvenile offenders.

The Orange County Juvenile Justice Strategy begins with a citation or arrest by a law enforcement agency. The
Probation Department screens cases through the Non-Custody and Custody Intake process.

Should formal court handling be required, the court has various dispositional options: informal handling,
deferred entry of judgment, or wardship; and with or without probation supervision. Whenever possible, youth
are diverted from the juvenile justice system. The Probation Department operates under the risk/needs
responsivity principle where the focus is on working with high-risk youth.

Graduated sanctions are used to ensure an appropriate response to delinquent behavior. The Probation
Department has developed non-custodial sanctions, including Youth Reporting Center locations (day reporting
centers providing on-site school and treatment programs). Probation Officers act as case managers, making
referrals to community-based organizations or other county agencies to provide services, such as mental health,
counseling, substance use counseling, gang intervention, or wraparound services. Probation Officers also
provide cognitive-behavioral interventions proven effective at reducing recidivism, such as Effective Practices in
Community Supervision (EPICS). Probation Officers also offer incentives to youth for positive behavior and
compliance with terms and conditions of probation.

Should a court order a commitment to a juvenile facility, the Probation Department operates Juvenile Hall for
secure detention, as well as two (2) camp facilities where committed youth receive treatment services. The
treatment provided includes mental health counseling, substance use counseling, sex offender treatment, and
cognitive-behavioral programs; including Aggression Replacement Training, Thinking for a Change, Decision
Points, and EPICS.

The Orange County Probation Department has been involved with Juvenile Detention Alternatives Initiative
resulting in a significant drop in overall juvenile crime and the use of secure and non-secure detention beds, and
a significant increase in the use of diversion programs and evidence-based practices proven to reduce
recidivism.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 4 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

D. Comprehensive Plan Revisions

Describe how your Plan has been updated for this year.

The Annual Plan is a collaborative effort across county departments and highlights the programming in place
under the JJCPA. The Annual Plan's main county contributors include the District Attorney's Office, the Health
Care Agency, the Sheriff's Department, the Public Defender's Office, and the Probation Department. County
departments request funding under the JJCPA programs based on State available funding. Funding requests
are evaluated by the County Budget Office and a recommendation is made to the Orange County Juvenile
Justice Coordinating Council. Each year, the Annual Plan, including the budget allocations, is approved by the
Orange County Juvenile Justice Coordinating Council, which includes input from the non-county/community-
based organizations. For this year, several new programs have been added, including North School Mobile

Assessment and Response Team, Orange County School Threat Assessment Team, and Active Recidivism
Reduction Initiative via Engagement.

If your Plan has not been updated this year, explain why no changes to your plan
are necessary.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 5 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

Part 11. Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act (JJCPA) — (Government
Code Section 30061(b)(4))

A. Information Sharing and Data

Describe your information systems and their ability to facilitate the sharing of data
across agencies within your county. Describe the data obtained through these

systems and how those data are used to measure the success of juvenile justice
programs and strategies.

The Probation Department operates a client management system that was developed internally. The system
includes a validated risk/needs assessment to determine a youth's risk to recidivate. The system provides access
to a comprehensive set of data on Court orders, recidivism, probation violations, contact information, family
information, interventions, resource referrals, substance use, gang involvement, and special needs. Information
is shared with HCA and SSA based on the need to share data in order to provide appropriate services. The

Probation Department's Research Division is able to extract data from the system to provide required reports
and to assist management in making data-driven decisions.

B. Juvenile Justice Coordinating Councils

Does your county have a fully constituted Juvenile Justice Council (JJCC) as
Perscribed by Welfare & institutions Code 749.22?

(C YES (¢ NO

If no, please explain what vacancies exist on your JJCC, when those vacancies began
and your plan for filling them.

The Orange County JJCC (OCJJCC) has a current vacant council member, the Education Representative since
8/29/19, due to the prior incumbent's retirement. The OCJJCC approved the appointment of a new Education
Representative on 10/24/19, but this appointment is pending final approval from the Orange County Board of

Supervisor. The OCJJCC is expected to fill this seat after the final approval from the Orange County Board of
Supervisor at a future board meeting.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 6 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

C. Funded Programs, Strategies and/or System Enhancements

Using the template on the next page, describe each program, strategy and/or system
enhancement that will be supported with funding from JIJPCA, identifying anything
that is co-funded with Youthful Offender Block Grant (YOBG) moneys. For additional
template pages, simply click the “copy template” button below.

Copy Template

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 7 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|Juveni|e Recovery Court

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

Juvenile Recovery Court (JRC) is based on a model where an interactive judicial officer leads an interdisciplinary
team, including the District Attorney, Public Defender, Probation, HCA clinicians, and parents to address a
youth's substance use issues. The model has been shown effective nationally. The research conducted by the
Probation Department has shown reduced recidivism and substance use.

Description:

JRC s a collaborative program for youthful offenders demonstrating an escalating pattern of drug and alcohol
use. JRC provides intensive supervision and treatment for substance use to these youth as an alternative to
incarceration. There are five (5) programs phases, including an initial 30-day orientation period. The primary JRC
goals are to increase sobriety and reduce recidivism while reducing the reliance on incarceration. Participants
can complete the program in a minimum of six (6) months. When a youth graduates, all charges and stayed time
are dismissed and wardship is terminated.

Services provided within JRC include:

« Participation in weekly individual and group therapy sessions.

« Attendance at weekly self-help meetings.

« Weekly reporting to the probation officer for progress checks and drug testing.

« Regular attendance in school with no behavior problems reported.

« Compliance with all court-ordered terms and conditions and regularly scheduled weekly, bi-monthly, or
monthly court appearances for progress reviews.

« Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Orange County Board of Supervisors.

« Collaboration between county partners, such as District Attorney, Health Care Agency, Juvenile Court, Public
Defender, Probation Department, and community collaboratives (Parent Empowerment Program).

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 8 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

IDecentraIized Intake/Sheriff's Prevention Program

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The Decentralized Intake Program (DCI) is modeled after diversion programs, which attempt to minimize the
effects of labeling, associated with offending and limit the opportunities youth have to associate with antisocial
peers by reducing their contact and exposure to the juvenile justice system. Evidence-based principles of the
Risk/Needs/Responsivity model support minimizing intervention by the juvenile justice system for lower risk
offenders.

Description:

DCl increases the level of counseling and diversion services for at-risk youth in the unincorporated areas and
cities serviced by the Sheriff's Department. DCl staff offers timely assessment and a progression of intervention
services to youth and their families near their homes. The primary goal of DCl is to reduce the number of at-risk
youth that progress further in the juvenile justice system through prompt assessment and linkage to
appropriate services at the earliest possible point.

Services provided within DCl include:

« Expedited processing of youth arrested and referred to needed resources.

« Referral of DCl youth and their families to local resources, programs, and classes for appropriate intervention
services when possible.

« Informal consultations among the on-site operations staff for purposes of making more informed decisions
about certain cases.

« Collaboration between county partners, such as Sheriff's Department, Probation Department, and community
collaborates (Pepperdine Resource, Youth Diversion and Education (PRYDE)).

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 9 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|Truancy Response Program

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The Truancy Response Program (TRP) focuses on family education, support, and resource referrals to reduce
truancy. Parent education and support programs have been shown to have a statistically significant impact on
recidivism. Truancy has also been shown to be a stepping-stone to substance use and criminal behavior. By
providing families with supportive services aimed at reducing truancy, criminal behavior is reduced.

Description:

TRP is a cooperative effort to address the problem of chronic truancy in Orange County schools. TRP focuses on
chronically truant youth and their families who have failed to respond to the traditional efforts at the school
district level. A primary goal of TRP is to reduce school truancies and absences in order to increase the change of
youths' future success. The program places youth at risk for delinquency and aims to reduce the number of
youth who go on to commit a crime resulting in a formal 602 application. TRP provides progression of
interventions up to and including formal court action.

Services provide within TRP include:

« Mandatory attendance of truant youth and their parents at school-based group meetings conducted by the
District Attorney.

+ School-site consultation by a probation officer with a truant youth and his/her parents.

« Referral to probation for a TRP intake evaluation for informal handling initially.

« Placement in one of several "pre-court" TRP interventions monitored by probation.

« Court-ordered placement of the youth on 725 W&I and/or prosecution of the parents. If terminated
successfully, may result in 602 W&I.

« Court-ordered participation of both youth and parents in a Parent Empowerment Program workshop
designed to coach parents in effective discipline methods for their children.

- Referrals for services, such as counseling, parenting skills, and basic housing and shelter needs provided for
truancy court families by collaborating agencies.

« Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Board of Supervisors.

« Collaboration between count partners, such as District Attorney, Juvenile Court, SSA, Public Defender,
Probation Department, and community partners (OCDE, Waymakers, Boy's and Girl's Club of Garden Grove,
and local school districts).

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 10 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|Schoo| Mobile Assessment and Response Team

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The School Mobile Assessment and Response Team (SMART) is an intervention and prevention program focused
on involvement with families and youth to prevent school based violence and delinquency. The use of a threat
assessment tool assists in determining the appropriate level of intervention needed. Family support, resource
referrals, and diversion have all been shown to be effective in reducing delinquent behaviors.

Description:

SMART was established to reduce crime and violence by youth on, near, or affecting school campuses. SMART
works in conjunction with various collaborative partners and agencies on incidents related to violence, threats,
possession and/or use of weapons, unstable behaviors and suicidal actions or tendencies. SMART members
respond day or night to calls from school and community personnel reporting violence or threats of violence.
Each call for service results in an assessment of the situation, a threat assessment as needed (including home
searches for weapons) and referrals to law enforcement, diversion programs, or other alternative services. The
SMART goal is to prevent and/or detect the precursors to violence through education and awareness,
preempting likely instances of violence through threat assessment, and responding quickly and effectively to
violence on or around school campuses.

Services provided within SMART include:
+ Conduct threat assessments at the school and/or community site.
« Refer at-risk youth to appropriate community resources for assessment and intervention services.
« Investigate criminal acts and make arrests if necessary or recommend to a diversion program.
« Maintain safety and security to the school and return staff and students to their daily routine.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 11 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|North School Mobile Assessment and Response Team

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The North School Mobile Assessment and Response Team (NSMART) is an early intervention and prevention
program focused on involvement with families and youth to prevent school based violence and delinquency.
The use of a threat assessment tool assists in determining the appropriate level of intervention needed. Family
support, resource referrals, and diversion have all been shown to be effective in reducing delinquent behaviors.

Description:

NSMART is established to reduce crime and violence by youth on, near, or affecting school campuses in the
Central and Northern areas of Orange County. NSMART works in conjunction with Orange County Municipal
Police Departments, various collaborative partners and agencies on incidents related to violence, threats,
possession and/or use of weapons, unstable behaviors and suicidal actions or tendencies. NSMART members
respond day or night to calls from school and community personnel reporting violence or threats of violence.
Each call for service results in an assessment of the situation, a threat assessment as needed (including home
searches for weapons) and referrals to law enforcement, diversion programs, or other alternative services. The
NSMART goal is to prevent and/or detect the precursors to violence through education and awareness,
preempting likely instances of violence through threat assessment, and responding quickly and effectively to
violence on or around school campuses.

Services provided within NSMART include:
+ Conduct threat assessments at school and/or community site.
« Refer at-risk youth to appropriate community resources for assessment and intervention services.
« Investigate criminal acts and make arrests if necessary or recommend to a diversion program.
« Maintain safety and security to the school and return staff and students to their daily routine.
« Work with the dedicated Orange County Deputy District Attorney as a member of NSMART who will serve as
a specifically trained deputy district attorney for handling threats of targeted violence on school grounds.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 12 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|Orange County School Threat Assessment Team

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The Orange County School Threat Assessment Team (OCSTAT) is an intervention and prevention program
focused on involvement with families and youth to prevent school based violence and delinquency. The use of
a threat assessment tool assists in determining the appropriate level of intervention needed. Family support,
resource referrals, and diversion have all been shown to be effective in reducing delinquent behaviors.

Description:

OCSTAT is a collaboration between county partners, such as Sheriff's Department, Orange County Municipal
Police Departments, Probation Department, District Attorney, HCA, and community partners (local school
districts).

Services provided within OCSTAT include:

« Participate in monthly meetings.

- Provide ongoing training and education in the field of threats of targeted violence on school grounds.

- Participate in outreach to raise awareness and education in the community about threats of targeted violence
on school grounds.

- Enhance public safety and welfare of the public in protecting the rights of victims and be reducing juvenile
crimes through effective prevention, intervention, and rehabilitative service in a just, honest, ethical, and
efficient manner.

« Thoroughly analyze and when appropriate file criminal charges to bring youth under the jurisdiction of the
juvenile courts and rehabilitative efforts.

« Refer appropriate cases to rehabilitative programs aimed at early intervention and reduction of risk of future
harm to the community.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 13 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|Youth Reporting Centers

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The Youth Reporting Centers (YRCs) are day reporting centers that include a multidisciplinary team. The OCDE
provides school instruction and HCA clinicians provide individual and group therapy for youth. Probation
Department utilizes best practices, cognitive-behavioral interventions and programming, including Effective
Practices in Community Supervision (EPICS) and Decision Points to impact behavioral change in the youth.
Probation Officers refer youth in violation of their terms and conditions of probation to the YRC in lieu of filing
for formal violation. This diverts youth from formal court handling as well as provides them with programming
and services that target criminogenic risk factors.

Description:

The YRCs mission and goal is to reduce the use of secure detention by providing a highly structured community-
based alternative confinement program. The staff at the YRC strive to promote lawful and productive lifestyles
of its students by providing proven intervention and programming.

The YRCs operate within the local community to provide the youth population with the opportunity to modify
poor behavior and learn the skills needed to comply with their court orders and terms of probation. The youth
attend a full academic program and participate in afternoon group counseling, individual counseling, and
random drug testing with an emphasis on obtaining and maintaining sobriety. On-site job coaches assist youth
in seeking, obtaining, and maintaining employment as well as vocational training access. The YRCs also provide
an alternative to the traditional incarceration model. Youth receive support services during the day and return
home on alternative monitoring versus confinement in a juvenile facility.

Services provided within the YRCs include:
+ On-site school.
« Drug and alcohol use assessment and counseling.
» Mental health assessment and treatment.
- Cognitive behavioral intervention programs.
- Family services and parenting education.
- Gang intervention counseling.
« Community service and enrichment activities.
+ Meals.
- Transportation to and from home to the site.
« Close supervision on the site and supervision in the community.
« Alternative monitoring (such as electronic monitoring) of youth in the community.
« Accountability Commitment program.
« Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Board of Supervisors.
- Collaboration between county partners, such as OCDE, HCA, and Probation Department.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 14 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

|Substance Use Programming

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

Substance Use Programming includes programs tailored to both male youth and female youth. Programs are
based on the Therapeutic Community model for substance use treatment programs with the addition of the
Aggression Replacement Training cognitive-behavior program specific to addressing criminal recidivism. Youth
in the program receive individual therapy focusing on the treatment of co-occurring disorders and cognitive-
behavioral therapy. Family therapy is provided based on an assessment of needs by the clinician. Research has
shown that strategies that target criminal thinking and substance use reduces the likelihood of reoffending by
individuals assessed to be at high risk to recidivate.

Description:

Substance Use Programs provide intensive drug and alcohol use intervention for male and female youthful
offenders who have custody commitments and a history of drug and/or alcohol use. Substance Use
Programming provides gender-specific services in a custodial setting. The primary goals of the programs are to
reduce the likelihood of these offenders to recidivate, avoiding further delinquency and a pattern of adult crime.
The program integrates a multidisciplinary intervention and education model that is based on a national
substance use treatment program.

Services provided within the Substance Use Programs include:

- Comprehensive and intensive substance use assessment and treatment services, drug counseling by clinical
psychologists, and alcohol and drug use services counselors.

« Integrated case assessment and planning involving unit staff, education staff and collateral resources.

« Multidisciplinary education lab that provides computerized diagnostic evaluation of reading, language arts,
and math competencies.

+ Occupational training and job placement services.

« Assessment of academic skills and development of an individualized plan to address skill deficits by a
school counselor.

- Gender-specific programming that includes individualized and group counseling services and women's issues
discussion groups.

- Expanded use of the Just Beginnings parenting education curriculum.

« Mentoring and counseling support services during post-release.

« Centralized oversight of the program by a unit coordinator.

« Monthly case conferences with the youth and treatment team to discuss youth's progress in the program and
transition plan for release back into the community.

« Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Board of Supervisors.

« Collaboration between county partners, such as HCA, Probation Department, and community partners
(Department of Education/Safe Schools, North Regional Occupational Program, and the Orange County Bar
Foundation).

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 15 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

JJCPA Funded Program, Strategy and/or
System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
strategy and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

IActive Recidivism Reduction Initiative via Engagement

Evidence Upon Which It Is Based:

The Active Recidivism Reduction Initiative via Engagement (ARRIVE) program focuses on family strength training
and individualized support to wards of the court that are at risk of reincarceration. This program intends to
target and provide services to juvenile probationers (i.e., ages 12 to 18) that do not meet the eligibility criteria for
similar types of programs, such as the Youthful Offender Wraparound (YOW) program. Youth in the ARRIVE
program will be required to participate in individualized and multi-systemic team meetings to review progress
on case plan goals. Research has indicated parent education along with risk, need, responsivity support to high
risk youthful offenders has a significant impact on reducing long term recidivism.

Description:

The ARRIVE program is a collaborative program consisting of county agencies (e.g., Probation Department, HCA)
and contracted community partners that offers individualized/group support to probation youth and their
families that exhibit an increase in probation violation type of behavior (e.g., drug use, truancy, criminal
behavior). The primary focus of the ARRIVE program is to immediately address any deleterious behavior,
stabilize the family unit, and prepare the youth and his/her family for life beyond probation supervision.

Mandatory requirements for youth in the ARRIVE program include:

« Participation in bi-weekly multi-system meetings with youth partner, individual mental health care worker,
and Probation to review progress towards case plan goals.

« Attendance in weekly meetings with mental health care worker.

- Regular reporting to probation officer for progress checks.

- Regular attendance in pro-social activities (e.g., community service projects, regular school attendance).

« Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Board of Supervisors.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 16 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

Part 111. Youthful Offender Block Grant (YOBG) — (Welfare & Institutions
Code Section 1961(a))

A. Strategy for Non-707(b) Offenders

Describe your county's overall strategy for dealing with non-707(b) youthful
offenders who are not eligible for commitment to the Division of Juvenile Justice.
Explain how this Plan relates to or supports that strategy.

The Probation Department employs various strategies to address non-707(b) offenders. Probation provides
secure detention as well as community supervision, including the use of youth reporting centers, electronic
monitoring for at-home pre-adjudicated youth, and the facilitation of foster care placement for youthful
offenders.

In custody and community, supervised youth are provided a broad range of treatment and rehabilitative
programs to meet individual needs. Staff are trained in Evidence Based Practices and provide supervision based
on a validated risk/needs assessment to determine an appropriate level of intervention. Probation collaborates
with various community-based organizations, faith-based organizations, and many other secular human service
organizations.

B. Regional Agreements

Describe any regional agreements or arrangements to be supported with YOBG
funds.

Orange County does not currently have regional agreements as part of its YOBG funded services. Being a large
urban county, the needs of the youth in Orange County are significant and there is no need for a regional
approach to services with other counties at this time.

C. Funded Programs, Placements, Services, Strategies and/or System
Enhancements

Using the template on the next page, describe the programs, placements, services,
strategies, and system enhancements to be funded through the YOBG program.
Explain how they complement or coordinate with the programs, strategies and
system enhancements to be funded through the JIJCPA program. For additional
template pages, simply click the “copy template” box below.

Copy Template

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 17 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

YOBG Funded Program, Placement, Service, Strategy
and/or System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
placement, service, strategy, and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

Juvenile Facilities Programming

Nature of Coordination with JICPA:

N/A

Description:

Juvenile Facilities Programming provides institutional and camp programming at the Juvenile Hall facility and
Camp facilities. Each facility provides similar evidence-based cognitive-behavioral treatment programs. Youth
participate in a tiered phase level system of various programs. Programs provide continuum of response for the
in-custody treatment of youth. Camps target youth based on age, gender, criminogenic risk factors and/or
commitment length. Specific programs within the facilities target youth who require a higher level of need for
transition and reentry services. Programs include, but are not limited, to sex offender therapy and counseling,
pre-camp readiness, gang intervention, Progressive Rehabilitation in a Dynamic Environment (PRIDE), and
Leadership Education through Active Development (LEAD).

Services provided within Juvenile Facilities Programming include:

« Cognitive behavioral treatment programs to assist in-custody youth with their rehabilitation.

+ Aggression preplacement training.

« Thinking for a Change (T4C).

« Decision Points and Effective Practices in Community Supervision (EPICS).

« Just Beginnings parenting program and baby visits sponsored by the Youth Law Center (available to all
eligible youth).

« Individual and group counseling.

+ Therapy provided by a licensed clinician.

« Drug/Alcohol & Mental Health counseling.

+ Educational & Vocation services to address each youth's social and behavioral needs.

« Assistance for college enrollment, employment and family reunification (i.e., Regional Occupational Program).

+ Other evidence-based programming.

+ Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success, including incentives as included in Probation Juvenile
Incentives program as approved by the Board of Supervisors.

« Collaboration between county partners, such as HCA, Probation Department, and community partners
(Department of Education/Safe Schools, North Regional Occupational Program, and the Orange County Bar
Foundation).

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 18 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

YOBG Funded Program, Placement, Service, Strategy
and/or System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
placement, service, strategy, and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

Pre-Detention and Pre-Disposition Program

Nature of Coordination with JICPA:

N/A

Description:

The Pre-Detention and Pre-Dispostion Program provides a continuum of strategies to reduce the use of
incarceration while providing for electronic monitoring and supervision of youth at home while awaiting
adjudication of their cases. Using a validated risk assessment instrument to determine which youth can be safely
released home under this program protects the community and allows secure detention beds to be used only
for high-risk offenders. All participants in the program are supervised utilizing electronic monitoring equipment.
This allows pre-adjudicated wards to be served in a community-based setting rather than being detained with
youth assessed to be high-risk offenders. Youth are held accountable to the rules of the program and expected
to attend school according to their school's schedule as well as comply with all counseling orders from the court.

Services provided within the Pre-Detention and Pre-Dispostion Program include:

« Supporting youth in the community and in their homes.

« Face-to-face contact between officers and youth assigned to their caseloads.

« Risk assessment tools used to screen youth for eligibility in the program.

« Effective Practices in Community Supervisions (EPICS).

« Electronic Monitoring, which includes 24/7 GPS and radio frequency monitoring for select youthful offenders
as a deterrent and enhancement tool in community supervision.

+ Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Board of Supervisors.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 19 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


ITEM #3

YOBG Funded Program, Placement, Service, Strategy
and/or System Enhancement

This template should be copied as many times as needed to capture every program,
placement, service, strategy, and system enhancement you plan to fund next year.

Program Name:

Community Supervision

Nature of Coordination with JICPA:

N/A

Description:

Formal supervision provides reentry and post-release community supervision for youth who have committed
high-risk offenses that may have resulted in commitments to the Division of Juvenile Justice of California prior to
realignment. Designated probation officers work with youth representing the highest risk and needs. The
primary goal is to provide reentry services and effective supervision prior to and/or following release from a
juvenile facility.

The youth served are supervised on probation caseloads and are wards of the court or under pre-wardship
programs, such as diversion and non-ward probation. The youth receive risk and need assessments, which are
used to assess level of supervision. Probation officers are trained in the use of Evidence-Based Practices.

Services provided withing Community Supervision include:

« Thinking for a Change (T4C), EPICS, and Decision Points, which assist youth in successful reentry into the
community.

« Progress checks and random drug testing.

« Electronic Monitoring, which includes 24/7 GPS and radio frequency monitoring for select youthful offenders
as a deterrent and enhancement tool in community supervision.

« Reentry/Aftercare Services, which includes field supervision of wards who are released into the community by
conducting random home calls, resource referrals and case management services to youth and their families.

+ Regular monitoring of youthful offenders' success utilizing incentives as included in the Probation Juvenile
Incentives program approved by the Board of Supervisors.

2020-21 JICPA-YOBG Annual Plan Page 20 of 20


CEODThomas
Typewritten Text
ITEM #3


Item 4

Juvenile Justice Crime
Prevention Act

Weak Oversight Has Hindered Its
Meaningful Implementation

May 2020




CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 | Sacramento | CA | 95814

916.445.0255 | TTY 916.445.0033

For complaints of state employee misconduct,
contact us through the Whistleblower Hotline:

1.800.952.5665

Don'’t want to miss any of our reports? Subscribe to our email list at JE\Us[1(] He-Ke 0]

For questions regarding the contents of this report, please contact Margarita Fernidndez, Chief of Public Affairs, at 916.445.0255

This report s also available online at www.auditor.ca.gov | Alternative format reports available upon request | Permission is granted to reproduce reports



Elaine M. Howle State Auditor

i 8
o, Rt
V7 ivpgorimt

May 12, 2020
2019-116

The Governor of California
President pro Tempore of the Senate
Speaker of the Assembly

State Capitol

Sacramento, California 95814

Dear Governor and Legislative Leaders:

As directed by the Joint Legislative Audit Committee, my office conducted an audit to evaluate five counties’
spending and reporting of the funds they each received pursuant to the Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention
Act (JJCPA). In addition, JLAC requested my office to assess each county’s decision-making processes and
evaluations of programs supported with those funds. We reviewed Kern, Los Angeles, Mendocino, San Joaquin,
and Santa Barbara counties and determined that county and state oversight of the JJCPA is weak, counties
misreported or failed to include information in the reports that they submitted to the State, and the Legislature
should stabilize the amount of JJCPA funding provided to counties.

Regarding planning, the JJCPA requires that each county take a multiagency approach to reducing juvenile crime
and delinquency. To achieve such an approach, each county should establish its own Juvenile Justice Coordinating
Council (Coordinating Council) with responsibility for developing and approving the county’s comprehensive
multiagency juvenile justice plan (comprehensive plan). However, we found that Mendocino and as many as
10 other counties within the State did not have Coordinating Councils. Of the four other counties we reviewed,
Kern and Los Angeles had councils, but those councils did not always have the required representatives.
Furthermore, those counties with Coordinating Councils made only limited revisions to their comprehensive
plans during the last 20 years, despite significant changes to juvenile justice during the same period.

We also found that the Board of State and Community Corrections (Community Corrections) could improve
its oversight of the JJCPA. Specifically, Community Corrections’ review of plans and reports that the counties
submit could address many of the shortcomings we identified. Although state law does not explicitly require
it to oversee the JJCPA, the law does require Community Corrections to collect and post the comprehensive
plans and year-end reports counties submit. However, we found that some counties misreported information
about their JJCPA-funded programs or failed to include required information in the reports they submitted to
Community Corrections. Without adequate oversight of counties’ submissions, Community Corrections risks
reporting inaccurate information to key stakeholders about counties’ use of JJCPA funds.

Finally, the five counties we reviewed generally expressed concerns about an increasing amount of unguaranteed
JJCPA funds. One of the two allocations that counties receive to fund the JJCPA can change from year to year.
This fluctuation results in counties' inabilities to anticipate their total JJCPA funding; therefore, we believe
that the Legislature should increase predictability by acting to stabilize the amount of JJCPA funding the State
allocates to counties.

Respectfully submitted,

Eloa 7). ool

ELAINE M. HOWLE, CPA
California State Auditor

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200 | Sacramento, CA 95814 | 916.445.0255 | 916.327.0019 fax | www.auditor.ca.gov



iv California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report

Community Corrections
Working Group (the)
CBOs

ELEAS account
comprehensive plan
FFIT

JICPA (the)
Coordinating Council (the)
MST

Neighborhood Service
POOC

RAND

Reconnect

Board of State and Community Corrections
California Juvenile Justice Data Working Group
community-based organizations

Enhancing Law Enforcement Activities Subaccount
comprehensive multiagency juvenile justice plan
Family Focused Intervention Team

Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act

Juvenile Justice Coordinating Council
Multi-Systemic Therapy Program

Neighborhood Service Centers Program
Probation Officers on Campus Program

RAND Corporation

Reconnect Day Reporting Center Program



Contents

Summary
Introduction

Chapter 1
The Counties Have Provided Weak Oversight of the JJCPA

Recommendations

Chapter 2
The State Has Not Provided Sufficient Oversight of the JJCPA

Recommendations

Appendix A

JJCPA Program Descriptions, Expenditures, and Participant
Demographics at the Five Counties We Reviewed,

Fiscal Years 2013—14 Through 2017-18

Appendix B
Scope and Methodology

Responses to the Audit
Board of State and Community Corrections

California State Auditor's Comments on the Response From
the Board of State and Community Corrections

Kern County Probation Department

California State Auditor's Comments on the Response From
the Kern County Probation Department

County of Los Angeles Probation Department

California State Auditor's Comments on the Response From
the County of Los Angeles Probation Department

Mendocino County Probation Department

California State Auditor's Comment on the Response From
the Mendocino County Probation Department

San Joaquin County Probation Department

County of Santa Barbara Probation Department

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

30

33

4

45

73

81

85

87

91

93

97

99

103

105

107

May 2020

\'



Vi California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 1

Summary

Results in Brief

The Legislature has taken steps to transfer the responsibility for
managing juvenile offenders from the State to counties—commonly
referred to as juvenile justice realignment. For nearly 20 years,

the State has allocated funding to counties under the Juvenile
Justice Crime Prevention Act (JJCPA) with the goal of helping
them reduce juvenile crime and delinquency by implementing
crime prevention strategies, among other activities.! The JJCPA
requires that each county establish a Juvenile Justice Coordinating
Council (Coordinating Council) that consists of representatives
from a variety of local agencies and community groups to ensure
the county’s approach is collaborative. The Coordinating Council
must develop a comprehensive multiagency juvenile justice plan
(comprehensive plan) for the county. The county must annually
submit this comprehensive plan to the Board of State and
Community Corrections (Community Corrections), along with a
separate year-end report that describes the programs the county
operated with its JJCPA funds and how those programs may

have affected juvenile justice trends. Although state law does not
explicitly require Community Corrections to review or approve
the information that counties submit to it, state law does require
that Community Corrections post the information on its website
and annually submit a summarized report of the information to the
Governor and Legislature.

Despite being required to use a multiagency approach to develop
their comprehensive plans, some counties we reviewed have failed to
do so. We reviewed five counties—Kern, Los Angeles, Mendocino,
San Joaquin, and Santa Barbara—and found that Mendocino did

not have a Coordinating Council and that Kern and Los Angeles

did not have all of the required representatives on their Coordinating
Councils during fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18. In fact,
Mendocino has not had a Coordinating Council since 2009. Because
Mendocino lacked a Coordinating Council but still received JJCPA
funds, we researched whether any of the remaining 53 counties also
lacked Coordinating Councils. We found that 10 additional counties
either lacked Coordinating Councils or did not indicate they had
councils on their websites and did not respond to our inquiries.
When a county lacks a Coordinating Council or fails to ensure that its
council includes the diverse representation that the JJCPA mandates,
that county is unable to meet the JJCPA’s requirement that it take a
multiagency approach to updating its comprehensive plan.

T Throughout this report, we refer to the Schiff-Cardenas Crime Prevention Act of 2000 as the
Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act, as it is now known.

May 2020

Audit Highlights . . .

Our audit of the spending, reporting, and
evaluation of JJCPA funds by five counties,
including their decision making related to
these funds, highlighted the following:

» Although required to establish Coordinating
Councils with members from a variety of
local agencies and community groups to
develop annual comprehensive plans, some
counties we reviewed failed to do so.

+ One county did not have a Coordinating
Council and two others did not have all
the required representatives during fiscal
years 201314 through 2017-18.

« Despite significant changes in the
statewide juvenile justice landscape
over the last 20 years, the five counties
generally made limited revisions to their
comprehensive plans.

« Four of the counties do not define the
types of youth they consider to be
at risk or identify risk factors in their
comprehensive plans.

» Limited oversight from Community
Corrections has contributed to counties'
inadequate and outdated plans.

» Although counties must annually report
to Community Corrections about the
effectiveness of their JICPA-funded
programs, none of the counties we reviewed
have done so.

» Despite posting JICPA-funded program
information it receives from counties on
its website, Community Corrections does
not review the information or ensure
its accuracy.



2

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Moreover, the Coordinating Councils at the five counties generally
made limited revisions to their comprehensive plans over the last
20 years, despite significant changes in the statewide juvenile justice
landscape. For instance, California voters approved propositions

in 2014 and 2016 that reduced certain crimes from felonies to
misdemeanors and reduced the penalties for certain drug-related
offenses. We expected that in response to these shifts in state policy,
counties would periodically reassess the areas in their communities at
significant risk of juvenile crime or make changes to their strategies
for addressing juvenile crime. However, Kern, Mendocino, and

San Joaquin made only infrequent changes, such as eliminating or
expanding programs that they funded with their JJCPA allocations
without indicating whether the changes reflected revisions to their
strategies for addressing juvenile crime and delinquency. As a result,
these three counties’ comprehensive plans are likely outdated. In
contrast, Santa Barbara made several significant changes to its plan
that indicated shifts in its strategy for addressing juvenile crime

and delinquency, and it completely revised its plan for fiscal year
2018—19. Although Los Angeles’s changes to its comprehensive plan
have been limited over the past 20 years, it also recently took steps to
completely revise its plan for fiscal year 2019—20.

Community Corrections’ limited oversight of the contents of
counties’ comprehensive plans contributed to the inadequacies we
identified. Community Corrections allowed counties to submit a
form indicating that they had made changes to their comprehensive
plans but did not require them to submit copies of their revised
plans. Further, if counties made no changes to their plans,
Community Corrections allowed them to simply indicate that they
proposed to continue using JJCPA funding, instead of requiring
them to report the reasons they made no changes. Counties that
do not update their comprehensive plans limit the ability of the
stakeholders, decision makers, and the public to understand
whether and how the counties’ approaches to juvenile crime and
delinquency have changed over time.

Further, four of the five counties we reviewed failed to define the
types of youth they consider to be at risk or to identify risk factors
in their comprehensive plans. The JJCPA requires counties to
describe their approach to responding to at-risk youth in their
comprehensive plans. Although it does not explicitly define the
term at risk, the JJCPA suggests that the term includes youth who
are at risk of committing crimes. It is appropriate for counties to
have different definitions of at-risk* youth because their at-risk

* AB 413 (Chapter 800, Statutes of 2019) deleted the term “at-risk” used to describe youth for
purposes of various provisions in the California Education and Penal Codes and replaced it
with the term “at-promise.” However, the term “at-risk” currently remains in JJCPA as part of the
California Government Code. As a result, we use the term “at-risk” consistent with the JJCPA
throughout our report.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

populations may have unique needs and face different challenges.
However, when counties do not specifically identify their at-risk
populations, they cannot demonstrate that they have complied with
state law requiring them to develop comprehensive plans that assess
existing services for at-risk youth.

Counties have broad discretion to use JJCPA funds for any element
of response to juvenile crime that has been proven effective. In fiscal
year 2017—18, four of the counties we reviewed used all or most

of their JJCPA funds for programs that primarily served juvenile
offenders and were operated by their probation departments.

Three of the counties used some JJCPA funds to contract with other
local government entities and community-based organizations to
operate or coordinate with the county probation departments or
other agencies to operate programs that served juvenile offenders
or at-risk youth. However, regardless of the programs they chose to
operate, counties did not demonstrate in the reports they submitted
to Community Corrections that their JJCPA-funded programs

were effective.

State law requires counties to report annually to Community
Corrections how their JJCPA-funded programs may have affected
countywide juvenile justice trends. However, the five counties

we reviewed did not adequately report such information in their
2018 reports, even though Community Corrections’ reporting
template specifically directs them to do so. Moreover, when we
asked the five counties to provide us with certain information about
the participants in their JJCPA-funded programs during fiscal

years 2013—14 through 2017-18, they could not provide complete

or accurate data. For instance, Mendocino could not provide
information about the participants in the single JJCPA-funded
program it operated in fiscal years 2016—17 and 2017-18, and

Los Angeles did not collect information about the participants in
one of its largest programs in fiscal year 2017—18. Both counties
explained that they did not collect information about these program
participants because state law did not require them to report

such information. However, state law does require counties to
report whether their JJCPA-funded programs may have affected
countywide trends, and without reliable information regarding their
program participants, counties cannot determine the effectiveness
of their programs.

The State should also improve its oversight of the JJCPA.
Community Corrections is responsible for annually collecting
program information, including expenses, from counties and for
publishing a description or summary of JJCPA-funded programs
on its website. However, we identified obvious errors in documents
that counties submitted, which Community Corrections did not
identify because it simply posts the documents on its website.

May 2020

3



4

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Community Corrections explained that it has taken a narrow view
of its responsibilities under the law and does not consider reviewing
the accuracy of the program information counties submit to be a
part of its role. However, we believe that if Community Corrections
reviewed the information and directed counties to fix errors, the
counties could easily do so.

Further, Community Corrections does not have the authority to
compel counties to comply with JJCPA requirements, resulting
in counties’ continuing to receive funding despite their lack of
compliance. For example, as we note earlier, Mendocino and

up to 10 other counties that received JJCPA funding did not
have Coordinating Councils during our audit period. However,
Community Corrections has no authority to compel counties to
maintain their Coordinating Councils. In order to address these
types of issues, state law needs to provide authority for the State
to prohibit counties from spending funding until Community
Corrections determines that they meet the requirements of

the JJCPA.

Additionally, the State has an opportunity to change the mechanism
by which counties receive JJCPA funds to make their amounts of
funding more predictable. Currently, counties receive JJCPA funds
in two allocations: a guaranteed annual amount and an additional
amount that varies based on the vehicle license fees that the State
collects. The additional JJCPA funding that counties receive has
grown over the years but is unpredictable, making it difficult for
counties to anticipate the total amount of JJCPA funds they can
spend each year. For instance, the additional funding allocated

to counties increased by 135 percent from fiscal years 2014—15
through 2015-16, but it increased by only 15 percent from fiscal
years 2018—19 through 2019—20. Because counties are uncertain of
the amount of growth funding they will receive in future years, they
did not spend all of the JJCPA funds they received from the State
from fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18. Changing the JJCPA
funding structure so that the State allocates more of the funds as an
annual guaranteed amount, which Community Corrections should
determine, would make this funding more reliable for counties.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Summary of Recommendations

Legislature

To ensure that counties adequately identify how they serve at-risk
youth, the Legislature should require counties to define at-risk youth
in their comprehensive plans. The Legislature should also require
Community Corrections to review counties’ comprehensive plans to
ensure that each contains an adequate definition of at-risk youth.

The Legislature should direct Community Corrections to monitor
reports that counties submit to ensure that they include meaningful
descriptions or analyses of how their JJCPA-funded programs

may have contributed to or influenced countywide juvenile

justice trends.

To enable Community Corrections to provide effective oversight of
the required elements of the JJCPA, the Legislature should amend
state law to describe a process for restricting the spending of JJCPA
funding by counties that do not meet JJCPA requirements. As part
of that process, the State should prohibit counties from spending
JJCPA funds if they have not established Coordinating Councils.

To make JJCPA funding more stable and predictable, the Legislature
should amend state law to increase the amount of guaranteed
JJCPA funding the State provides to counties.

Counties

To ensure that it meets statutory requirements, Mendocino should
reinstate its Coordinating Council.

To determine the effectiveness of their use of JJCPA funds, Kern,
Los Angeles, Mendocino, San Joaquin, and Santa Barbara should
include in their year-end reports descriptions or analyses of how
their JJCPA-funded programs influenced their juvenile justice
trends, as required by law.

Los Angeles and Mendocino should collect data on all individuals
participating in each of their JJCPA programs and services to
adequately assess the effectiveness of those programs at reducing
juvenile crime and delinquency.

May 2020

5



6

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Community Corrections

Community Corrections should require each Coordinating Council
to specify the comprehensive plan components a county is changing
and what those changes are. If the county is making no changes,
Community Corrections should require the Coordinating Council
to explain why no changes to the plan are necessary.

Community Corrections should review the information counties
submit to it and follow up with them to obtain missing information
or to clarify information that seems incorrect.

Agency Comments

The five counties we reviewed agreed with our recommendations
and indicated they would take actions to implement them.
Although Community Corrections generally agreed with our
recommendations, it indicated that it currently lacks the resources
necessary to implement our recommendation that it improve the
JJCPA information it makes available on its website.



Introduction

Background

Juvenile justice realignment refers to the steps the Legislature has
taken to transfer the responsibility for managing juvenile offenders
from the State to counties. Generally, the Legislature based its
realignment efforts on the idea that a rehabilitative model of

care and treatment, which is an overarching goal of the juvenile
justice system, is more successful when juveniles can be closer to
their families or other sources of support, such as social services.
In 1996 the Legislature amended state law regarding how counties
paid for a share of the State’s cost to house juveniles in its custody.
Specifically, the counties began paying a higher share of costs for
lower-level offenders to incentivize counties to manage less serious
offenders locally. About 10 years later, the Legislature amended
state law to limit the counties’ ability to send juvenile offenders

to state juvenile facilities. At the same time, the State authorized
reimbursing counties $300 million to construct or renovate local
juvenile facilities. Also, in 2007 state law established the Youthful
Offender Block Grant, which allocates state funding for counties
to provide services related to the custody and parole of specific
juvenile offenders whom the counties would previously have sent
to state juvenile facilities. In 2011 the State acted to further realign
revenues to local governments in areas related to criminal justice,
mental health, and social services programs.

As a part of the 2011 realignment, the State modified how it
funds certain existing programs for local agencies. For instance,
although the Legislature enacted the Juvenile Justice Crime
Prevention Act (JJCPA) in 2000, in 2011 the State shifted the
funding source for the JJCPA to a realignment account.? Despite
the modification to the source of funding, the State has allocated
funding to counties under the JJCPA for nearly 20 years with the
goal of helping them reduce crime and delinquency among young
people by implementing crime prevention strategies, among
other activities. Crime prevention generally refers to a broad
array of strategies and programs that address the root causes or
risk factors associated with criminal behavior. A research project
funded by the U.S. Department of Justice found that although
few high-quality evaluations exist that have measured the impact
of crime prevention programs, these programs for children can
reduce their serious offenses in their early adulthood. According
to the 2018 Juvenile Justice in California report by the California
Department of Justice, sources such as schools, parents, and law

2 Throughout this report, we refer to the Schiff-Cardenas Crime Prevention Act of 2000 as the
Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act, as it is now known.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

7



8

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

enforcement agencies referred about 65,000 juveniles—or less than
1 percent of all individuals under the age of 18 in California—to
probation departments for determinations about how to proceed
with each juvenile.

Required Components of a
JJCPA Comprehensive Plan

- Anassessment of existing services that specifically target
at-risk youth, juvenile offenders, and their families.

- Anidentification and prioritization of neighborhoods,
schools, and other areas in the community at significant
risk of juvenile crime.

« Alocal action strategy for implementing a continuum
of responses to juvenile crime and delinquency that
demonstrates a collaborative and integrated approach for
responding to at-risk youth and juvenile offenders.

- Adescription of the programs, strategies, or system
enhancements funded by the JJCPA.

Source: State law.

JJCPA Planning Requirements

Enacted in 2000, in part with the intent of
reducing juvenile crime and delinquency, the
JJCPA requires each county to implement a
comprehensive multiagency juvenile justice plan
(comprehensive plan). Counties must include in
their comprehensive plans the four components
that the text box lists. These components generally
summarize counties’ holistic efforts to reduce
juvenile crime. Specifically, the JJCPA requires
counties to assess the existing services that
various local entities, such as county probation
departments or social services agencies, may
provide juvenile offenders, at-risk* youth, and
their families. Counties must also identify

and prioritize in their comprehensive plans the
areas in their communities that face a significant
risk of juvenile crime, including gang activity,

vandalism, truancy, firearm-related violence, and juvenile substance
abuse and alcohol use.

Additionally, the JJCPA requires counties’ comprehensive plans
to describe their local action strategies for providing a continuum
of responses to juvenile crime and delinquency. According to

the U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Juvenile Justice and
Delinquency Prevention, an effective continuum of services and
strategies offers a range of programs and services that provide
“the right resources for the right individual at the right time”
Each local action strategy must also demonstrate a collaborative
and integrated approach for implementing a system of swift,
certain, and graduated responses for at-risk youth and juvenile
offenders. Essentially, counties should describe in this component
how they plan to use their programs and services to respond, in
collaboration with various local entities, to juvenile offenders and

at-risk youth.

* AB 413 (Chapter 800, Statutes of 2019) deleted the term “at-risk” used to describe youth for
purposes of various provisions in the California Education and Penal Codes and replaced it
with the term “at-promise.” However, the term “at-risk” currently remains in JJCPA as part of the
California Government Code. As a result, we use the term “at-risk” consistent with the JJCPA
throughout our report.



Although the JJCPA requires comprehensive plans to include an
assessment of existing resources and strategies for responding to
both juvenile offenders and at-risk youth, it does not explicitly
define at-risk youth. However, it is reasonable to conclude that

at a minimum, at-risk youth include youth who are at risk of
committing crimes. Accordingly, the law leaves counties to develop
their own definitions of the factors that may place youth at risk,
based on the specific circumstances in their communities.

Lastly, the law requires counties to describe in their comprehensive
plans the programs they will provide with their JJCPA funding.

The JJCPA requires counties to base their programs on approaches
that are effective in reducing juvenile crime and delinquency. For
example, the Pew-MacArthur Results First Initiative created the
Results First Clearinghouse Database, an online resource that
brings together information from nine national clearinghouses on
the effectiveness of roughly 3,000 programs in social policy areas,
such as criminal justice, behavioral health, and education.? Such

a database can help counties identify programs for their specific
needs and research their effectiveness. The JJCPA also requires that
counties design JJCPA-funded programs and strategies to provide
data for measuring their success. For instance, counties could
measure the rate of arrests for individuals who participated in a
JJCPA-funded program compared to the rate for those who did not
participate in the program.

The JJCPA requires that each county establish a Juvenile Justice
Coordinating Council (Coordinating Council) to develop, review,
and annually update its comprehensive plan. State law designates
the county’s chief probation officer as the chair of its Coordinating
Council. In addition, a Coordinating Council must include at least
one representative each from several county and local entities,
such as the district attorney’s office, the sherift’s department, the
board of supervisors, the department of mental health, and a local
education agency. The law also requires each Coordinating Council
to include a representative from a community-based drug and
alcohol program and an at-large community member, as well as
representatives from community-based organizations (CBOs)—
nonprofit entities—providing services to minors. Although state
law does not identify a maximum number of representatives from
CBOs, it requires each Coordinating Council to inform the county
board of supervisors of the participating organizations. Moreover,
state law does not identify either the process counties should use to
appoint representatives to their Coordinating Councils or how long
the representatives may serve.

3 The Pew-MacArthur Results First Initiative provides assistance and a suite of tools to help state
and county leaders interested in using evidence to improve their programs and policies.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

9



10 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Allocation and Use of JJCPA Funding

The State provides JJCPA funding to counties based on their
populations, and counties have broad discretion in how they use
these funds. During fiscal year 2018—19, the State allocated almost
$160 million in JJCPA funds to counties—an increase of nearly

50 percent from the amount the State allocated in fiscal year 2013—14.
The State provides the funding through an annual guaranteed
funding amount, as well as an additional variable amount if funds
are available, known as growth funding. The State uses revenue
from vehicle licensing fees, which vehicle owners pay annually in
California, to fund counties’ JJCPA allocations. Table 1 shows the
amounts paid to each of the five counties we reviewed—XKern,

Los Angeles, Mendocino, San Joaquin, and Santa Barbara—from
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2018-19. Although we found that
these five counties used JJCPA funds primarily to pay for services
and programs that their probation departments provided, counties
may choose to direct JJCPA funds to other county departments or
local entities. These can include county departments responsible
for overseeing education, mental health, social services, health, and
parks and recreation. In addition, counties may use JJCPA funds
for contracts with CBOs to provide an array of programs, including
individual or family counseling and job-readiness training.

Table 1
The Five Counties We Reviewed Received a Total of Nearly $260 Million in JJCPA Funding in the Past Six Fiscal Years
(Dollars in Thousands)

2013-14 $2,508 $29,124 $258 $2,044 $1,256 $107,100
2014-15 2,738 31,548 280 2,229 1,361 113,800
2015-16 3,011 34,855 306 2,473 1,505 122,800
2016-17 3,161 36,549 317 2,612 1,590 138,500
2017-18 3,379 38,765 337 2,813 1,702 149,300
2018-19 3,619 41,194 358 3,028 1,815 159,300
Totals $18,416 $212,035 $1,856 $15,199 $9,229 $790,800

Source: State Controller’s Office payment documentation.

County Reporting Requirements and State Oversight

The Board of State and Community Corrections (Community
Corrections) operates as a quasi-oversight entity of the JJCPA at
the state level, collecting information on the JJCPA programs and
expenditures from counties and posting it to its website. State law
established Community Corrections in 2012 as the successor to



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

the Corrections Standards Authority, with a mission to provide
statewide leadership, coordination, and technical assistance to
promote effective state and local efforts and partnerships in
California’s adult and juvenile criminal justice systems. As part of
this mission, Community Corrections is responsible for collecting
and maintaining specific information on adult corrections and
juvenile justice. It is also responsible for collecting and making
publicly available current information reflecting the impact

of specified policies and practices, as well as data concerning
promising and evidence-based practices.

Community Corrections’ responsibility to collect and post
information on the counties’ uses of JJCPA funds gives it a key role
in ensuring transparency. State law requires counties to provide
annual updated descriptions of the programs, strategies, and system
enhancements they fund with their JJCPA allocations and an
accounting of the expenditures associated with each to Community
Corrections. Further, based on available information, counties
must summarize or analyze how these programs, strategies,

or enhancements may have contributed to or influenced the
countywide juvenile justice data trends, such as the number of
arrests, incarcerations, and probation violations. State law requires
Community Corrections to post on its website a description or
summary of the information provided by each county and to
provide a report to the Governor and Legislature that includes a
summary of the counties’ programs by March 1 each year.

Although Community Corrections collects, posts, and summarizes
information the counties provide, state law no longer requires it to
review or approve counties’ comprehensive plans or to analyze and
interpret their year-end reports. In 2014 state law established the
California Juvenile Justice Data Working Group (Working Group)
and tasked it with recommending options to coordinate and
modernize state and local juvenile justice data systems by, in part,
identifying changes or upgrades to improve the capacity and utility
of their data. At the time, the State required counties to report
outcome data for the programs they funded with JJCPA funds. The
Working Group issued a report in April 2015 that concluded that
program-specific outcome data revealed little about whether youth
in funded programs did better than other youth or about whether
the programs reduced crime. Further, the report stated that the
data did not provide a coherent picture of progress to assess

the impact of the JJCPA and youth grant funds on systemwide
results. Therefore, the Working Group recommended that counties
instead report data for all justice-involved juveniles in the county’s
system, rather than just those participating in funded programs,
and describe how the JJCPA-funded programs comprehensively
contributed to or influenced systemwide trends. As a result, in 2016

May 2020

11



12

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

the Legislature amended state law to eliminate the requirement for
counties to report specific outcome information about participants
of JJCPA-funded programs.

Additionally, state law previously required each county to submit
separate plans for the JJCPA and the Youthful Offender Block
Grant, which is a grant funded by a source other than the JJCPA,
and it also required Community Corrections to review and
approve these plans. Under current state law, each county submits
a comprehensive plan that must include the JJCPA-required
components described on page 8 along with Youthful Offender
Block Grant information. Rather than reviewing and approving
the plans, Community Corrections is required only to post a
description or summary of the counties’ programs, strategies, or
system enhancements to its website. Community Corrections is
responsible for specifying the format in which counties submit their
comprehensive plans and year-end reports.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Chapter 1

THE COUNTIES HAVE PROVIDED WEAK OVERSIGHT OF THE JJCPA

Chapter Summary

The five counties we reviewed did not adequately oversee their JJCPA
planning efforts. One county did not have the required Coordinating
Council, and two lacked some of the required representatives on their
Coordinating Councils. We determined that up to 10 other counties in

the State also lack Coordinating Councils. In addition, although state

law requires counties to update their comprehensive plans annually,

the five counties we reviewed have made only infrequent and limited
revisions since initially developing their plans in 2001, despite significant
changes in the statewide juvenile justice landscape. Moreover, the counties’
comprehensive plans generally lacked critical information, such as how they
define at-risk* youth, despite state law requiring Coordinating Councils to
describe how they will serve this population. Plans that are outdated and
lack critical information are of limited value for stakeholders and the public
because they do not demonstrate how counties are adapting to changes in
their juvenile justice environment.

Although counties have broad discretion in how they choose to spend
JJCPA funds, they have not demonstrated that the programs they

have chosen to operate are effective. State law requires counties to

include a description or analysis in their year-end reports of how

their JJCPA-funded programs may have contributed to or influenced
countywide juvenile justice trends. However, the counties we reviewed
have not submitted to Community Corrections meaningful evaluations of
the effectiveness of their JJCPA programs, hindering the ability of decision
makers and stakeholders to gauge whether the counties are using JJCPA
funds in a manner that reduces juvenile crime and delinquency.

The Coordinating Councils We Reviewed Did Not Always Include Statutorily
Required Representatives

The JJCPA requires each county’s Coordinating Council to develop,
review, and annually update its comprehensive plan in part with the goal
of reducing juvenile crime and delinquency through crime prevention
strategies. A Coordinating Council must include representatives from

* AB 413 (Chapter 800, Statutes of 2019) deleted the term “at-risk” used to describe youth for
purposes of various provisions in the California Education and Penal Codes and replaced it
with the term “at-promise.” However, the term “at-risk” currently remains in JJCPA as part of the
California Government Code. As a result, we use the term “at-risk” consistent with the JJCPA
throughout our report.

13



14 California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

the following entities:

- One from the district attorney’s office.
- One from the public defender’s office.
« One from the sheriff’s department.

- One from the board of supervisors.

- One from a city police department.

+ One from the community at large.

Source: State law.

nonprofit CBOs providing services to minors.

A Coordinating Council must, at a minimum, include the
chief probation officer as chair and representatives from

- One from the department of social services.

- Two from nonprofit CBOs providing services to minors.

at least 11 specific entities, which the text box lists.

Coordinating Council Representatives The Coordinating Councils we reviewed met at

least annually but had varied processes to update
their plans, which we describe later in this section.
The diverse representation of Coordinating
Councils is key to ensuring the multiagency
approach that the JJCPA requires and to directing
JJCPA funding toward the services, geographic
areas, and programs that councils deem

most important.

However, we found that some counties that receive
JJCPA funding do not have Coordinating Councils.

 One from the department of mental health. Of the five counties we reviewed, Mendocino
« One from a community-based drug and alcohol program.* has not had a Coordinating Council since 2009.

The county’s chief probation officer was unsure
why the county lacks a Coordinating Council.

+ One from the county office of education or a school district. Because Mendocino lacks a Coordinating Council

but has still received JJCPA funds, we researched
whether any of the remaining 53 counties also lack
Coordinating Councils. Six counties confirmed that
they lacked Coordinating Councils during our audit

* This member can be one of the two representatives from period. Another four counties’ websites are unclear

whether they have councils, and these counties did
not respond to our inquiries; therefore, they may also

Of the four counties we visited
that had established Coordinating
Councils, only two had all of the
required representatives in each of
the five years we reviewed.

lack Coordinating Councils. For instance, Plumas
County received JJCPA funding during fiscal year 2018-19, and its
probation department submitted a comprehensive plan to Community
Corrections in May 2018. However, the county board of supervisors
approved a resolution in September 2019 indicating that it was
seeking to establish a Coordinating Council, thus acknowledging that
it did not have one. We describe in Chapter 2 why counties without
Coordinating Councils likely continued to receive JJCPA funding.

Of the four counties we visited that had established Coordinating
Councils, only two—San Joaquin and Santa Barbara—had all of the
required representatives in each of the five years we reviewed, as
Table 2 shows. Kern’s Coordinating Council lacked a representative
from a drug and alcohol abuse prevention program in fiscal

years 2016—17 through 2017-18. The county’s probation department
attempted to find a representative for the vacancy in August 2016
but did not receive any responses from interested applicants, and it
did not revisit this vacancy until September 2019.

Similarly, Los Angeles’s Coordinating Council lacked
representatives from several required entities throughout each
of the five years in our audit period. Although its April 2016
meeting minutes reflect that the Coordinating Council believed
it had all of the required representatives, the county did not have



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

a statutorily complete council until May 2018. Specifically, the
county’s Coordinating Council did not include a representative from
the county social services department until January 2017, from a
community-based drug and alcohol abuse prevention program until
February 2017, and from two CBOs until January 2018. It then lacked
a community representative from January 2018 through May 2018,
when it finally had a fully constituted Coordinating Council. The
chair of the county’s Coordinating Council assumed her position

in February 2017 and told us that she immediately started working
to add the missing representatives, but she did not know why the
county did not take steps to fill the vacancies earlier. Without the
diverse representation envisioned by the JJCPA, counties are unable
to meet the JJCPA’s requirement to have a multiagency approach to
juvenile justice planning.

Table 2
The Coordinating Councils Did Not Always Include All Required Representatives

Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

I I I T

Did the Coordinating Council include all statutorily required members throughout the

fiscal year?

Kern v v v X X
Los Angeles X X X X X
Mendocino* = = = = =

San Joaquin v v v v v
Santa Barbara v v v v v

Source: State law and Coordinating Council meeting minutes and rosters.
* Mendocino did not have a Coordinating Council during our audit period.

A failure to adopt bylaws may have contributed to the lack of required
representatives on some Coordinating Councils. As an established best
practice in the absence of statutory or regulatory requirements, bylaws
are the main governing document of a board or council and guide

how the entity will operate. Bylaws increase the level of accountability,
transparency, and effectiveness of entities and clearly outline authority
levels, rights, and expectations. As a result, we expected counties to
have established bylaws for their Coordinating Councils that describe
how they fill their memberships and maintain required representation.
San Joaquin and Mendocino, however, did not have any bylaws
governing their Coordinating Councils. Mendocino has not had a
Coordinating Council since at least 2009, and in response to our inquiry,
San Joaquin said that it intended to establish bylaws going forward.

May 2020

15



16

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

The five counties we reviewed have
rarely made substantial revisions to
their plans over the last 20 years.

Further, the Coordinating Councils at the counties we reviewed

had different processes for updating their comprehensive plans. For
example, Kern’s and San Joaquin’s probation departments updated
their counties’ comprehensive plans and submitted them to their
respective Coordinating Councils for approval. The probation
department in Mendocino, which did not have a Coordinating Council
during our audit period, updated and submitted the county’s plans to
Community Corrections. The remaining two counties—Los Angeles
and Santa Barbara—have more inclusive plan development processes.
Until recently, Los Angeles’s probation department updated its county’s
comprehensive plan and submitted it to its Coordinating Council

for approval. However, in 2019 Los Angeles’s Coordinating Council
established an ad hoc subcommittee, whose members are proportionally
representative of the full council’s composition, to update and revise its
plan. The subcommittee’s first plan revision was for fiscal year 2019—20.

Santa Barbara used a work group during our audit period to develop
and update its comprehensive plan. Before 2018 Santa Barbara used

a temporary, informal work group with members appointed by the
Coordinating Council to draft each year’s comprehensive plan. In 2018
the county formally established the work group, which meets every
month to address issues that the Coordinating Council assigns to it. The
work group is composed of members from each county agency required
by statute to have a representative on the Coordinating Council, as well
as from two city police departments and three CBOs. The county’s
probation department told us that the Coordinating Council created

the work group in part because it allows members to discuss the
developing plan and provide input on its goals, objectives, and strategies.
The probation department explained that having the work group
ensures that juvenile justice agencies, county agencies, and community
partners prepare in partnership the draft comprehensive plan that the
Coordinating Council reviews and adopts.

Many Counties’ Comprehensive Plans Are Outdated and Incomplete

Although state law requires counties to annually update their
comprehensive plans to reflect their current approaches to responding
to at-risk youth and juvenile offenders, the five counties we reviewed
have rarely made substantial revisions to their plans over the last 20
years, despite significant changes in state law and decreases in juvenile
arrest rates. Moreover, most of the counties’ comprehensive plans
failed to define or explicitly identify at-risk youth—a population that
state law requires counties to address in their plans. When counties
make only minimal updates to their comprehensive plans and fail to
adequately identify services and strategies to address at-risk youth, their
comprehensive plans are likely to be outdated, incomplete, and of limited
use for stakeholders and the public.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Despite Significant Changes in the Juvenile Justice Landscape, the
Counties Have Rarely Modified Their Comprehensive Plans

State law requires Coordinating Councils to annually update

their counties’ comprehensive plans and to submit them for the
upcoming fiscal year in the format that Community Corrections
specifies. Beginning in fiscal year 2002—03, Community
Corrections implemented a template, referred to as an application
for funding, that required each Coordinating Council to indicate
either that the county was applying for continued funding without
making changes to its plan or that it had made substantive
modifications to its plan. However, even if a county had made

a substantive modification to its plan, Community Corrections
initially did not require its Coordinating Council to submit the
revised plan. In fiscal year 2006—07, Community Corrections
modified the application for funding to require a Coordinating
Council to include its fully revised plan if it indicated on the
application that the county had made substantial changes to the
plan components. Such changes could include the removal or
addition of a program, changes in the target population served

by a program, or significant changes in a program’s outcomes.
Other modifications to the plan might include changes in the
prioritization of areas in the community that are affected by juvenile
crime, changes in the resources that provide services to youth and
their families, and changes to the county’s responses to at-risk
youth and juvenile offenders. In fiscal year 2016—17, Community
Corrections significantly revised its template by consolidating into
one plan the required information for the JJCPA and the Youthful
Offender Block Grant, which we describe in the Introduction.

We expected that Coordinating Councils would periodically revise
their counties’ plans to reflect major changes in the statewide
juvenile justice landscape. Since the passage of the JJCPA, various
state laws have substantially shifted the way that the State and local
governing entities treat juvenile offenders. For example, as Figure 1
shows, in 2014 and 2016, California voters approved propositions
that reduced certain crimes from felonies to misdemeanors and
reduced the penalties for certain drug-related offenses. These
reductions and other shifts in state policy over the last two decades
likely contributed to a decrease in statewide juvenile arrest rates,
which declined by 76 percent from 2002 through 2018. We
expected that in response to the decreasing number of juvenile
offenders, counties would have periodically reassessed the areas
where juvenile crime occurs and made changes to their strategies
for addressing juvenile crime. In fact, according to Community
Corrections, the comprehensive plans are intended to describe how
JJCPA-funded programs fit within the context of counties’ overall
juvenile justice strategies. By updating their comprehensive plans,
Coordinating Councils could demonstrate to their communities

May 2020

Reduced criminal penalties and
other shifts in state policy over the
last two decades likely contributed
to a decrease in statewide juvenile
arrest rates, which declined by

76 percent from 2002 through 2018.

17



18 California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020
that their counties are appropriately modifying their strategies
for serving juveniles to reflect changes in the State’s approach to
addressing juvenile crime and delinquency.
Figure 1

Significant Changes in the Juvenile Justice Landscape Merited Revisions to Counties’ Comprehensive Plans

ELEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE PLANS
CHANGES IN THE JUVENILE JUSTICE LANDSCAPE POTENTIALLY AFFECTED BY THESE CHANGES

Strategy

The State reclassified certain drug crimes from

misdemeanors to infractions (2010).

Update strategies to
respond to certain
juvenile activities as

criminal penalties are
Voters approved a proposition that reduced lowered.

criminal penalties for certain marijuana-related
offenses (2016).

Voters approved a proposition that
reduced certain crimes from felonies to
misdemeanors (2014).

Existing Services

Responsibility for housing
nonserious and nonviolent
juvenile offenders transferred
from the State to counties (2007).

Reassess existing
services in response to
increased responsibility

from the State.
Statewide juvenile arrests have o .
significantly decreased from Reprioritize areas in the

community at risk of
192,000 in 2002 to juvenile crime as arrest
46,000 in 2018 rates decrease.

. .
Counties have not significantly
revised their comprehensive {—
plans to reflect changes.

Source: State law, California Department of Justice’s Juvenile Justice in California annual reports, 2002 through 2018, and the five counties’
comprehensive plans.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

However, the Coordinating Councils for the counties we reviewed
generally did not update their counties’ comprehensive plans,

and when they did, the counties made only limited revisions that
failed to demonstrate how their strategies for addressing juvenile
crime and delinquency had changed over the last 20 years. For
example, as Figure 2 shows, San Joaquin has not reported any
significant changes to its comprehensive plan that would indicate

a shift in the county’s strategy for addressing juvenile crime and
delinquency. Instead, its changes were at the program level, such

as when it reported in fiscal years 2004—05 and 2010-11 that it
removed programs, and in fiscal years 2015—-16 and 2017-18 that it
added programs operated by its probation department. However,
San Joaquin did not explain whether or how either of these changes
represented a shift in its approach to addressing juvenile crime and
delinquency. In addition, Mendocino made some changes to its
comprehensive plan in fiscal years 2004—05 and 2009-10, but it did
so primarily to eliminate certain JJCPA-funded programs, largely
because of budget reductions. It did not make any further changes
to its comprehensive plan until fiscal year 2019—20.

Figure 2
Coordinating Councils Have Made Few Changes to Their Comprehensive Plans

FISCAL YEARS 2002-03 THROUGH 2019-20

NO CHANGES SOME CHANGES SIGNIFICANT COMPLETE

TO PLAN TO PLAN CHANGES TO PLAN REVISION OF PLAN

KERN 14 0F 18 20F18

LOS ANGELES 90F 18 8OF 18

MENDOCINO 150F 18 30F18

SAN JOAQUIN 14 OF 18 40F 18

SANTA BARBARA 110F 18 20F18

YEARS YEARS

(\[oX@ LN\[e|2] Indicates no change in plan from prior year.

SOME CHANGES Includes adding or removing a program.

(@) IRA AN (o] Ko FLWE  Indicates that the county reevaluated its juvenile justice system and revised its entire
comprehensive plan.

Source: Counties’ comprehensive plans submitted to Community Corrections, fiscal years 2002-03 through 2019-20.

SANFIENTRE LYY Indicates a shift in the county’s strategy for addressing juvenile crime and delinquency.

19



20

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Some of the plans are likely
outdated and do not accurately
reflect the counties’ strategies
for addressing juvenile crime
and delinquency.

Similarly, one of the few changes Kern made to its comprehensive
plan was in fiscal year 2004—05, when it terminated a program
operated by its probation department because of funding
constraints. Kern did not update its plan again until fiscal

year 2010—11, when it added a JJCPA-funded program and

revised its method for assessing whether juveniles are at risk of
reoffending. Although this latter change is significant because

it represents a shift in the county’s strategy for identifying and
prioritizing juveniles, Kern made no further significant changes to
its comprehensive plan until fiscal year 2019—20. Given that the
State’s approach to juvenile justice has transformed significantly
in the nearly 20 years since the Legislature enacted the JJCPA, we
expected to see corresponding shifts in the strategies and services
the counties describe in their annual plans. Because the counties’
Coordinating Councils generally did not revise their comprehensive
plans to reflect changes in state policy, some of the plans are likely
outdated and do not accurately reflect the counties’ strategies for
addressing juvenile crime and delinquency.

Los Angeles and Santa Barbara recently conducted countywide
evaluations of their respective juvenile justice systems, resulting

in complete revisions of their comprehensive plans. In 2017

Los Angeles contracted with an external evaluator to assess the
county’s implementation of JJCPA-funded programs, determine
the programs’ effectiveness, and make recommendations for
system improvements. The review contributed to Los Angeles
making some changes to its programs in fiscal year 2018—19 and

to the county completely revising its comprehensive plan for fiscal
year 2019—20. Previously, Los Angeles had acknowledged in its plan
for fiscal year 2016—17 that it had not evaluated or redesigned its
JJCPA-funded service delivery system since the Legislature enacted
the JJCPA in 2000.

Similarly, in 2017 Santa Barbara embarked on a review of its juvenile
justice system by comparing various data elements of its system,
such as juvenile hall population, against four counties it selected for
proximity, demographic similarity, and progressive practices. This
review resulted in its Coordinating Council completely revising the
county’s comprehensive plan for fiscal year 2018—-19. In addition,
Santa Barbara was the only county we reviewed that described in
its comprehensive plan how its juvenile justice system was affected
by a state law change in 2007 that shifted the State’s responsibilities
for housing certain types of juvenile offenders from the State

to the counties. By conducting such countywide evaluations

of their juvenile justice systems, the Coordinating Councils in

Los Angeles and Santa Barbara provided valuable updates to their
comprehensive plans about their current approaches to addressing
juvenile crime and delinquency. However, had these two counties
made significant changes to their plans regularly over the last



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

two decades, these comprehensive revisions might not have been
necessary because their plans would have already reflected changes
in state policy and juvenile justice trends.

The other three counties’ Coordinating Councils cited different
reasons for why they rarely revised their comprehensive plans.
San Joaquin acknowledged that it did not make many changes to
its plan but stated that it believed it met reporting requirements by
noting the few changes it did make in its application for funding.
Although it may have satisfied Community Corrections’ limited
reporting requirements, San Joaquin did not make significant
changes to its comprehensive plan to respond to trends in juvenile
justice over the last 20 years, as we note in Figure 2. Because of
turnover in the chief probation officer’s position, Mendocino
could not explain why it rarely updated its comprehensive plan,
whereas Kern indicated that it did not believe there was a need
for substantial changes to its plan. We disagree because state

law requires Coordinating Councils to annually reassess their
countywide juvenile justice programs and strategies. Moreover,
counties should update their plans to reflect changes both to the
populations of at-risk youth and juvenile offenders that they need
to serve and to the areas in their communities at highest risk of
juvenile crime.

Community Corrections’ limited oversight of the contents of
counties’ comprehensive plans and its reliance on the application
for funding, which we previously discuss, contributed to the
inadequacies we identified in counties’ plans. As we describe in

the Introduction, Community Corrections was responsible for
reviewing and approving counties’ comprehensive plans until 2016.
From fiscal years 2006—07 through 2016—17, the application for
funding stated that Coordinating Councils must include counties’
comprehensive plans with their applications for funding if the plans
were substantially changed; however, Community Corrections
stated that in practice, it did not require Coordinating Councils to
submit the revised plans. In addition, the application for funding
allowed Coordinating Councils to check a box if they had not
revised their plans, without requiring them to explain their reasons
for leaving their plans unchanged. As a result, the applications

for funding may not have always contained the most up-to-date
information about counties’ juvenile justice strategies and may not
have provided stakeholders with the reasons Coordinating Councils
did not make changes to their plans for significant lengths of time.

Although Community Corrections revised its template for
comprehensive plans for counties to use beginning with fiscal
year 2017-18, its current instructions do not require counties to
explain any updates to their comprehensive plans or to justify
why their plans remain unchanged. Community Corrections

May 2020

Community Corrections’ limited
oversight of the contents of
counties’ comprehensive plans
and its reliance on the application
for funding contributed to the
inadequacies we identified in
counties’ plans.

21



22

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Four of the five counties we
reviewed have not defined in their
comprehensive plans the types of
youth they consider to be at risk or
formally identified the factors that
make those youth at risk.

explained that it assumes that counties are complying with their
JJCPA responsibilities and does not believe that the JJCPA requires
counties to explain why they have or have not modified their
comprehensive plans. However, we believe that nothing prevents
Community Corrections from collecting this information and
trying to hold counties accountable for preparing comprehensive
plans that provide meaningful, up-to-date information regarding
their approaches to serving juvenile offenders and at-risk youth.

County Plans Would Benefit From Defining At-Risk Youth

The JJCPA requires counties to describe their approaches to
responding to juvenile offenders and at-risk youth in their
comprehensive plans. Although it does not explicitly define the
term at risk, the JJCPA suggests the term includes youth who are
at risk of committing crimes. The JJCPA also does not identify risk
factors—which, according to the National Institute of Justice, are
preexisting personal characteristics or environmental conditions
that increase the likelihood of delinquent behavior or other
negative outcomes. For instance, repeated absences from school
or an unstable home life are risk factors that may lead to a youth
engaging in delinquent behavior, according to the Office of Juvenile
Justice and Delinquency Prevention. Because counties must plan
for responding to the needs of at-risk youth, we expected their
comprehensive plans to have clearly defined what type of youth
they consider to be at risk.

However, four of the five counties we reviewed have not defined

in their comprehensive plans the types of youth they consider to

be at risk or formally identified the factors that make those youth
at risk. Without specific, documented definitions of at-risk youth,
counties cannot effectively complete the required components of
their comprehensive plans. Specifically, if counties do not identify
the youth who are at risk, their comprehensive plans cannot
identify all the resources available or their strategies for responding
to those youth. Moreover, stakeholders cannot be certain whom the
counties intend to serve, other than juvenile offenders, and which
youth may be eligible to participate in both JJCPA-funded services
and other services that the counties provide. Of the five counties’
comprehensive plans that they submitted since the inception of the
JICPA, only Los Angeles included a definition of at-risk youth in its
comprehensive plan, and it did that only in its fiscal year 2019—20
plan. Its definition includes a robust list of risk factors that indicate
when a youth is at risk of engaging in delinquent behavior.

According to the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency
Prevention, there is no single path to delinquency, but the presence
of several risk factors often increases a youth’s chance of offending.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Because counties’ youth populations may have unique needs and
face different challenges, it may be reasonable for each to have a
different definition of at-risk youth. For instance, one county may
focus on preventive programs that address truancy or literacy,
while another may focus on rehabilitative services for formerly
incarcerated juveniles. Since the Coordinating Councils of

four counties we reviewed had not formally defined at-risk youth
in their comprehensive plans, we asked the county probation
departments how their counties informally defined at-risk youth. As
Table 3 shows, these four counties’ definitions varied, and none of
them formally identified risk factors. For example, we expected the
counties to have specified risk factors in a manner similar to those
Los Angeles outlined in its definition, which includes cognitive
factors, family situations, peer associations, and academic factors.

Table 3
The Five Counties We Reviewed Had Varied Definitions of At-Risk Youth

DOES THE COUNTY'’S

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN FORMALLY:

DEFINE AT-RISK IDENTIFY RISK
DEFINITION OF AT-RISK YOUTH USED BY COUNTY YOUTH? FACTORS?

Kern Youth—both those who have already committed a crime and those who
have not—who are at risk of future criminal behavior if their needs are X X
not addressed.

Los Angeles Uses the National Conference of State Legislatures’ description of risk factors
that increase a youth's likelihood to engage in delinquent behavior, including
the following:

- Early antisocial behavior, poor cognitive development, and hyperactivity.

- Poverty, maltreatment, family violence, divorce, familial antisocial \/ \/
behaviors, and single-parent family.

« Association with deviant peers and peer rejection.

- Failure to bond to school, poor academic performance, low academic
aspirations, and neighborhood disadvantage.

Mendocino Youth who do not successfully transition into adulthood. For example, youth
with delinquent behavior that could lead them to not complete their high X X
school education or to become involved with the justice system.

San Joqquin Youth at risk of entering the juvenile justice system or increasing system X X
involvement.

Santa Barbara Youth atrisk of being removed from their homes. X X

Source: Comprehensive plans and interviews with county probation officials.

By defining their at-risk populations, counties can effectively plan
their comprehensive juvenile justice strategies and stakeholders can
easily identify appropriate services for youth who are at risk. For
example, Los Angeles’s probation department told us that parents
often ask what services might be available for their children who

23



24

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Three of the five counties we
reviewed have not evaluated
the effectiveness of their
JICPA-funded programs.

are exhibiting delinquent behavior. Counties’ comprehensive plans
could serve as helpful resources for stakeholders interested in
knowing what services counties provide and the characteristics of the
populations they serve. When counties do not specify and publicize
who their at-risk populations are, parents and stakeholders may not
know where to turn for services to assist the youth in their care.
Likewise, without this definition, the counties themselves cannot
demonstrate that they have complied with state law requiring them
to develop comprehensive plans that assess existing services for and
includes responses to juvenile offenders and at-risk youth.

Counties Have Not Demonstrated Whether Their JJCPA-Funded
Programs Are Effective

The counties we visited generally have not demonstrated that the
programs they have chosen to operate represent an effective use of
JJCPA funds. Although counties have broad discretion to use

their JJCPA funds for any element of response to juvenile crime

that is proven effective, not evaluating the effectiveness of those

uses hinders a county’s ability to maximize the use of the funds.
Nonetheless, three of the five counties we reviewed have not
evaluated the effectiveness of their JJCPA-funded programs. Further,
although the two other counties—Los Angeles and San Joaquin—
contracted with external evaluators for several years to assess the
effectiveness of their JJCPA-funded programs, they did not include
the results of the evaluations in their year-end reports to Community
Corrections. As a result, Los Angeles and San Joaquin missed an
opportunity to inform decision makers, stakeholders, and other
counties about the promising results from their program evaluations.

Four of the five counties we reviewed generally used JJCPA funds

for probation department programs, which primarily serve juvenile
offenders. As Figure 3 shows, with the exception of Los Angeles, the
counties each used more than two-thirds of their JJCPA funds for
probation department programs in fiscal year 2017—18. This was a
consistent theme in the four counties’ spending over our five-year
review period. Two of the counties, Kern and Mendocino, used their
JJCPA funding solely for programs their probation departments
operated, including gang prevention and suppression programs that
provide supervision and supportive services to juvenile offenders who
are involved with gangs. Kern’s probation department also operated

a second JJCPA-funded program that focuses on increasing efforts to
ensure that juvenile offenders successfully transition from custody

to their communities. Kern’s probation department indicated that the
county funds programs for juvenile offenders because these youth
have the most serious needs and require more intensive services

to prevent them from reoffending than youth who have not yet
committed offenses.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

In contrast, San Joaquin and Santa Barbara both used JJCPA funds for
school-based programs that their probation departments provided.
San Joaquin’s probation department operated a school-based
program that assigns probation officers to specific school sites
where they work with school staff to supervise juveniles on
probation and to ensure their educational needs are met. Although
this program focuses primarily on juvenile offenders, the county’s
program description indicates that probation officers at the school
sites also have regular contact with at-risk youth and provide them
with intervention and referral services. Similarly, the probation
department for Santa Barbara operated a school-based program that
combined probation supervision with counseling opportunities.

Figure 3
In Fiscal Year 2017-18, Most Counties We Reviewed Spent the Majority of
JJCPA Funds on Programs Their Probation Departments Operated

Il Probation department
I Other law enforcement agencies

I Non-law enforcement agencies

CBOs
100%

80
%

§ 60
<
g
s

;;f* 40

20

0

KERN LOS MENDOCINO SAN SANTA
ANGELES JOAQUIN BARBARA

Source: County expenditure records.

May 2020

25



26

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Counties have not submitted
meaningful evaluations of the
effectiveness of their respective
JICPA-funded programs in their
year-end reports.

In addition, three of the five counties either contract with

other local entities and CBOs or coordinate with probation
departments or other agencies to operate programs that serve
juvenile offenders or at-risk youth. For example, San Joaquin
contracts with a CBO to operate neighborhood service centers that
work with juvenile offenders and at-risk youth and their families by
assessing their needs and connecting them with services such as
health and nutrition education and counseling. Los Angeles, which
has the most diverse blend of service providers for JJCPA-funded
programs, operates an after-school program to provide juvenile
offenders and at-risk youth with enrichment programs, supervision,
and individualized treatment through the coordinated services

of CBOs; the probation department; and other local government
entities, such as county and city parks and recreation departments
and local school districts. It also contracts with a CBO that
operates a writing program that teaches interpersonal skills to
juvenile offenders subject to long-term detention in juvenile hall.
Santa Barbara, although it operates two probation programs,

also coordinates with CBOs and the county behavioral wellness
department to provide services to juvenile offenders. For the

five counties we visited, we present in Appendix A program
descriptions; program expenditures incurred by probation
departments, other local government entities, and CBOs; and select
demographic information for participants in their JJCPA programs.

Regardless of the programs they choose to operate with JJCPA
funds, counties have not submitted meaningful evaluations of the
effectiveness of those programs in their year-end reports. Unlike
their comprehensive plans, the year-end reports that counties
submit to Community Corrections must include an assessment

of the effectiveness of their JJCPA-funded programs. Specifically,
counties must include descriptions or analyses of how their
JJCPA-funded programs may have contributed to or influenced
countywide juvenile justice trends, such as declining arrests.
However, the five counties we reviewed did not include such
descriptions or analyses in their October 2018 year-end reports—
the most recent reports available during our audit—even though
Community Corrections’ reporting template specifically directs
them to do so. One county—Kern—failed to identify any juvenile
justice trends or how its JJCPA-funded programs may have affected
those trends. The remaining four counties generally described
juvenile justice trends within their counties but did not specifically
identify whether or how their JJCPA-funded programs may have
affected those trends. For example, in its October 2018 year-end
report, Santa Barbara stated that the number of juveniles referred
to probation had decreased, as had juvenile arrest rates, and it
noted that these trends were reflective of similar statewide trends.
Although the county concluded that its JJCPA-funded strategies had
undoubtedly played a role in the trends, it did not offer evidence to



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

support this assertion. Similarly, Mendocino noted that its juvenile
arrest rates had declined but did not specify whether or how its
JJCPA-funded programs might have contributed to this decrease.

Los Angeles and San Joaquin have contracted with external
evaluators for several years to assess the effectiveness of some

or all of their JJCPA-funded programs. For our audit period of
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18, the counties’ most recent
evaluations involved programs they operated during fiscal

year 2016—17 and for which they could have reported information
to Community Corrections in October 2018. When we reviewed
the year-end reports the two counties submitted to Community
Corrections, we were surprised to find that they did not include key
findings from their respective program evaluations. For example,
San Joaquin’s external evaluator found that juveniles participating
in one of its school-based programs had lower arrest rates and
incarcerations. However, in its 2018 year-end report, San Joaquin
made no mention of these positive outcomes. Instead, the county
listed juvenile justice statistics and concluded that the programs

it operated with JJCPA funds were highly effective, without citing
any evidence. In the case of Los Angeles, its external evaluator
concluded that participants in its school-based probation program
were less likely to reoffend within six and 12 months after program
enrollment than youth on other forms of probation. However,

Los Angeles’s 2018 year-end report did not mention this positive
result. Rather, the county briefly described its crime statistics and
mentioned that one of its recently funded programs significantly
improved educational outcomes for juvenile offenders, but it did
not offer evidence for how it had reached this conclusion. By not
including details of the reduced rates of arrest and incarcerations in
their year-end reports, these two counties missed an opportunity to
inform decision makers, stakeholders, and other counties about the
effectiveness of their use of JJCPA funds.

Counties Can Increase Their Ability to Measure Program Effectiveness
by Using JJCPA Funds to Improve Their Data Collection

Since 2017 counties have been required to include in their
comprehensive plans a description of data that they intend to

use to measure the success of their [JCPA-funded programs.

All five counties we reviewed reported that they planned to use
data primarily from their county probation departments’ case
management systems, such as sentencing information, to track
information and outcomes for participants in JJCPA-funded
programs. However, we found that the counties’ case management
systems’ capabilities may be insufficient to track and produce
information on program participants. Specifically, when we
requested basic information about the participants in JJCPA-funded

May 2020

Los Angeles’s and San Joaquin’s
external evaluators identified
positive results for their respective
JICPA-funded programs, yet neither
county mentioned the positive
outcomes in their 2018 year-end
reports.

27



28

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

To determine how their funded
programs may have contributed to
countywide juvenile justice trends,
counties must maintain data on
participants in those programs.

programs, the five counties were not always able to provide

this information and, in some instances, provided inaccurate
information. Without reliable information about the individuals
who participated in JJCPA-funded programs, counties cannot
adequately assess the effectiveness of those programs in reducing
juvenile crime and delinquency.

Mendocino, Los Angeles, and San Joaquin could not provide any
data, such as age, race, or gender, on participants in at least one

of their programs for certain fiscal years. Specifically, Mendocino
could not provide any information about the participants in its
gang intervention program for fiscal years 2016—17 and 2017-18.
Similarly, Los Angeles did not collect and therefore could not
provide data on participants in one of its largest programs during
fiscal year 2017—18—a mental health program that the county
spent roughly $4.5 million of JJCPA funds in that year to operate.
Los Angeles explained that state law no longer required it to
report these data. However, we question why Los Angeles stopped
collecting data for this program but continued collecting data on
participants in other JJCPA programs that it chose to fund. We also
found a case in which Los Angeles could not identify the JJCPA
program an individual participated in or, once the program could
be identified, how long the individual participated.

Mendocino and Los Angeles explained that they did not collect
data for these programs because the Legislature amended state
law removing the requirement to report on specific outcomes in
2017. Although the JJCPA no longer requires counties to report
program-specific outcome data, such as the arrest and probation
violation rates for program participants, it requires counties to
assess the effectiveness of their JJCPA-funded programs. For
example, counties must summarize or analyze, based on available
information, how their funded programs may have contributed
to or influenced countywide juvenile justice data trends, such as
the number of incarcerations within the county. To determine
how their funded programs may have contributed to countywide
juvenile justice trends, counties must maintain data on participants
in those programs.

San Joaquin could not provide data for three of its five programs
because the probation department does not track the data for
these programs in its juvenile probation case management system
and therefore could not compile it for our request. San Joaquin
indicated that its external evaluator collects and analyzes the

data directly from the CBO operating one of these programs

and that the probation department plays no part in this program
other than to provide it with funding. Similarly, the probation
department explained that the county could not provide data for
the other two JJCPA programs, which began operation in fiscal



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 29

year 2017—18, because the data for these programs exist in its adult
case management system and in a separate referral system. The
probation department stated that the data for these programs were
not formatted in a way that could be retrieved or compiled in order
to respond to our request. However, the probation department
indicated that moving forward, it will capture or integrate this
information into its juvenile case management system and analyze
it for the county’s annual JJCPA program evaluation report.

Although Kern asserted that it collects and tracks data on
participants in its JJCPA programs, it too was unable to identify all
who had participated. Because of data issues it attributed to its case
management system that it was not aware of until we requested the
information, the probation department had difficulty identifying

all of the participants in its JJCPA-funded programs. In fact, Kern’s
juvenile programs probation director informed us that when she
assumed her position in 2018, she wanted to determine whether the
county’s two JJCPA-funded programs were the most effective use
of JJCPA resources. However, she said, the outcome data available
were limited and did not allow for a review of outcome measures
for the programs. The probation department stated that the county
has had plans since 2015 to implement a countywide criminal
justice information system, but it indicated that the county is still
working to identify how best to implement such a system. Without
accurate data on participants in its JJCPA-funded programs, Kern
cannot assess the effectiveness of those programs toward reducing
juvenile crime and delinquency.

Santa Barbara tracks the individuals to whom it provides JJCPA
services in its case management system, but it cannot always
identify in which of its two programs they participated. As a
result, the county cannot consistently assess how effective each
of its programs is at reducing the likelihood of at-risk youth or
justice-involved juveniles committing crimes.

In addition to the limitations we identified with the counties’ data
and their case management systems, we found that Los Angeles
has been aware of other issues with its data for several years but has
not taken the steps necessary to improve its ability to conduct
meaningful evaluations of its programs’ effectiveness. Since at least
2013, Los Angeles has contracted with the RAND Corporation
(RAND) to evaluate the effectiveness of its JJCPA programs. From
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2016—17, RAND consistently reported
that Los Angeles did not maintain the information necessary to
measure program-specific outcomes for several programs the
county operated with JJCPA funds. For example, Los Angeles’s
Department of Mental Health administers an evaluation before
and after an individual’s participation in one of the county’s
JJCPA-funded mental health programs to reflect any changes in

May 2020

Kern was unable to identify

all who had participated in its
JJCPA programs because of data
issues it attributed to its case
management system.



30

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

the participant’s overall psychological state. However, because few
participants completed both evaluations for this program, RAND
indicated that limited information was available to assess the impact
of the program. In fact, in fiscal year 201617, only 13 percent of
the participants in the mental health program completed both

of the evaluations. As a result, RAND called into question the
appropriateness and reliability of its findings on the effectiveness
of this program and any programs that similarly lacked sufficient
information. RAND noted that measuring these outcomes can be
problematic because the probation department’s data are only as
reliable as the information it obtains from the entities that operate
programs, such as CBOs and other local entities.

Finally, the counties we reviewed have not maximized their use of
JJCPA funding to improve their data collection and tracking efforts.
Although counties may use this funding for system enhancements
to provide data for measuring the success of their JJCPA programs
and strategies, none of the five counties reported doing so over the
past five fiscal years. This is particularly troubling given that each
county has unspent JJCPA funds. As we discuss in Chapter 2, the
counties we reviewed did not spend roughly 4 percent to 14 percent
of the JJCPA funds they received from fiscal years 2013—14 through
2017—-18. Counties are missing an opportunity to enhance their
ability to conduct meaningful evaluations of their JJCPA programs
when they do not use available funding to make improvements to
data collection and tracking efforts.

Recommendations

Legislature

To ensure that counties adequately identify how they serve
at-risk youth, the Legislature should require counties to define
at-risk youth—including identifying specific risk factors—in their
comprehensive plans.

To ensure that counties comply with juvenile justice planning
requirements to serve both juvenile offenders and at-risk youth,
the Legislature should require Community Corrections to review
counties” annual comprehensive plans to ensure that they include
an adequate county-specific definition of at-risk youth.

The Legislature should direct Community Corrections to monitor
counties’ year-end reports to ensure that they include meaningful
descriptions or analyses of how their JJCPA-funded programs
may have contributed to or influenced countywide juvenile justice
trends, as required by state law.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Counties

To ensure that their Coordinating Councils meet statutory
requirements and are transparent to stakeholders, both Mendocino
and San Joaquin should develop and implement bylaws for their
Coordinating Councils and Mendocino County should reinstate

its Coordinating Council.

To determine the effectiveness of their use of JJCPA funds, Kern,
Los Angeles, Mendocino, San Joaquin, and Santa Barbara should
include in their year-end reports to Community Corrections
descriptions or analyses of how their JJCPA-funded programs
influenced their juvenile justice trends, as required by law.

To adequately assess the effectiveness of their programs at reducing
juvenile crime and delinquency, Los Angeles, Mendocino, and

San Joaquin should collect data on all participants in each JJCPA
program and for each service they provide.

To accurately assess the effectiveness of their programs, Kern,

Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara should determine how to accurately
identify in their case management systems the JJCPA programs and
services in which each individual participates or should enhance
these systems to provide this capability.

Community Corrections

To ensure that counties’ comprehensive plans are informative
and up to date, Community Corrections should revise its
comprehensive plan template to require Coordinating Councils
to specify plan components their counties are changing and to
describe those changes. If a county is making no changes, the
template should require the Coordinating Council to explain why
no changes to the plan are necessary.

May 2020

31



32 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



Chapter 2

THE STATE HAS NOT PROVIDED SUFFICIENT OVERSIGHT
OF THE JJCPA

Chapter Summary

In the previous chapter, we identify numerous shortcomings in
the counties’ administration and planning of the JJCPA. These
shortcomings—which include counties’ lacking Coordinating
Councils, not having all the required representatives on

their councils, and not always meaningfully updating their
comprehensive plans—indicate the importance of effective state
oversight. Community Corrections plays a key role in ensuring
transparency related to the JJCPA, as state law requires it to
collect and post information to its website that counties submit.
Although it determines the format in which counties provide

that information, Community Corrections does not review their
reporting or require the counties to address deficiencies in that
reporting. As a result, the value of the information on Community
Corrections’ website is diminished. Additionally, state law does
not include a mechanism for Community Corrections or any

state agency to restrict the counties’ spending of JJCPA funding if
they fail to comply with key legal requirements. Finally, although
the amounts of JJCPA growth funding that counties receive have
increased significantly in recent years, the State does not guarantee
the amounts of this funding, and consequently some counties
explained that they are hesitant to spend it on long-term programs.
Increasing the guaranteed amount of base JJCPA funds to capture
and stabilize some of the growth funding would provide counties
with a more reliable source of funding.

Community Corrections Does Not Provide Oversight of Counties’
Implementation of the JJCPA

Community Corrections plays a key transparency role with regard
to the JJCPA because of its responsibility to collect and post
information from counties to its website. Community Corrections
has specified formats for counties to use in reporting their
comprehensive plans and year-end reports, which helps ensure
consistency among the counties’ submissions. Consequently, we
expected that it would review and assess whether the information
it receives from counties is reasonable and provides a meaningful
response to the elements the JJCPA requires. However, Community
Corrections takes a narrow approach to its role with regard to the
JJCPA. Specifically, it believes its JJCPA responsibility is limited to
collecting information from the counties, posting that information

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

33



34

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

We reviewed the fiscal year 201314
through 2017-18 year-end reports
that counties submitted to
Community Corrections and found
several instances in which counties
did not report information correctly.

to its website, and reporting a compilation of that information
annually to the Governor and Legislature. Community Corrections
states on its website that it will not review or make any changes to
information counties submit.

We reviewed the fiscal year 2013—14 through 2017-18 year-end
reports that counties submitted to Community Corrections

and found several instances in which counties did not report
information correctly. For example, six counties reported in their
October 2017 and 2018 year-end reports that they operated a
JJCPA-funded program titled Salaries and Benefits. One of these
counties—Calaveras County—explained in its description of its
Salaries and Benefits program that it placed minors into one of
two JJCPA programs, early intervention or intensive supervision.
Although some expenses in Calaveras County may have indeed
been for salaries and benefits to operate their two programs,

we question why Community Corrections did not follow up
with Calaveras or counties that similarly did not report their
programs correctly.

Moreover, although Community Corrections provides on its
year-end report template 35 program expenditure categories for
direct services—such as after-school services, gang intervention,
and substance abuse screening—we found counties were overly
relying on unspecific categorizations that were not helpful in
determining the type of programs that they operated. Specifically,
we identified more than 200 instances in the past five fiscal years
in which counties categorized their program expenditures as Other
Direct Service. Of those, we identified nearly 8o instances in which
counties could have categorized the activities as school-based or
truancy programs, which are not currently categories. We believe
the counties’ overreliance on the category Other Direct Service
reduces the usefulness of categorizing programs. If Community
Corrections expanded its list to include more categories of
programs, such as school-based and truancy programs in its list of
categories, other counties and stakeholders may find more value in
its website as they search for specific types of programs.

In response to these issues, Community Corrections stated that

it does not consider overseeing how counties name and describe
their programs as part of its role. We believe these issues would be
relatively simple for counties to correct if Community Corrections
conducted a review of the information they submit to ensure that
they have accurately reported and appropriately categorized their
programs. Community Corrections could then request counties to
fix the identified issues. By not reviewing the information counties
submit, Community Corrections is missing an opportunity to



expand its list of program classifications so that counties can
appropriately categorize their programs and key stakeholders can
properly identify them.

Although we believe it should oversee the information counties
report to it and request that counties fix reporting errors,
Community Corrections has no authority to compel counties to
comply with key requirements of the JJCPA. Until 2017 state law
required Community Corrections to review and approve only
those comprehensive plans that fulfilled the plan requirements of
the JJCPA. The law also prohibited the counties from allocating
JICPA funding until Community Corrections had approved

their comprehensive plans. However, an amendment to state law
that took effect in 2017 generally removed the requirement for
Community Corrections to approve comprehensive plans, and thus
the law no longer requires that the counties’ spending of JJCPA
funds be contingent on approval from Community Corrections.
Consequently, counties that do not meet the requirements of

the JJCPA continue to receive and spend funding. Specifically,

we identified up to 11 counties that may not have Coordinating
Councils but have reported to Community Corrections that they
are using JJCPA funds.* To compel counties to comply with the
requirements of the JJCPA, state law needs to provide authority
for the State to prohibit counties from spending funding until they
meet those requirements.

Because it receives the comprehensive plans and determines

the format in which counties report those plans, Community
Corrections is in a good position to provide oversight of counties’
implementation of the JJCPA. Specifically, Community Corrections
should modify its template for comprehensive plans to require
counties to report about their Coordinating Councils, thereby
taking steps to mitigate the risk that a county would submit a

plan that a Coordinating Council has not approved. Moreover,
Community Corrections could take action to identify and mitigate
other shortcomings we identified in counties’ implementation of
the JJCPA that we list in Table 4. Taking such actions would help
ensure that counties not only comply with state law but also that
they meaningfully plan for and report on their JJCPA expenditures.

4 Although Alpine County did not have a Coordinating Council, it did not spend any of its JJCPA
funds during our audit period. Alpine County stated that it does not currently participate in the
JJCPA but that it is considering establishing a Coordinating Council in the future so that it can
spend JJCPA funds.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Community Corrections has no
authority to compel counties to
comply with key requirements of
the JICPA.

35



36 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Table 4
By Providing Increased Oversight, Community Corrections Could Have
Mitigated Deficiencies in Counties’ Implementation of the JJCPA

COUNTIES DID NOT ALWAYS:

Have Coordinating Councils
Have all required representatives on Coordinating Councils
Meaningfully update their comprehensive plans

Include a definition of at-risk* youth in their comprehensive plans

Include meaningful descriptions or analyses of the effectiveness of their
JJCPA programs in their year-end reports

X X X X X X

Accurately report information in their year-end reports to Community Corrections

Source: Counties’documentation regarding their implementation of the JJCPA, interviews with
county probation departments, and information Community Corrections collects from counties.

* AB 413 (Chapter 800, Statutes of 2019) deleted the term “at-risk” used to describe youth for purposes of
various provisions in the California Education and Penal Codes and replaced it with the term “at-promise.”
However, the term “at-risk” currently remains in JJCPA as part of the California Government Code. Asa
result, we use the term “at-risk” consistent with the JJCPA throughout our report.

Community Corrections Is Not Maximizing the Usefulness of the
Information It Collects From Counties

State law requires Community Corrections to collect and post to

its website a description or summary of the programs, strategies,

and system enhancements that the counties have supported with
JJCPA funds. Community Corrections is also required to submit an
annual report to the Governor and Legislature that summarizes this
information, along with countywide trend data. These requirements
are part of Community Corrections’ mandate to collect and maintain
information related to juvenile justice so that the public is aware of
the impact of state and local programs on juvenile justice and so that
local entities can access information about promising practices and
innovative approaches to reducing juvenile crime and delinquency. As
a result, we expected Community Corrections to maximize the utility
of county-reported data by presenting the JJCPA information on its
website in a manner that enables users to review and compare the
program information from multiple counties. However, Community
Corrections does nothing beyond posting on its website the individual
reports that counties submit, without synthesizing the information in
those reports in a manner that is helpful to users.

According to Community Corrections, it posts counties’ information
in the format in which it was submitted because it interprets its

statutory responsibility to post a description or summary of counties’
JICPA information narrowly. Moreover, Community Corrections has




California State Auditor Report 2019-116

not calculated the cost of organizing and displaying JJCPA information
on its website in more useful ways and therefore has not determined
whether it would need additional resources to do so. Community
Corrections already displays other statewide data, such as grants
counties receive and jail population trends, on its website in a manner
similar to the interactive graphic we describe later in this section.
Therefore, it seems reasonable for Community Corrections to present
JJCPA information in a way that adds value to the individual counties’
submissions by aggregating and enabling users to navigate the data.
Doing so would help Community Corrections further satisfy its duty
to identify and promote evidence-based and innovative programs by
enabling users to conduct searches or compare the programs counties
are operating using JJCPA funding. At the least, it should determine
the resources necessary to make this change. By simply posting

to its website the information that counties submit, Community
Corrections has missed an opportunity to provide local entities with a
valuable resource.

Some of the counties we visited expressed that Community
Corrections could improve the information it displays about the
programs that other counties are funding with their JJCPA allocations.
According to Santa Barbara, for example, it would be helpful if
Community Corrections provided more detail about individual
programs, such as how a county funded the program and who
operated it. Mendocino said that it would be helpful if Community
Corrections provided additional analysis of the information that
counties submit instead of being only a repository of documents.
Similarly, San Joaquin agreed that it would be helpful and increase
transparency if Community Corrections’ website allowed counties

to easily compare information about JJCPA-funded programs that
counties operate. A more useful and navigable display would allow
users to search for a specific program type, such as gang intervention,
and would summarize information about gang-intervention programs
from other counties across the State. Community Corrections” website
could then provide a summary of program descriptions, funding
levels, juvenile trend data, and the counties” opinions about how

these programs influenced juvenile trends. Users could then compare
similar programs operated by multiple counties.

Using expenditure information from Community Corrections’ website,
we created an interactive graphic on our website that allows users

to search for programs operated by a specific county or to search

for similar programs that fall under the same expenditure category
operated by any county.s Because Community Corrections does not
review or correct information counties submit but instead relies

5 To view a display of program budgets and information for all counties that participate in the
JJCPA, visit our interactive dashboard in the online version of this report at www.auditor.ca.gov/
reports/2019-116/supplementalgraphic.html.

May 2020

Some of the counties we visited
expressed that Community
Corrections could improve the
information it displays about
the programs that other counties
are funding with their JJCPA
allocations.

37



38

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Community Corrections has the
capability to develop a more robust
presentation of JJCPA information.

on them to submit accurate information, our graphic may contain

some inaccuracies. Nonetheless, we believe it provides users with

easy access to financial information for all of the JJCPA programs

each county operated from fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18. In
particular, users can select an individual county to view a summary of
that county’s JJCPA-funded programs. Users can also select a specific
program type to view summary information about those programs,
including which counties operated them. Community Corrections could
incorporate other data that it collects from the counties, such as program
descriptions and data the county used to measure program effectiveness,
to increase the utility of the comparison between counties beyond

the financial information we present. Given that it already collects the
information counties report, Community Corrections is best positioned
to provide additional value by presenting that information in a manner
that enables users to easily review how counties across the State use
JJCPA funds to address juvenile crime and delinquency. Moreover,
Community Corrections has the capability to develop a more robust
presentation of JJCPA information because it currently presents other
statewide information using the same software that we used to create
our interactive graphic.

The Current JJCPA Funding Process Is Not Predictable and Should
Be Improved

As we describe in the Introduction, the State provides counties with
JICPA funding through an annual guaranteed amount, referred to

as base funding, and—if funds are available—an additional variable
amount, referred to as growth funding. Because growth funding

relies on several factors that can change from year to year, it is not
predictable. The amount of annual growth funding the State has
provided to counties has increased significantly since fiscal year 2014—
15 and represented about one-third of the $159 million in total JJCPA
funding counties received in fiscal year 2018—19. Because counties
have difficulty anticipating how much JJCPA growth funding they
will receive each year, they did not spend their total JJCPA allocations
during our five-year review period. To encourage counties to spend
more of their JJCPA funding each year, the Legislature should act to
stabilize the amount of JJCPA funding it allocates to counties.

The State allocates motor vehicle license fee revenues to a number
of sources, including the Enhancing Law Enforcement Activities
Subaccount (ELEAS account) that provides funding for local

law enforcement activities. As Figure 4 shows, state law directs
$490 million from motor vehicle license fees to the ELEAS account
each year. From this account, it designates $107 million as the initial
allocation, or base funding, to counties for the JJCPA, which the
State Controller’s Office pays to counties at regular intervals during
each fiscal year. Since fiscal year 201213, the State has consistently



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

provided the same amount of base funding to counties, which it
allocates based on county populations. However, state law also
provides for an additional allocation of funding for local law
enforcement activities—including the JJCPA—in the event the State
collects more motor vehicle license fees than required for its initial
allocations. Once the ELEAS account reaches the established limit
of $490 million, the State deposits additional funds into a separate
growth account, then allocates this growth funding to counties in
the same manner as the base funding.

Figure 4
The State Provides Counties With Both Base and Growth JJCPA Funding

STATE LAW DIRECTS CERTAIN REVENUES FROM
MOTOR VEHICLE LICENSE FEES THE STATE COLLECTS

STATE LAW DESIGNATES $490 MILLION

A ~
B ==
FOR LOCAL LAW ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES

—
$490 million S ==

=
22 percent of these funds— %g

$107 million—is allocated to
counties annually for the JJCPA

i
!

27 PERCENT OF THE FUNDS IN THE GROWTH ACCOUNT
ARE ALLOCATED TO COUNTIES FOR THE JJCPA

27 percent

Source: Government Code and Revenue and Taxation Code.

May 2020

Any additional fees
over $490 million are
sent to a separate
growth account

39



40 California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Figure 5

The annual amount of growth funding the State provided to counties
increased by $53 million from fiscal years 2014—15 through 2019—20.
The annual growth funding allocations depend on the amount the
State collects in vehicle license fees, which reflects the number of
vehicles purchased during the year and the market value of each
vehicle. In addition, the local law enforcement allocation is only one
of the motor vehicle license fee allocations established in state law.
As a result of these factors, the amount of JJCPA growth funding
the State provided counties in fiscal years 2014—15 through 2019—20
varied significantly, as Figure 5 shows. For example, the State
distributed almost $7 million in JJCPA growth funding to counties
in fiscal year 201415, nearly $16 million during fiscal year 2015-16,
and $60 million in fiscal year 2019—20. Because base funding

is fixed at $107 million, the growth funding the State allocated

in fiscal year 2019—20 represents about a third of the counties’
JJCPA allocations.

Growth Funding Increased Significantly From Fiscal Years 2014-15 Through 2019-20

(Dollars in Millions)

$120

100

80

60

Amount of JJCPA Funding

40

20

Il Base funding
Il Growth funding

$107

2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 20719-20*

Fiscal Year

Source: State law and payment records from the State Controller’s Office.
* If there are no changes to state law governing JJCPA allocations, the State will allocate $107 million in base funding to counties in fiscal year 2019-20.



The five counties we visited have not spent all of the JJCPA funding
the State has provided. The State provides JJCPA funding to
counties based on their populations. For example Los Angeles,
which had roughly one quarter of the State’s estimated total
population for 2017, received more than $212 million in total
JJCPA funding from fiscal years 2013—14 through 2018-19, while
Mendocino received just $1.9 million during the same period
because it has a much smaller population. However, none of

the counties spent all of the JJCPA funding they received, as

Figure 6 shows. When we asked the probation departments at

the five counties why they had not spent all of their JJCPA funds,
Kern, Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara indicated that they had not
done so because of the variability in the amount of growth funding
they receive each year. Mendocino explained that it had not spent
growth funds because it had not yet fully spent the base funds it
received and accumulated in years before our audit period. Finally,
San Joaquin stated that there is a chance that the State could reduce
or eliminate some funding.

Figure 6
Counties Have Not Spent All of the JJCPA Funds They Received From
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

16%

14 $24.6 million $1.7 million
14% 14%
1 $173,000
= $1.6 million 12%
g
£ 10
€
2
Y
g s
§ $315,000
4
4%
2
0
KERN LOS MENDOCINO SAN SANTA
ANGELES JOAQUIN BARBARA

Source: State Controller’s Office payment records and county accounting records.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

41



42

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

The counties’ approaches to
managing growth funds are an
indication of the challenge that
this funding presents to them.

Because the State does not guarantee the amount of growth funding
counties receive, some counties informed us that they limit how they
use the growth funds. For instance, in accordance with a county policy,
Los Angeles has allocated its growth funding to what it considers to be
one-time uses of funds. San Joaquin’s chief probation officer stated that
it maintains a 12- to 18-month reserve because the State could reduce
or eliminate some funds it provides to counties. Santa Barbara, which
spent nearly all of the JJCPA base and growth funding it received from
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18, is also concerned that amounts
of growth funding may decrease in the future. In fact, Santa Barbara
explained that it is currently considering what actions it may take if

it does not receive growth funding or if growth funding is reduced in
future years because of a recession.

The counties’ approaches to managing growth funds are an indication
of the challenge that the variability of this funding presents to them.
Increasing the JJCPA base funding amount would enhance counties’
abilities to accurately predict their future JJCPA funding allocations
because the State would guarantee a greater amount of total JJCPA
funding in law. This change could allow counties to rely on a greater
percentage of their total JJCPA funds as a stable source of funding. In
fiscal year 2014—15, growth funds represented just 6 percent of the total
JJCPA funds that counties received. However, in fiscal year 2019—20,
it represented more than one-third. Moreover, the annual amount of
growth funds the State has allocated to counties consistently increased
from fiscal years 2014—15 through 2019—20. Although the counties we
reviewed did not spend all of the JJCPA funds they received—which
includes both base and growth funding—from fiscal years 2013—14
through 2017-18, all five counties spent more than just the total of
the base funds they received during those five years. If the Legislature
were to use some growth funds to increase the amount of base funds
counties receive, counties could realize a better balance between
stable base funds and less predictable growth funds. Because state
law requires Community Corrections to collect JJCPA expenditure
information from counties annually, we believe it is well positioned to
determine an appropriate higher amount of base funding.

Recommendations

Legislature

To enable Community Corrections to provide effective oversight of
the required elements of the JJCPA, the Legislature should amend

state law to describe a process for restricting the spending of JJCPA
funding by counties that do not meet the requirements of the JJCPA.
As part of that process, the State should prohibit counties that have not
established Coordinating Councils from spending JJCPA funds.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

To make JJCPA funding more stable and predictable, the Legislature
should amend state law to increase the amount of guaranteed
JJCPA funding the State provides to counties. If the Legislature
decides to stabilize JJCPA funding, it should direct Community
Corrections to evaluate the expenditure information counties
submit and identify an appropriate amount of base funding. The
Legislature should further direct Community Corrections to assess
every five years the percentage of total JJCPA funds that growth
funds represent to determine whether the base funding needs to

be adjusted.

Community Corrections

To ensure that counties include accurate information in their
comprehensive plans and year-end reports, Community
Corrections should review the information counties submit to it
and follow up with them to obtain missing information or to clarify
information that seems incorrect.

To better promote effective local efforts related to the JJCPA,
Community Corrections should include on its website the
capability for stakeholders, counties, and other interested parties

to review and easily compare the JJCPA information of multiple
counties. Specifically, its website should allow users to be able to
select a specific type of JJCPA-funded program and easily review
information the counties submitted for all programs associated with
that program type. Community Corrections should determine the
cost of providing this additional service and, if necessary, request
additional resources.

We conducted this performance audit in accordance with generally accepted government auditing
standards and under the authority vested in the California State Auditor by Government Code 8543
et seq. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate
evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on the audit objectives.
We believe that the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions
based on our audit objectives.

Respectfully submitted,

Edoa 7). ool

ELAINE M. HOWLE, CPA
California State Auditor

May 12, 2020

43



44 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



Appendix A

JJCPA Program Descriptions, Expenditures, and Participant
Demographics at the Five Counties We Reviewed, Fiscal Years 2013-14
Through 2017-18

The Joint Legislative Audit Committee (Audit Committee)
requested that we identify all JJCPA funds that the five counties

we reviewed spent on salaries and benefits for staff at probation
departments, law enforcement agencies, and other public agencies,
as well as JJCPA funds spent on CBOs. The Audit Committee also
requested that we identify certain demographic information for
participants in JJCPA-funded programs at each of the five counties.
As we discuss in Chapter 1, the information that counties provided
to us about program participants was not always complete

or accurate. Nevertheless, this Appendix presents available
descriptions, financial information (dollars rounded to thousands),
and certain demographic information, such as the race, gender, and
age of participants, for each JJCPA-funded program from fiscal
years 2013—14 through 2017-18 at each of the five counties

we reviewed.

Kern County

Kern operated two programs with JJCPA funding during our
audit period. The Aftercare Program focuses on reintegrating
previously incarcerated gang members, habitual offenders, and
substance abusers to the community, and the Gang Intervention
and Suppression Team Program seeks to reduce gang activity.
Table A.1 shows percentages of certain demographics for Kern’s

JJCPA-funded programs from fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

45



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

46

‘Juswiiedaq uoneqoid uidy ayy Aq papiroid eleq :92in0s

wea] uoissaiddng

0 65 LE 14 0 L S6 4 L s 0 09 0 ve pue uonuaAIRu| Buen

%0 %0 %9L %¥C %0 %0 %8 %91 %0 %81 %0 %09 %0 %CC SIedIvlY

NMONMNN 114 8LOL9L | SLOLOL 6010 NMONYNN | TV | FTVINZS | NMONMNN | FLIHM | NVOIYIWY | ONILYTHO | H3IANVISI NVOIdIWY WYd504d
HOY3IHLIO | Ol6l 40 ¥3IH1O0 YO Y¥3HLO AAILVN JINVdSIH JldDvd -NVOIadv
ANV NVISY

19V 43AN3ID VY

8L-£1L0Z Yybnoay| 1-€10T s1ed4 [edsid
bunng sweiboid papung-yddHrf usd) 104 soiydesbowaq uiersa) jo sabejuadiad

L'V 9jqel



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Aftercare Program Description

The Aftercare Program serves juveniles as they transition from
custody to the community and who, because of their level of
delinquent behavior, require intensive supervision. The primary
goal of the program is to increase the number of juvenile offenders
who successfully transition from custody to community by
eliminating their criminal and delinquent behaviors. Participants
are typically probationers who may be criminal street gang
members, gang-affiliated violent offenders, habitual offenders,

or substance abusers. Probation officers monitor participants’
completion of court-ordered programs, restitution payments,
weekly reporting, school attendance and behavior, and any new
law violations. Officers also monitor juveniles on probation whom
they refer to community agencies, and they help design appropriate
transition plans for these individuals as they reenter the community.
Table A.2 presents expenditure information for the program for
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.2
Aftercare Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW

PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
JJ\R7I: M DEPARTMENT | DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
$0 $0 $0

2013-14 $1,175,000

2014-15 1,326,000 0 0 0
2015-16 1,037,000 0 0 0
2016-17 1,357,000 0 0 0
2017-18 1,386,000 0 0 0
Totals $6,281,000 $0 $0 $0

Source: Kern expenditure data.

May 2020

47



48

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Gang Intervention and Suppression Team Program Description

The Gang Intervention and Suppression Team Program identifies
gang members in target areas and monitors them for gang

activity. The program focuses on suppression activities and
intelligence-gathering activities to develop specific and detailed
information on each gang member and proof of gang affiliation. The
program’s probation officers also supervise juveniles with identified
gang involvement who were previously incarcerated and have
returned to the community or who are on probation. Probationary
case management includes frequent contact with juveniles on
probation. Table A.3 presents expenditure information for the
program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

TableA.3
Gang Intervention and Suppression Team Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW

PROBATION | ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
@ YR7I:8 DEPARTMENT | DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
$0 $0 $0

2013-14 $1,094,000

2014-15 1,080,000 0 0 0
2015-16 1,229,000 0 0 0
2016-17 1,280,000 0 0 0
2017-18 1,337,000 0 0 0
Totals $6,020,000 $0 $0 $0

Source: Kern expenditure data.

Los Angeles County

Los Angeles operated 13 programs with JJCPA funding during

our audit period. These programs provided mental health
treatment, intensive family and community-based therapy,
school-based probation supervision, substance abuse intervention,
gender-specific services for girls, after-school enrichment and
supervision, housing-based day supervision, assistance for
probationers transitioning from custody to the community,
writing classes, and coordinated support to decrease ongoing
delinquency, among other services. The county also funded a
program aimed at abolishing chronic truancy, and it operated
several one-time projects using growth funds to enhance existing
services. Table A.4 shows percentages of certain demographics for
Los Angeles’s JJCPA-funded programs during fiscal years 2013—14
through 2017-18.



49

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

[44

mMm N

%0

NMONMNN | SC€OL6l

4O H3IHLO

—

o o o

0

%0

[49

9
65
Ly

19

Lc
18
LE

ED)

14 0
13 0
(014 0
9 0
S8 9
[43 0
74 14
Ll 0
99 L
65 [4
%LE %€9

SLOL1OL | 60L0

N N O

(84

%0€

€8

9S
¥9
¥9

VL

8/

[4%
8/

NMONMNN
4O d3HLO

43ANID

9l

9¢
13

44

[44

8¢
0¢
L6

n <

O < N

8y

%LS

NMONMNN
40 43HLO

< <

0

%0

%0

JAILVN

123k Jepuayed Aq ase weiboid siyy 1oy so1ydesbowap ‘Ayunod ayy 01 bulpioddy |

[44

¥Ss
8%
69

99

09

65
¥9
LL

Ly

%Ly

JINVdSIH

ALIHM | NYDIdIWY | ONILYTHO | 4IANVYsI

1DVH

‘weiboid ay Joj eyep djydesbowap apiaoid Jou pip Alunod 3y

“Juswieda( uoneqoid sajebuy so7ayy Aq papiaoid eleq :921n0s

%0

JldIdvd
anNv
NVISY

8l

LE
44
8L

[44

[43

9¢
A4
9L

Ll

%L

NVOIdIWY
-NVOIddv

UOIUSAIM|
3SNQy 22ULISANS YINOA

Bunum

1no) spaa |eads
puoisiniadng paseg-jooyds
£S129[014 dWI]-dUQ
Adesay] d1wisAs-niny

JUSWIEBAI| PUB “JUBWISSISSY
‘BUIUBBIDS YI|eaH |eIudy

uoisialadng Aeq paseg-buisnoH
spaaN YBIH sty ybIH
EEBIVEINSTITRET (WETOIEL)
%UOISIdAIQ pue uonuanIu| AJeg

uolsiasadng
pue JuUsWIYdHUT [00YdS-IaYY

A>ueny] s1uoy) ysijoqy

WvYd504d

8L-£1L0Z Yybnoay| 1-€10T s1ed4 [edsid
buung sweiboid papung-yddrf sd|obuy so7Joj soiydeibowaq urensa) jo sabejuadiad

'V °jqel



50

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Abolish Chronic Truancy Program Description

Abolish Chronic Truancy Program is a Los Angeles County District
Attorney’s Office program that targets chronically truant youth in
selected elementary schools. The program objectives are to improve
school attendance through parent and child accountability while
parents still exercise control over children and to ensure that youth
who are at risk of truancy or excessive absences attend school. The
program goals are to reduce truancy at selected schools, address
attendance problems before children’s behavior is ingrained, and
improve school performance. The program refers youth with
chronic truancy to the district attorney’s office, which notifies the
parents of the truant youth and follows up with formal criminal
filings if the parents fail to take appropriate corrective action.

Table A.5 presents expenditure information for the program for
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.5
Abolish Chronic Truancy Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW 0 f
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT ORCEMEN
FISCALYEAR [0 11 5 DEPARTMENTS DEPARTMEN CBOs

2013-14 $8,000 $354,000 $0 $0
2014-15 8,000 392,000 0 0
2015-16 11,000 394,000 0 0
2016-17 10,000 398,000 0 0
2017-18 12,000 398,000 0 0
Totals $49,000 $1,936,000 $0 $0

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

After-School Enrichment and Supervision Program Description

The After-School Enrichment and Supervision Program strives
to reduce juvenile crime by monitoring probationers’ peer
associations, providing homework assistance, and involving
at-risk youth and probationers in prosocial activities. Multiple
city and county organizations, such as city and county parks
and recreation departments, county offices of education, local
school districts, probation departments, and CBOs, collaborate
to provide after-school enrichment and supervision for both
juveniles on probation and at-risk youth. These programs take
place at county and city parks, schools, and CBOs. Services are



offered from 3 p.m. to 6 p.m., when at-risk youth and probationers
are most likely to be without adult supervision. Table A.6 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 201314
through 2017-18.

Table A.6
After-School Enrichment and Supervision Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW 0 f
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT ORCEMEN
FISCALYEAR [0 11 5 DEPARTMENTS DEPARTMEN CBOs

2013-14 $883,000 $81,000 $510,000 $0
2014-15 926,000 101,000 606,000 0
2015-16 808,000 105,000 602,000 0
2016-17 721,000 100,000 618,000 0
2017-18 726,000 64,000 555,000 0
Totals $4,064,000 $451,000 $2,891,000 $0

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

Early Intervention and Diversion Program Description

The Early Intervention and Diversion Program provides at-risk
youth and their families with coordinated supportive services
intended to decrease the likelihood of ongoing delinquency and

to keep youth and families out of the justice system. The program
provides services to youth and their families whom the probation
department has investigated for offenses that it does not refer to the
district attorney. The goal of the program is to ensure that youth
and their families receive health, mental health, and other services
that enhance the family unit and divert youth from entering the
juvenile justice system. Table A.7 presents expenditure information
for the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

51



52 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

TableA.7
Early Intervention and Diversion Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW 0 f
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT ORCEMEN
FISCALYEAR 02011 DEPARTMENTS DEPARTMEN CBOs

2013-14* = = = =
2014-15* = = = =
2015-16 $397,000 50 50 50
2016-17 518,000 0 0 0
2017-18 480,000 0 0 1,000
Totals $1,395,000 $0 $0 $1,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.
* The program did not receive funding in this year.

Gender Specific Services Program Description

The Gender Specific Services Program focuses on helping girls develop
knowledge, skills, and experiences that will promote health and
resiliency. The program aims to provide essential elements of effective
gender-specific services for adolescent girls, including the following:

+ Space that is physically and emotionally safe and removed from the
demands for attention of adolescent males.

+ Time for girls to talk and to conduct emotionally safe, comforting,
challenging, nurturing conversations within ongoing relationships.

+ Opportunities for girls to develop relationships of trust and
interdependence with other women already present in their lives.

+ Programs that draw on girls’ cultural strengths rather than
focusing primarily on the individual girl.

« Mentors who share experiences that resonate with the realities of
girls’ lives and who exemplify survival and growth.

+ Education about women’s health, including female development,
pregnancy, contraception, and disease prevention, along with
opportunities for girls to define healthy sexuality on their own
terms, rather than as victims.

Table A.8 presents expenditure information for the program for fiscal
years 2013—14 through 2017-18.




California State Auditor Report 2019-116

TableA.8
Gender Specific Services Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS

OF LOCAL AGENCIES
- OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR 0204115\ DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
2013-14 $28,000 $0 $759,000
2014-15 28,000 0 0 885,000
2015-16 39,000 0 0 741,000
2016-17 33,000 0 0 677,000
2017-18 16,000 0 0 533,000
Totals $144,000 $0 $0 $3,595,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

High Risk/High Needs Program Description

The High Risk/High Needs Program targets juvenile probationers
who are transitioning from certain facilities to the community, as well
as those under other types of supervision who are high risk. Many of
these juveniles are involved with gangs, use drugs and alcohol, are low
academic performers, and have risk factors across multiple domains.
Offenders with these profiles are at high risk for committing new crimes
upon reentry to the community. The program consists of home-based
services and employment services for juveniles on probation, with the
aim of improving school performance, strengthening the family and
parental skills, and linking juveniles on probation to job training

and placement. Table A.g presents expenditure information for the
program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.9
High Risk/High Needs Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS

OF LOCAL AGENCIES
- OTHERLAW NON-LAW
PROBATION | ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
CGIR{IVN DEPARTMENT | DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
2013-14 $1,939,000 $230,000 $169,000 $2,562,000
2014-15 1,949,000 287,000 103,000 2,122,000
2015-16 1,464,000 299,000 106,000 2,716,000
2016-17 538,000 286,000 116,000 2,549,000
2017-18 494,000 574,000 162,000 2,263,000
Totals $6,384,000 $1,676,000 $656,000 $12,212,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

May 2020

53



54 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Housing-Based Day Supervision Program Description

The Housing-Based Day Supervision Program provides day,
evening, and weekend supervision and services for juveniles on
probation, at-risk youth, and their families who live in specific
housing developments within the county. The program also

assists the families of juveniles on probation to access resources
and services that will help them become self-sufficient, thereby
reducing risk factors associated with juvenile delinquency. The
program’s goals are to provide early-intervention services for
at-risk youth, daily monitoring of juveniles on probation, and
enhanced family services to juveniles on probation and at-risk
youth. Its goals also include increasing school attendance and
performance and reducing crime rates in the housing units. The
program places probation officers at selected public housing
developments to provide day services and supervision for juveniles
on probation, at-risk youth, and their families. The program is
designed to empower parents with the skills, resources, and support
needed to effectively parent their children. Table A.10 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 201314
through 2017-18.

TableA.10
Housing-Based Day Supervision Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHERLAW NON-LA
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR ER0IZU1 IS DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14 $24,000 $81,000 $772,000 $0
2014-15 24,000 101,000 776,000 0
2015-16 33,000 105,000 803,000 0
2016-17 28,000 100,000 692,000 0
2017-18 33,000 64,000 864,000 0
Totals $142,000 $451,000 $3,907,000 $0

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.




California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Mental Health Screening, Assessment, and Treatment Program Description

The Mental Health Screening, Assessment, and Treatment Program
screens, assesses, and treats juveniles who are newly admitted

to juvenile hall. Upon admission, mental health professionals

screen all juveniles to identify those who need treatment and
follow-up care for mental health or substance abuse disorders and
to develop individual treatment plans accordingly. In conjunction
with treatment providers, probation officers and case managers
supervise the juveniles. Table A.11 presents expenditure information
for the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.11
Mental Health Screening, Assessment, and Treatment Program Expenditures
for Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR 0211 DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14 $90,000 $0 $3,335,000 $626,000
2014-15 90,000 0 3,321,000 614,000
2015-16 123,000 0 3,212,000 482,000
2016-17 106,000 0 3,846,000 532,000
2017-18 128,000 0 3,808,000 545,000
Totals $537,000 $0 $17,522,000 $2,799,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

Multi-Systemic Therapy Program Description

The Multi-Systemic Therapy (MST) Program comprises CBOs
that provide intensive family and community-based treatment
to address all environmental factors that affect chronic and
violent juvenile offenders and their homes, families, schools,
teachers, neighborhoods, and friends. MST works with juvenile
offenders who have long histories of arrests. Its interventions
aim to reduce risk factors by building individual and family
strengths on an individualized and comprehensive basis. MST
practitioners are available 24 hours per day, seven days per week,
and provide services in the home at times convenient to families
to circumvent the barriers to accessing services that families of
serious juvenile offenders often encounter. Table A.12 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 2013—14
through 2017-18.

May 2020

55



56

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Table A.12
Multi-Systemic Therapy Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW 0 f
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT ORCEMEN
FISCALYEAR 02011 DEPARTMENTS DEPARTMEN CBOs

2013-14 $10,000 $0 $0 $272,000
2014-15 10,000 0 0 240,000
2015-16 14,000 0 0 186,000
2016-17 12,000 0 59,000 270,000
2017-18 12,000 0 2,000 323,000
Totals $58,000 $0 $61,000 $1,291,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

One-Time Projects Program Description

From fiscal years 2015—16 through 2017-18, the county used
one-time growth funds to support or expand various existing
programs and services and to fund new projects. For example, the
county funded multiple programs that target diversion, prevention,
and early intervention throughout the county, such as mental
health drug counseling services and services provided by various
CBOs. It also used these funds for after-school enrichment and
employment services, a Safe Passages program to help youth

safely travel to and from school, arts programs aimed at improving
youths’ problem-solving skills and social competence through
creative expression in different art forms, other supportive services,
and a comprehensive JJCPA evaluation. Table A.13 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 201314
through 2017-18.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

TableA.13
One-Time Projects Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS

OF LOCAL AGENCIES
OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT

[AN@YR{7\:3 DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
2013-14* = = = =
2014-15* = = = =
2015-16 $0 $0 $0 $156,000
2016-17 68,000 0 74,000 1,900,000
2017-18 132,000 82,000 700,000 3,545,000
Totals $200,000 $82,000 $774,000 $5,601,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

Note: The table includes expenditures for programs Los Angeles reported to Community
Corrections. Specifically, the county indicated the following program names were one-time projects:
Enhanced School and Community Services Program, New Programs, Expanded Programs, and

8.4 Million Programs. According to the Los Angeles Probation Department, the county uses these
names for internal tracking and for reporting expenditures to Community Corrections.

* The program did not receive funding in this year.

School-Based Supervision Program Description

The main objective of the School-Based Supervision Program is

to reduce crime and delinquency in 85 high-risk neighborhoods in
the county by providing school-based probation supervision and
services for juveniles on probation and at-risk youth in schools. A
secondary goal is to enhance protective factors through improved
school performance. Among other services, school-based probation
officers assess the strengths of and risk factors for juveniles on
probation; use evidence-based treatment interventions; and
provide prosocial adult modeling, advocacy, and post-probation
planning with the juvenile and his or her family. Table A.14 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 2013—14
through 2017-18.

May 2020

57



58 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

TableA.14
School-Based Supervision Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR Bl (g 140y DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
2013-14 $10,275,000 $230,000 $0 $131,000
2014-15 11,898,000 287,000 0 224,000
2015-16 10,977,000 299,000 0 229,000
2016-17 11,913,000 286,000 0 194,000
2017-18 11,978,000 183,000 0 293,000
Totals $57,041,000 $1,285,000 $0 $1,071,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

Special Needs Court Program Description

The Special Needs Court Program is a full-time court specifically
designed and staffed to supervise juvenile offenders who suffer from
diagnosed serious mental illnesses, organic brain impairments, or
developmental disabilities. The court ensures that these juveniles
receive proper mental health treatment both in custody and in the
community. The program’s goals are to reduce rearrest rates for
juvenile offenders diagnosed with mental health problems and to
increase the number of juveniles who receive appropriate mental
health treatment. Table A.15 presents expenditure information for
the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.15
Special Needs Court Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
AN YR{3\:38 DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
2013-14 $213,000 $166,000 $554,000 $315,000
2014-15 213,000 166,000 554,000 315,000
2015-16 222,000 166,000 554,000 316,000
2016-17 217,000 166,000 554,000 316,000
2017-18 224,000 166,000 554,000 316,000
Totals $1,089,000 $830,000 $2,770,000 $1,578,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.




Writing Program Description

The Writing Program aims to reduce crime by teaching
interpersonal skills through a biweekly writing class for juveniles
subject to long-term detention in juvenile hall. The program is
voluntary and uses writing to develop juveniles’ interpersonal and
communication skills. It teaches program participants creative
writing to discourage juvenile violence, replacing it with a spirit of
honest introspection, values, and skill building. Participants meet
weekly, in sessions led by professional writers, to write and critique
their written work with others in the group. The program guides
participants in their writing and discussions, providing them with
an experience in building a supportive community. Table A.16
presents expenditure information for the program for fiscal

years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

TableA.16
Writing Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14 $4,000 $0 $0 $193,000
2014-15 4,000 0 0 209,000
2015-16 6,000 0 0 197,000
2016-17 5,000 0 0 208,000
2017-18 6,000 0 0 215,000
Totals $25,000 $0 $0 $1,022,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

Youth Substance Abuse Intervention Program Description

The Youth Substance Abuse Intervention Program provides holistic
treatment through individual, family, and group counseling that
focuses on the roots of problems and not just on the substance
abuse manifestation. The program’s goals are to reduce crime and
antisocial behavior and to reduce the number of participants with
positive drug tests. A central focus of the program is to ensure
that high-risk juveniles on probation who are transitioning from
certain facility settings to the community see community-based
substance abuse treatment providers within 36 hours of their
release from those facilities. The program also conducts drug
testing to verify abstinence and program progress. Substance
abuse treatment providers work collaboratively with school-based

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

59



60

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

probation officers to develop case plans for juveniles that address
their risk factors and provide them with substance abuse refusal
skill training and a relapse-prevention plan. Table A.17 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 201314
through 2017-18.

Table A.17
Youth Substance Abuse Intervention Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHERLAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14 $21,000 $0 $0 $1,011,000
2014-15 21,000 0 0 1,011,000
2015-16 29,000 0 0 1,011,000
2016-17 25,000 0 0 1,011,000
2017-18 6,000 0 0 115,000
Totals $102,000 $0 $0 $4,159,000

Source: Los Angeles expenditure data.

Mendocino County

Mendocino operated one JJCPA-funded program from fiscal years
2013—14 through 2017-18. The Rural Gang Unit Program provides
probation supervision and services to juveniles on probation and
youth involved with gangs. Table A.18 shows percentages of certain
demographics for Mendocino’s JJCPA-funded program during fiscal
years 2013—14 through 2015-16.



61

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

‘slenplAipul

950U} UO B1ep 123]|02 J0U PIP 3 ING ‘UO1IGOId UO JOU I3M OUYM YINOA 03 SDIAIS UOIIRINPS pue uoiuaAaid papiaoid weiboid ay) 1eyy paiedipul Juawedap uoieqoid ayl 49A3MOH “Juawiiedap
uoneqoid ay3 Ylm PaAjOAUL SSIMIBYI0 J0 uolieqoid uo pasiaiadns AjaAide sjenpiaipul Ajuo s3da(ya1 os|e pariodal eiep ay) ‘yuawiiedsp uoneqoid ay) 01 buiploddy */1-91 07 1834 [eISyY J0j SA1NIYS elep
42Ns HwNS 03 S31IUN0D HuliINbal pasead suoidR110) AYUNWWo) asnedaq gL—/ 107 PUe /L -910Z sieak |edsy 1oj weiboid ydd[r si Joj eyep auedpiried 1391103 10U pip 3 12y} paute|dxa oupopualy 210N

‘Juawedaq uoleqoid oupopudly 3yl A papiaoid eleq :a2inog
%0 %0 %St %SS %0 %0 %88 %CL %€ %8l %EL %€9 %0 %€ nun buen jeiny

NMONMNN | S€Ol6lL | 8LOL9L | SLOLOL | 60L0 | NMONMNN NMONMNN A1IHM NYIOIHIWY ONILYTd0 YIANVSI NVOI4IWY Wvd504dd
40 d3IHLO 40 d3HLO 40 d3HLO 3AILYN JINVdSIH JHIdvd -NVOIddv
ANV NVISY

ED) 43AN3IO 1DV

91L-SL0Z YybnoayyL 1-€10 siedp [edsly
Buring sweiboid papund-ydd[r oudopuayy 10j sdoiydeibowag urensd) jo sabeuadiad

8L°V dlqel



62

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Rural Gang Unit Program Description

The Rural Gang Unit Program provides elevated and more intense
probation supervision to juveniles who have been involved in gang
activities. Probation officers, who focus on local schools with increased
levels of gang activity, provide juveniles on probation, at-risk youth, and
their families with referrals for services, including individual and family
counseling, anger management, tutoring, community service, and
after-school activities. This program contracts with the Mendocino
County Youth Project for services. Table A.19 presents expenditure
information for the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.19
Rural Gang Unit Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHERLAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT ENFORCEMENT
¢ IR7IVl DEPARTMENT | DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
$0 $0 $0

2013-14 $159,000

2014-15 243,000 0 0 0
2015-16 256,000 0 0 0
2016-17 242,000 0 0 0
2017-18 251,000 0 0 0
Totals $1,151,000 $0 $0 $0

Source: Mendocino expenditure data.

San Joaquin County

San Joaquin operated five programs with JJCPA funding during our
audit period. These programs place probation officers on school
campuses to supervise juveniles on probation who are attending
school and provide a day reporting center as an alternative to
detention. The county has also established neighborhood service
centers to engage youth and their families, both before and after they
interact with law enforcement, and a family-focused intervention
team to assist parents who are on probation and thereby help

reduce the significant risk factors that exist for their children. In
addition, the county has integrated policies and procedures that
focus on positive youth development, trauma-informed care, and
other services that promote improved health and social outcomes for
certain youth. Table A.20 shows percentages of certain demographics
for San Joaquin’s JJCPA-funded programs during fiscal years 2013—14
through 2017-18.



63

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

%0

NMONMNN
4O Y¥3HLO

%L

STOole6l

59

%99

8LOL9L

19V

13

%EE

sLoloL

%0

6010

%0

NMONMNN
YO Y¥3HLO

88

%8

TV

43IANID

cl

%EL

‘wesboid ay) Joy e1ep d1ydesbowsp apiroid Jou pip AJUN0d Y| 4
“Juawieda( uoneqold uinbeor ues ayy Aq papiaoid ezeq :931n0s

191ud) buioday

l ol l ot 4 14 Keq 129uUu033Y
sndwe) uo
%C %CL %0 %CYy %8 %9¢ $J9DLJQO UONeGOId

xSI9IUD) MIAIDS
pooyioqybiaN
¥dAIIRNIU| Dd1SN[
UINOA 3ANISOd pue
WBISIZAQ YdIT
«Wed] UoIUIAIA|
pasnd04 Ajiwey

NMONMNN 3LIHM | NVOIHIWY | ONILYTHO YIANVISI NVOIdIWY WVYd504d
YO Y¥3HLO AAILVN JINVdSIH Jlddvd -NVYOIddv

ANV NVISY

DV

8L-£1L0Z Yybnoay| 1-€10T s1ed4 [edsid
buring sweiboid papung-yddff uinbeor ues Joj soydeibowa uiensa) jo sabejuadiad

0zZ°v 9jqel



64

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Family Focused Intervention Team Program Description

The Family Focused Intervention Team (FFIT) Program provides
case management services to parents who are on probation, a
situation that could cause significant risk factors to children in their
homes. The goal of the program is to intervene in these high-risk
families to prevent or reduce violence in the home by providing
demonstrated programs that directly address the families’ needs.
The long-term goal of FFIT is to positively affect at-risk children to
prevent them from entering the juvenile justice system. By offering
supervision and support, the program helps parents provide an
appropriate environment in which to raise children and remain
crime-free. Targeted families include those who are experiencing
homelessness or whose members suffer from mental illnesses or
substance abuse. FFIT officers conduct visits both in the office

and at families’ homes to monitor compliance with court-ordered
conditions of probation, refer families to programs, and complete
individualized case plans to address these families’ needs.

Table A.21 presents expenditure information for the program for
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.21
Family Focused Intervention Team Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
HAN@IR/TV  DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14*

2014-15* - - - _
2015-16* - - - -
2016-17* — - - -
2017-18 $193,000 $0 $0 $0
Totals $193,000 $0 $0 $0

Source: San Joaquin expenditure data.
* The program did not receive funding in this year.

JJCPA Oversight and Positive Youth Justice Initiative Program Description

Beginning in 2012, the Sierra Health Foundation for the Positive
Youth Justice Initiative Program provided a grant to the probation
department. The grant focused on positive youth development,
trauma-informed care, and other services to promote improved
health and social outcomes for youth who are at risk of or are



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

fluctuating between the child welfare and juvenile justice systems.
The probation department embedded these cornerstones into its
policies, procedures, and practices, and although the grant ended
in December 2017, the probation department used JJCPA funds
to sustain key pieces of the initiative. It continues to function as
the liaison between CBOs and probation officers—scheduling and
hosting youth orientations and managing and overseeing referrals
to CBOs. Table A.22 presents expenditure information for the
program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.22
JJCPA Oversight and Positive Youth Justice Initiative Program Expenditures
for Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES
FISCALYEAR

OTHERLAW NON-LAW
PROBATION | ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
DEPARTMENT | DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
2013-14% = = = =

2014-15* - - - -
2015-16* - - - -
2016-17* - = - =
2017-18 $111,000 $0 $0 $0
Totals $111,000 $0 $0 $0

Source: San Joaquin expenditure data for JJCPA funds only.
* The program did not receive funding in this year.

Neighborhood Service Centers Program Description

The Neighborhood Service Centers (Neighborhood Service) Program
uses a multidisciplinary team approach to work with at-risk and
justice-involved youth and their families. The centers engage youth
and their parents or guardians both before and after they interact
with law enforcement. The program’s primary functions are to
facilitate neighborhood-driven initiatives; transform social service
delivery in the county by enabling families to easily access services
and resources where they are; and provide comprehensive, integrated
services, including prevention of issues such as obesity, truancy, and
unemployment. Neighborhood Service enables service providers

to efficiently convene and coordinate multidisciplinary services.

Each center offers intake and assessments, resources and referrals,
integrated family plans, leadership development, health insurance
enrollment assistance, health and nutritional education, health
screening, preventive care, counseling, youth development groups,
and parenting groups. Table A.23 presents expenditure information
for the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

May 2020

65



66

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

TableA.23
Neighborhood Service Centers Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW 0 f
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT ORCEMEN
FISCALYEAR 02011 DEPARTMENTS DEPARTMEN CBOs

2013-14 $0 $0 $0 $600,000
2014-15 68,000 0 0 550,000
2015-16 0 0 0 650,000
2016-17 5,000 0 0 500,000
2017-18 0 0 0 650,000
Totals $73,000 $0 $0 $2,950,000

Source: San Joaquin expenditure data.

Probation Officers on Campus Program Description

Under the Probation Officers on Campus (POOC) Program,
probation officers provide intensive supervision at school sites

to students on probation, monitor the probationers’ attendance,
assist in handling disciplinary problems, and work with school
staff to address probationers’ mental health, substance abuse,

and other issues relevant to their behavior. POOC officers have
regular contact with at-risk youth who have not yet entered

into the juvenile justice system, and when parents, teachers,

and school administrators refer these youth, the officers provide
them intervention and referral services. The POOC Program also
operates a canine team, which searches for and detects narcotics to
assist in the supervision, care, custody, and control of participants.
Table A.24 presents expenditure information for the program for
fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.



Table A.24
Probation Officers on Campus Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHERLAW NON-LAW

PROBATION | ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
{JIRYIVN DEPARTMENT | DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs
$0 $0 $0

2013-14 $915,000

2014-15 689,000 0 0 0
2015-16 793,000 0 0 0
2016-17 940,000 0 0 0
2017-18 913,000 0 0 0
Totals $4,250,000 $0 $0 $0

Source: San Joaquin expenditure data.

Reconnect Day Reporting Center Program Description

The Reconnect Day Reporting Center (Reconnect) Program is a
collaborative effort between the San Joaquin County Probation
Department, San Joaquin County Office of Education, and
Community Partnership for Families of San Joaquin. It provides
an alternative to detention, with educational services and other
programs and services demonstrated to be effective in rebuilding
family relationships. Reconnect’s two major objectives are to
provide a comprehensive alternative to detention by establishing a
day reporting center and to reduce recidivism by providing targeted
programs to a high-risk population. Additionally, Reconnect aims
to decrease truancy for juveniles on probation by integrating
on-site family services and helping probationers reconnect and
remain in the community. Reconnect provides life skills training,
including social skills and problem-solving, as well as substance
abuse intervention and anger control training. Table A.25 presents
expenditure information for the program for fiscal years 2013—14
through 2017-18.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

67



68

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Table A.25
Reconnect Day Reporting Center Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHERLAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR D201 1E )8 DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14*

2014-15 $474,000 S0 S0 $0
2015-16 433,000 0 0 0
2016-17 528,000 0 0 70,000
2017-18 516,000 0 0 112,000
Totals $1,951,000 $0 $0 $182,000

Source: San Joaquin expenditure data.

* The program did not receive funding in this year.

Santa Barbara County

Santa Barbara County operated two programs with JJCPA funding
during our audit period—the Early Intervention Community
Supervision Program and the School-Based Officer Community
Supervision Program. The programs focused on supervising
juvenile probationers and other youth at school sites and
intervening with first-time juvenile offenders with less serious
offenses to help them exit from probation supervision sooner than
might otherwise be the case. Table A.26 shows percentages of
certain demographics for Santa Barbara’s combined JJCPA-funded
programs during fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.



69

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

%0

NMONMNN

40 d3HLO

"paubisse a1om syuedpiped weiboid sy weiboid ydiym 03 AJauapl skemie Jou pjnod elegieg ejues asnedaq sweiboid y1oq 10} paulquiod usaqg aaey sdlydelbowap Juedidineyd 310N

“Juawileda( uoneqold eiegleg elues ayi Aq papiaoid exeq :23In0s

uoisialedng Anunwiwo)

1D paseg-|ooyds pue
%L %¢ES %9 %0 %0 %L9 %EE %L %L1 %0 %9. %L %S uoisivsadng Ajunwwon

uonuaAIa| Aieg

HIANVISI Wvd504d
NMONMNN NMONMNN NVJIHIWY | ONILYTHO NVDIdIwWY
SCOl6L | 8LOL9L | SLOLOL | 6010 4O ¥IHLO TIVIN 4O ¥IHLO 31lIHM JALLYN INVASIH pIEIp) /] -NVDIY4Y
ANV NVISY
ED)

43IANID 1DV

81-/10T Ybnoiy| 1 -€10T s1eaA |edsly
bung sweiboid papung-yddff pauiquo) eieqgieg eyues 1oy soiydeibowaq uiersa) jo sabejuadiad

9T'v 9lqel



70

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Early Intervention Community Supervision Program Description

This program assigns younger, usually first-time, offenders to
probation officers in an effort to minimize their further involvement
with the justice system and deter them from future delinquency.
These juvenile offenders often have less serious offenses, and the
program’s intent is to release them from probation supervision
sooner than what might otherwise be the case. The program also
has a counseling component whereby probation officers refer
juveniles on probation to individual and family counseling. The goal
is to provide effective, time-limited interventions that increase the
involvement of family members. Table A.27 presents expenditure
information for the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through
2017—18.

Table A.27
Early Intervention Community Supervision Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR DEPARTMENT DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14 $386,000 $0 $29,000 $97,000
2014-15 402,000 0 3,000 56,000
2015-16 452,000 0 63,000 86,000
2016-17 576,000 0 104,000 109,000
2017-18 624,000 0 154,000 99,000
Totals $2,440,000 $0 $353,000 $447,000

Source: Santa Barbara expenditure data.

School-Based Officer Community Supervision Program Description

When the county probation department implemented the
School-Based Officer Community Supervision Program, it assigned
probation officers to supervise certain juveniles attending specific
schools. The probation officers worked with school administrators,
educators, and law enforcement officers at the schools to address
delinquency- and truancy-related issues. Probation officers made
contact with probation-supervised juveniles and others at the
school. The program targeted older, more justice system-involved
juveniles, and it combined probation supervision with counseling
opportunities. Because of caseload capacity and operational
considerations, probation officers now supervise these juveniles
more traditionally. Specifically, probation officers make contact
with juvenile probationers at school sites, but they have less contact



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 71
May 2020

than at the program’s inception and that contact generally relates to
specific tasks involving the probationers. The program’s counseling
component remains unchanged, and the probation department
refers probation-supervised youth for individual and family
counseling for reasons including substance abuse, school problems,
and family conflict. Table A.28 presents expenditure information
for the program for fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18.

Table A.28
School-Based Officer Community Supervision Program Expenditures for
Fiscal Years 2013-14 Through 2017-18

SALARIES AND BENEFITS
OF LOCAL AGENCIES

OTHER LAW NON-LAW
PROBATION ENFORCEMENT | ENFORCEMENT
FISCALYEAR IS0 )0 DEPARTMENTS | DEPARTMENTS CBOs

2013-14 $677,000 $0 $0 $122,000
2014-15 606,000 0 0 72,000
2015-16 636,000 0 0 67,000
2016-17 772,000 0 0 73,000
2017-18 697,000 0 0 66,000
Totals $3,388,000 $0 $0 $400,000

Source: Santa Barbara expenditure data.




72 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Appendix B

Scope and Methodology

The Audit Committee directed the California State Auditor to
evaluate the spending, reporting, and evaluation of JJCPA funds
by the counties of Kern, Los Angeles, Mendocino, San Joaquin,
and Santa Barbara, in addition to their decision-making processes
related to these funds. Table B lists the objectives that the Audit
Committee approved and the methods we used to address

those objectives.

Table B
Audit Objectives and the Methods Used to Address Them

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

1 Review and evaluate the laws, Reviewed relevant federal and state laws, rules, and regulations related to juvenile justice.
rules, and regulations significant to
the audit objectives.

2 Identify the agencies that lead the ~ For each of the five counties, interviewed staff at the county probation departments, other county
administration of each county’s departments, and Community Corrections to identify the county department that administers the JJCPA
JJCPA program. program. We reviewed counties’ comprehensive plans, Coordinating Council meeting minutes, and

websites for relevant documentation to substantiate the statements of the staff we interviewed.

3 Evaluate the counties’ processes - Reviewed the five counties’ contracting policies and procedures.
for soliciting JJCPA funding
applications and awarding JJCPA
funds, including the following:

- Based on contract amount and scope of work, judgmentally selected up to 10 JJCPA-funded
contracts per county that were executed by the five counties during fiscal years 2013-14 through
2017-18. Mendocino did not contract with CBOs or other county agencies using JJCPA funding

a. Whether the application process during this period.

is the same for all potential
grantees, and the availability,
extent, and timing of any
technical assistance provided.

- Reviewed supporting contract documentation to determine whether applicable county policies
and procedures were followed. We interviewed staff of county probation departments to determine
what technical assistance they provided to potential contractors.

« Determined that the counties that contracted with other local agencies and CBOs to provide
JJCPA-funded services appropriately followed county procurement and contracting policies for all
potential contractors. In all instances where the counties solicited the contracts competitively, the
counties provided technical assistance.

b. The process for JJCPA funding Reviewed the selected contracts to identify the counties’ processes for paying the contractor and
disbursement and whether determined that counties appropriately followed their contracting policies and procedures.
contracts differ based on the
type of grantee.

continued on next page. ...

73



74 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

4 Review the counties’ processes Obtained and reviewed the five counties’ comprehensive plans for fiscal years 2001-02 through 2019-20
related to their comprehensive to determine whether the plans included the components the JJCPA requires and the extent to which
plans and determine the following  those components changed during the period. We interviewed county and Community Corrections staff
for each county: to confirm when no plan was available for review.

a. The number of times the county
has revised its comprehensive
plan since the JJCPA was
enacted, when the last revision
occurred, and whether the
revision incorporated applicable
statutory requirements.

b. The processes and Reviewed available bylaws for Coordinating Councils and interviewed staff from county probation
accountability measures for departments and members of the councils to determine whether processes were in place for each
writing the comprehensive plan  county’s council to develop, review, and approve the comprehensive plan. Because Mendocino did not
and ensuring its accuracy. have a council during our audit period, we interviewed only staff from the probation department.

¢. Whether the county’s Reviewed available bylaws for the Coordinating Councils to determine if the county boards of
Coordinating Council is required  supervisors are required to approve comprehensive plans. Although county boards of supervisors are
to obtain approval of the not required to approve the plans, Kern and Los Angeles submit their plans to the board of supervisors
comprehensive plan from the for approval, who have not rejected any of the plans they received in the last five fiscal years.

county board of supervisors, as
authorized by statute, and, if
so, whether the Coordinating
Council’s decisions have ever
been overturned during the last
five fiscal years.

5  Determine whether the counties had - Obtained county accounting records and supporting payment documentation to identify the total

any accumulated, unspent JJCPA amount of JJCPA funds each county spent for fiscal years 2013-14 through 2017-18. We obtained
funds from fiscal years 2013-14 allocation information from the Department of Finance and payment information from the State
through 2017-18, the amount and Controller’s Office to determine the amount of JJCPA funds allocated to each county during fiscal
explanations for any unspent funds, years 2013-14 through 2017-18. We compared total allocations to each county for each year with
and whether there is a plan for their annual JJCPA expenditures to determine the amount of unspent funds.

distributing unspent funds.

Interviewed staff at each county to gain an understanding of their JJCPA budget processes. We
then compared the counties’budgeted and actual JJCPA expenditures to determine the accuracy of
county budget estimates.

Interviewed county staff to obtain their perspectives on unspent funds, including the factors that
hinder the counties from spending all of the funds and whether the counties have any plans to
reduce fund reserves.



AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

6

Evaluate the authorities, roles,

and responsibilities of each
county’s Coordinating Council

and its individual members,

and determine whether the
Coordinating Council has complied
with state law. Determine the
following information related to
each Coordinating Council:

a. The members of the
Coordinating Council over the
past five fiscal years and what
categories of representation
they fulfill.

b. Whether all Coordinating
Council members have equal
powers, access to information,
and decision-making authority.

¢. Which agency and position
facilitates Coordinating Council
meetings, how frequently those
meetings occur, and whether
the meetings comply with
state law applicable to open
meetings.

d. The bylaws, protocols,
procedures, or other governance
guidelines the county has
established to support
the Coordinating Council’s
decision-making process.

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Researched best practices for nonprofit board bylaws.

Reviewed Coordinating Council bylaws for Kern, Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara. Mendocino did not
have a council during our audit period, and San Joaquin did not have bylaws for its council.

Reviewed available rosters and meeting minutes for all council meetings held by the four counties
during fiscal years 2013-14 through 2017-18 to determine whether council representation
complied with state law.

Reviewed Coordinating Council bylaws for Kern, Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara to determine
whether they specify the roles, responsibilities, and powers of the council members. Mendocino did
not have a council during our audit period, and San Joaquin did not have bylaws for its council.

Interviewed probation department staff and council members to determine their role and
decision-making authority in council meetings.

Reviewed available minutes for all council meetings held by the four counties with councils during
fiscal years 2013-14 through 2017-18 to understand their decision-making processes for their
comprehensive plan.

Reviewed Coordinating Council bylaws for Kern, Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara to determine
whether they included specific meeting requirements, such as frequency of meetings. Mendocino
did not have a council during our audit period, and San Joaquin did not have bylaws for its council.

Interviewed probation department officials and council members to determine which agency and
position facilitates council meetings.

Reviewed available minutes for all council meetings held by the four counties during fiscal
years 2013-14 through 2017-18 to determine the frequency of meetings and whether a quorum
was established during the meetings.

Reviewed county processes for posting council meeting agendas to determine whether they
complied with open meeting act requirements, and verified that the counties posted agendas for
the meetings they held during fiscal years 2013-14 through 2017-18 in accordance with applicable
state law.

Reviewed Coordinating Council bylaws for Kern, Los Angeles, and Santa Barbara to understand
their decision-making processes. Mendocino did not have a council during our audit period, and
San Joaquin did not have bylaws for its council.

Interviewed probation department officials and council members to understand the guidelines the
counties established to support the councils’ decision-making processes and to understand how
San Joaquin’s council makes decisions without bylaws.

continued on next page. ...

75



76 California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

7  Identify the data JJCPA grantees - Interviewed officials from county probation departments and county procurement departments
provide to each Coordinating to understand what deliverables, if any, they required their contractors to submit to fulfill their
Council and whether this varies contracts. Mendocino did not contract with CBOs or other county agencies using JJCPA funding
based on the type of grantee. during this period.

Determine the following for . . . .
each county: « Reviewed relevant county policies, procedures, and contracts to determine whether they specify
how contractors will be evaluated.
a. The steps the county takes to
ensure JJCPA funds are allocated « Reviewed supporting documentation for the contracts at Kern, Los Angeles, San Joaquin, and
to programs and CBOs that are Santa Barbara that we selected for Objective 3 to determine if the counties ensured that JJCPA funds
effective in achieving the goals were allocated to programs and CBOs that are effective.
of the JJCPA.
b. The county’s process for - Interviewed staff from county probation departments and county procurement departments to
monitoring program funding. understand their processes for monitoring program funding.
« Reviewed relevant probation department policies, procedures, and contracts to determine whether
counties followed their monitoring processes.
- Reviewed supporting documentation for the contracts at Kern, Los Angeles, San Joaquin, and
Santa Barbara that we selected for Objective 3 to determine whether the counties followed their
contract monitoring processes.
- Determined that the counties that contracted with other agencies to provide JJCPA-funded services
appropriately followed county policies when monitoring program funding.

8  Forfiscal years 2013-14 through - Obtained budget and financial documentation at each county’s probation department for fiscal
2017-18, analyze the following years 2013-14 through 2017-18 to identify the JJCPA funds budgeted and the actual expenditures,
county data by fiscal year, including including for probation department, other law enforcement agencies, and non-law enforcement
agency name, organization name, agencies salaries and benefits; for CBOs; and for any other JJCPA expenses for each program.
and expenditure description, where . . . .
applicable: « Reviewed contracting documentation for Los Angeles, San Joaquin, and Santa Barbara and

conducted online searches to identify headquarter locations for CBOs providing services in the
a. Total JJCPA funds budgeted per counties. We found CBOs were generally located in the county where they provided services. Kern
program. and Mendocino did not contract with any CBOs during our audit period.
b. Total JJCPA-reported
expenditures per program.
¢. Total JJCPA funds spent on
probation department salaries
and benefits.
d. Total JJCPA funds spent on other
law enforcement agency salaries
and benefits.
e. Total JJCPA funds spent on
non-law enforcement public
agency salaries and benefits.
f. Total JJCPA funds spent on CBOs,
and identify those organizations
whose primary locations are
in the communities they are
serving.
9 Determine the percentage of each  Using the budget and financial documentation obtained in Objective 8, determined the percentage of

county’s probation department
budget that the JJCPA funded for
each year from fiscal years 2013-14
through 2017-18.

each county’s probation department budget that was supported by JJCPA funds for fiscal years 2013-14
through 2017-18. The percentage of each county’s probation department budget supported by JJCPA
funds ranged from roughly 2 percent to 3 percent, depending on the county.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 77

May 2020

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

Determined that because of limitations in the data counties provided, we could not accurately assess
the expenditures specific to at-risk youth with no prior arrests or contact with juvenile court associated
with each county program. As we discuss in Chapter 1, some counties could not identify all of the
youth that participated in each of their programs, and some did not track participant data for some of
their programs.

10

1"

12

13

Determine the dollar amount and
percentage of each county’s JJCPA
expenditures for the last five fiscal
years that were used to supervise
at-risk youth with no prior arrests
or contact with the juvenile

court. Perform the following for
each county:

a. ldentify expenditures and
program descriptions by agency
and fiscal year.

b. Identify the probation
department’s definition of
at-risk youth for service design,
or indicate if no definition exists.

To the extent possible, determine
the total number of youth that
have been served by each county’s
JJCPA-funded programs and
services in the past five fiscal years
by program, race, age, gender,

zip code, and charges or activities
warranting intervention, and list by
program and fiscal year.

Determine whether each county
spends JJCPA funds for services
or programs for youth described
under state law, including, but
not limited to, specific sections

of the Welfare and Institutions
Code, including but not limited
to sections 236, 654, and

654.2. Under each of the above
referenced code sections, identify
the amount of JJCPA funds spent
on programs or services run by
probation departments, other law
enforcement agencies, non-law
enforcement public agencies,
and CBOs.

To the extent possible, determine
whether JJCPA-funded programs
effectively reduce interactions
between youth and the juvenile
justice system, including law
enforcement agencies.

Interviewed probation staff at each county to identify each county’s definition of at-risk youth.

Reviewed each county’s comprehensive plan to determine whether it included a definition of
at-risk youth.

Determined how the counties track the total population and demographic data of those served
by JJICPA funds, and determined whether the county tracks population and demographic data
by program.

Requested from each of the five counties a list of all participants, including their demographics and
data on arrests or activities warranting intervention, who participated in the county’s programs or
services funded by the JJCPA at any time for fiscal years 2013-14 through 2017-18.

Determined we could not accurately assess the expenditures associated with youth described
under specific Welfare and Institutions Code sections because of limitations in the data that
counties provided. As we discuss in Chapter 1, some counties could not identify all of the youth
that participated in each of their programs and some did not track participant data for some of
their programs.

Interviewed probation department staff to understand the relationship between an individual’s
Welfare and Institutions Code disposition and program assignment. The counties generally indicated
that youth are not assigned to programs based on their Welfare and Institutions Code status, but by
their individual needs.

Interviewed county probation department staff to determine whether each county has a process for
evaluating the effectiveness of its JJCPA-funded programs.

Reviewed evaluation reports to identify methodologies, criteria, limitations, and data the evaluators
used to assess the effectiveness of JJCPA programs.

continued on next page. ...



78 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

14 Tounderstand the State’s JJCPA Obtained and analyzed program cost information from Community Corrections to determine the total
grant program administration, cost—through staff time—to administer the JJCPA program from fiscal years 2013-14
evaluate the following information  through 2018-19.
related to the role of Community
Corrections in administering the
JJCPA grant program:

a. How Community Corrections
uses its budget for purposes
of administering the JJCPA
grant program.

b. Community Corrections’ « Interviewed Community Corrections staff and reviewed processes and procedures to determine and
processes and standards evaluate the extent and adequacy of Community Corrections’ oversight of the JJCPA.
for ensuring county
compliance with JJCPA
statutory requirements, and
the established protocol
if Community Corrections
finds that a county is not in
compliance with state law.

- Interviewed county staff to develop an understanding of their interactions with Community
Corrections.

15 Tounderstand the State’s Reviewed relevant state laws and counties’year-end reports to identify JJCPA reporting requirements.
JJCPA program data collection We determined that the State does not collect participant information from counties. Therefore, we are
process, determine the following unable to present statewide information regarding data about at-risk youth and juvenile offenders who

information related to Community  have been served by JJCPA-funded programs.
Corrections’ data on JJCPA-funded
programs, to the extent possible:

a. The number of youth statewide
who have been served by
JJCPA-funded programs or
services in the past five fiscal
years, disaggregated by race,
gender, age, zip code, and
charges or activities warranting
intervention.

b. To the extent that statewide Reviewed available JJCPA program data from Community Corrections to identify and aggregate
data are available, from certain statewide financial information for the JJCPA program reported during fiscal years 2013-14
fiscal years 2013-14 through through 2017-18.

2017-18, analyze the following

statewide data by fiscal year:

i. Total JJCPA funds budgeted
per program.

ii. Total JJCPA-reported

expenditures per program.

Total JJCPA funds spent

on probation department

salaries and benefits.

iv. Total JJCPA funds spent

on other law enforcement
agency salaries and benefits.

v. Total JJCPA funds spent on

non-law enforcement public
agency salaries and benefits.

Total JJCPA funds spent
on CBOs.

VI.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 79
May 2020

AUDIT OBJECTIVE METHOD

¢. The number of counties Using the JJCPA program information we reviewed in Objective 15b, identified the amount counties
statewide that have reported used for JJCPA programs in fiscal years 2013-14 through 2017-18. However, we determined that we
using JJCPA funds to provide could not identify the number of counties using JJCPA funds to serve youth under specific sections of
services or programs for youth state law because the State does not collect this information from counties. As a result, we also could not
identified under state law, disaggregate the amount of JJCPA funds spent on services and programs operated by probation, other
including, but not limited to, law enforcement and non-law enforcement agencies, and CBOs that serve those youth.

Welfare and Institutions Code
sections 236, 654, and 654.2.
Under each of the above
referenced code sections,
determine the amount of JJCPA
funds spent on services and
programs run by probation
departments, other law
enforcement agencies, non-law
enforcement public agencies,
and CBOs.

16 Review and assess any otherissues  Determined that most of the counties we reviewed thought that JJCPA growth funding was potentially
that are significant to the audit. unstable. As a result, we reviewed the current JJCPA funding process for base and growth funds to
identify the steps the Legislature should take to stabilize the JJCPA funding provided to counties.

Source: Analysis of the Audit Committee’s audit request number 2019-116, state law, and information and documentation identified in the column
titled Method.

Assessment of Data Reliability

The U.S. Government Accountability Office, whose standards we

are statutorily required to follow, requires us to assess the sufficiency
and appropriateness of computer-processed information that we

use to support findings, conclusions, and recommendations. In
performing this audit, we relied on data provided by the counties to
address portions of objectives 10, 11, and 12 related to information
about JJCPA-funded program participants. To evaluate these data,
we reviewed existing information about the data, interviewed staff
knowledgeable about the data systems, and compared the data to a
selection of records the counties maintained in their case management
systems. As we describe in Chapter 1, we found overarching problems
with the data that counties maintained related to participants in

their JJCPA programs. Specifically, some counties did not track
program participants in some years, some counties could not

identify all of their program participants, and one county could

not identify the programs in which some youth participated. As a
result, we determined that the data each county provided to us are
not sufficiently reliable for the purposes of this audit. Nevertheless,
because these data represent the only source for this information,

we use them to present a breakdown in Appendix A of the counties’
JJCPA program participants by age, gender, and race. Although the
problems we identified with the data may affect the precision of some
of the numbers we present, there is sufficient evidence in total to
support our findings, conclusions, and recommendations.



80 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

@ STATE OF CALIFORNIA
CALIFORNIA BOARD OF STATE AND COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS
LINDA M. PENNER 2590 VENTURE OAKS WAY, SUITE 200 + SACRAMENTO CA 95833 + 916.445.5073 + BSCC.CA.GOV
Chair
KATHLEEN T. HOWARD GAVIN NEWSOM
Executive Director Governor

March 25, 2020

Elaine M. Howle, CPA*
California State Auditor
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 200
Sacramento, CA 95814

Linda Penner, Chair

Board of State and Community Corrections
2590 Venture Oaks Way 200

Sacramento, CA 95833

Dear Honorable Ms. Howle,

The Board of State and Community Corrections (BSCC) has received the California
State Auditor’s (CSA) recommendations on the Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act.
We have provided the responses to your recommendations below.

Each header will summarize the recommendations from the CSA and we have
numbered the referenced question on the audit report:

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS - RESULTS IN BRIEF - (PAGES 7 - 8)

5. BSCC should revise its comprehensive plan template to require Coordinating
Councils to specify plan components the county is changing and what those
changes are. If the county is making no changes, the template should require
Coordinating Councils to explain why no changes to the plan are necessary.

BSCC'’s Response: BSCC agrees and has implemented this recommendation
for the upcoming 2020 reporting period.

6. BSCC should review the information counties submit to it and follow up with them to
obtain missing information or to clarify information that seems incorrect.

BSCC'’s Response: On a limited basis, BSCC will follow up with counties to
clarify information that seems incorrect.

*  California State Auditor’s comments begin on page 85.



82 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Howle, E.
Page 2

RECOMMENDATIONS CHAPTER 1: COUNTY OVERSIGHT OF THE JJCPA IS
WEAK - (PAGES 31 - 32)

4. To ensure that counties’ comprehensive plans are informative and up to date, BSCC
should revise its plan template to require Coordinating Councils to specify plan
components the county is changing and to describe those changes. If the county is
making no changes, the template should require Coordinating Councils to explain
why no changes to the plan are necessary.

©) BSCC'’s Response: BSCC agrees and has implemented this recommendation for
the upcoming 2020 reporting period.

RECOMMENDATIONS CHAPTER 2: THE STATE HAS NOT PROVIDED
SUFFICIENT OVERSIGHT OF THE JJCPA (PAGES 46 - 48)

3. To ensure that counties include accurate information in their comprehensive plans
and year-end reports, BSCC should review the information counties submit to it and
follow up with them to obtain missing information or to clarify information that seem
incorrect.

@ BSCC'’s Response: On a limited basis, BSCC will follow up with counties to
clarify information that seems incorrect.

4. To better promote effective local efforts related to the JJCPA, BSCC should include
on its website the capability for stakeholders, counties, and other interested parties
to review and easily compare the JUICPA information of multiple counties.
Specifically, its website should allow users to be able to select a specific type of
JJCPA-funded program and easily review information the counties submitted for all
programs associated with the program type.

©) BSCC’s Response: BSCC believes that the information about programs is readily
available in the individual county reports that are posted. Although there may be
value in providing searchable capability by program type, the BSCC does not
currently have the resources for this work.




California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Howle, E.
Page 3

5. BSCC should determine the cost of providing this additional service and, if
necessary, request additional resources.

BSCC'’s Response: In the event of a statutory change to require this additional
reporting, BSCC would cost out the resources that would be needed.

If you have questions, please contact Juanita Reynaga at
Juanita.Reynaga@bscc.ca.gov.

Thank you,

LINDA PENNER
Chair

Cc: Vance Cable, Senior Auditor Evaluator |
Kathleen T. Howard, Executive Director
Aaron Maguire, General Counsel
Ricardo Goodridge, Deputy Director
Juanita Reynaga, Senior Management Auditor
Adam Lwin, Associate Governmental Program Analyst

83



84 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Comments

CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS ON
THE RESPONSE FROM THE BOARD OF STATE AND
COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS

To provide clarity and perspective, we are commenting on the
response from Community Corrections. The numbers below
correspond to the numbers we have placed in the margin of
Community Corrections’ response.

We look forward to reviewing Community Corrections’ 60-day
response to the audit recommendations to assess its progress in
implementing them.

Community Corrections' plan to follow up with counties only on

a limited basis to clarify information that seems incorrect is not
sufficient. As we describe on page 34, we found several instances in
which counties did not report information correctly in their year-end
reports to Community Corrections. Further, we state on the same
page that these issues would be relatively simple for counties to
correct if Community Corrections reviewed the information they
submit to ensure that they have accurately reported and appropriately
categorized their programs. Thus, we stand by our recommendation
that Community Corrections should review all of the information
counties submit to it and follow-up with them to obtain missing
information or to clarify information that seems incorrect.

We acknowledge on page 36 that Community Corrections views its
statutory responsibility to post a description or summary of JJCPA
information narrowly and that Community Corrections has not
calculated the cost of organizing and displaying JJCPA information
on its website in more useful ways. We also point out on page 38 that
Community Corrections has the capability to develop a more robust
presentation of JJCPA information because it currently presents
other statewide information using the same software that we used

to create our interactive graphic.s Further, as we explain on page 37,
some of the counties we visited expressed that it would be helpful

if Community Corrections improved the information it displays
about the programs that other counties are funding with their JJCPA
allocations. Thus, we stand by our recommendation that Community
Corrections should improve its website related to JJCPA information
and we believe the minimal cost to implement the recommendation
would help Community Corrections further satisfy its duty to
identify and promote evidence-based and innovative programs.

6 To view a display of program budgets and information for all counties that participate in the
JJCPA, visit our interactive dashboard in the online version of this report at www.auditor.ca.gov/
reports/2019-116/supplementalgraphic.html.

May 2020

85



86

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Community Corrections incorrectly implies that our
recommendation is contingent on a statutory change. It is not.
We believe that Community Corrections should be proactive
and determine the cost of providing the additional services on its
website and, if necessary, request additional resources.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 87
May 2020

KERN CoOuNTY PrROBATION DEFPARTMENT

TR NVerickel

Chief Probation Officer

March 19, 2020

Elaine M. Howle™

California State Auditor

621 Capitol Mall Suite 1200
Sacramento, CA 95814

Re: JJCPA Audit Response
Dear Ms. Howle:

Kern would like to thank the State Auditor’s staff. During the course of this audit, they
were attentive and responsive, and we appreciate their professionalism. The County
has received and reviewed the report. While we concur with some of its findings and
comments, we disagree with others which will be discussed below. Regardless, we
understand the importance of the audit process and will continue to strive to best serve
the people of Kern County.

The section titled, “[Kern’s] Comprehensive Plan [Is] Outdated” discusses how Kern's
plan rarely changed and therefore was outdated. This does not take into account the @
significant changes outside of JJCPA funded programs. It is true that the JJCPA funded
programs (Aftercare and GIST “Gang Intervention and Suppression Team”) continued
to be JJCPA funded without much alterations since 2009. However, after a series of
modifications to the plan in earlier years, we settled on a strategy concept that focused
on those youth identified as moderate to high risk based on the PACT (Positive
Achievement Change Tool — an evidence-based assessment), significantly gang
involved, and released directly from long-term commitment programs (which made up
Aftercare and GIST caseloads). Despite other changes made in our juvenile system
unrelated to the plan, the number of youths requiring services through Aftercare and
GIST justified the continued use of JUCPA funds dedicated to those programs.

There have been significant changes in our overall approach to juvenile justice in Kern @
over the same period of time. Examples include but are not limited to the following:
Kern created the Juvenile Programs Unit, a unit of non-sworn staff who directly deliver
multiple evidence-based treatment programs to youth both in and out of custody. Kern
expanded services at our Bridges Academy; a school program operated in conjunction
with the Superintendent of Schools. Increased mental health, educational and
vocational programs have been offered to at risk youth. The Probation Department
implemented use of an evidence-based assessment tool (PACT) that drives much of the
decisions to divert youth out of the juvenile justice system, as well as determination of

2005 Ridge Road « Bakersfield, CA 93305 « Phone (B611868-4100 + Fax(681)8688-4199 « TTY Relay 1-800-735-2928

*  (California State Auditor’s comments begin on page 91.



88 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

JJCPA Audit Response
March 19, 2020
Page 2

supervision level and needed programming in order to address criminogenic needs.
Furthermore, Kern has focused on best practices and emerging trends through staff
development through trainings and implementation of trauma informed care,
motivational interviewing and evidence-based practices.

@ By focusing on JJCPA funded programs the report fails to paint the full picture of the
changes and evolution to the continuum of services offered by Kern. While the JJCPA
funded programs are a very important part of that continuum they are not exclusive of
our overall approach and response. It was determined by the JJCC (Juvenile Justice
Coordinating Council) that the JJCPA funded programs continued to be needed. The
JJCC was fully informed and presented information regarding the other changes to the
overall juvenile justice system.

The section titled “[Kern’s] Plan Would Benefit from Defining At-Risk Youth” states that

® Kern should define “at-risk youth” as part of its plan. While the County would concede
that technically this is correct, it disagrees that the County has not, in practice, complied
with this requirement. The entire way the County addresses its juvenile justice system
is based on evidence-based assessments that determine risk level to re-offend. The
County uses this information to make decisions on diversion or formal Court action. It
drives how and to what level we supervise youth on probation. It helps dictate individual
case plans to ensure that they focus on the top criminogenic needs of the youth. It
drove the creation of the Juvenile Programs Unit by identifying the largest gaps in
service to address criminogenic needs.

The “Introduction” section of the report discusses the Pew-McArthur Results First
Initiate and Clearinghouse Database and its effectiveness and importance. It should be
noted that Kern was one of the first four counties in California to implement Results
First. This was done in our adult criminal justice system, however, much of what we
learned was translated into our Juvenile system as well, resulting in the creation of new
programs such as our Juvenile Programs Unit. This program, and others, focus on
proven best practices in community corrections in order to reduce recidivism.

Ultimately, Kern will continue to strive for improvement in order to best serve our youth
and our community. We will work diligently to address those areas where we concur

O) changes should be made. However, based on the above stated reasons, we do not
concur with several conclusions reach in the report.

Recommendation #1: To determine the effectiveness of their use of JICPA funds,
Kern...should include in its year-end reports to Community Corrections descriptions or
analyses of how its JICPA-funded programs influenced the county’s juvenile justice
trends, as required by law.




California State Auditor Report 2019-116 89
May 2020

JJCPA Audit Response
March 19, 2020
Page 3

Response to Recommendation #1: Kern agrees with this recommendation and will
increase its descriptions and analyses of how its JJCPA-funded programs influenced
the county’s juvenile justice trends in its year-end reports.

Recommendation #2: To accurately assess the effectiveness of their programs,
Kern...should determine how to accurately identify in its case management system the
JJCPA programs and services in which each individual participated or enhance these
systems to provide this capability.

Response to Recommendation #2: Kern agrees with this recommendation. Our current
case management system (CMS) is an older, home-grow system with limited data
tracking capabilities. The County has attempted to upgrade its CMS capabilities;
however, a new system has not yet been implemented. However, the County will
implement alternative solutions to track the needed data to comply with the
recommendation until a fully competent CMS solution is online.

Sincerely,
m

TR Merickel

Chief Probation Officer

Kern County Probation Department

merickelt@kernprobation.org

(661) 868-4102




20 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Comments

CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS
ON THE RESPONSE FROM THE KERN COUNTY
PROBATION DEPARTMENT

To provide clarity and perspective, we are commenting on the
response from Kern. The numbers below correspond to the
numbers we have placed in the margin of Kern’s response.

Although Kern asserts that it has made significant changes to its
juvenile justice strategy, its comprehensive plans often did not
reflect any changes. As we describe in the Introduction on page 8,
the JJCPA requires counties to include four components in their
comprehensive plans that generally summarize their holistic efforts
to reduce juvenile crime. Additionally, we state on page 17 that
according to Community Corrections, the comprehensive plans
should describe how JJCPA-funded programs fit within the context
of counties’ overall juvenile justice strategies. Therefore, to meet
the requirements of the JJCPA related to preparing comprehensive
plans, Kern should have communicated in its comprehensive

plan any significant changes to its approach to juvenile crime and
delinquency, including changes to its JJCPA-funded programs.
However, as shown in Figure 2 on page 19, Kern made no changes
to its comprehensive plan in 14 of the 18 years since the inception of
the JJCPA. Consequently, we concluded that Kern’s comprehensive
plans were outdated and do not accurately reflect the county’s
strategies for addressing juvenile crime and delinquency.

We acknowledge in the Introduction on page 8 that in addition

to describing the JJCPA-funded programs, the JJCPA requires
counties to assess the existing services for juvenile offenders,
at-risk youth, and their families and to describe their local action
strategies for providing a continuum of responses to juvenile
crime and delinquency. As noted on page 73, the Audit Committee
directed us to evaluate the spending, reporting, and evaluation

of JJCPA funds by five counties, including Kern, and to evaluate
their decision-making processes related to these funds. While we
were aware of other juvenile justice activities that the five counties
performed, these activities were outside of the audit’s scope.

Although Kern asserts that it complied with this requirement

in practice, Kern’s comprehensive plan did not formally define
at-risk youth or identify risk factors, as we indicate in Table 3 on
page 23. We acknowledge on page 20 Kern’s efforts to revise its
method for assessing whether juveniles are at risk of reoffending,
but without specific, documented definitions of at-risk youth in
Kern’s comprehensive plans, parents and stakeholders may not
know where to turn for services to assist the youth in their care.

May 2020

91



92

California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020

Likewise, without this definition, Kern cannot demonstrate that it
has complied with state law requiring it to develop comprehensive
plans that assess existing services for and includes responses to
juvenile offenders and at-risk youth.

We look forward to reviewing Kern’s 60-day response to the
audit recommendations to assess its progress in implementing them.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

May 2020
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES ij,,m%\
PROBATION DEPARTMENT S )
9150 EAST IMPERIAL HIGHWAY — DOWNEY, CALIFORNIA 90242 T8 HF“:;%
(562) 940-2501 ‘@ﬁ,ﬁ%
=7
RAY LEYVA St

Interim Chief Probation Officer

March 24, 2020

Ms. Elaine Howle"
Califomnia State Auditor

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200
Sacramento, CA 95814

Ms. Howle,

Attached is the Los Angeles County response to the draft report titled, “Juvenile Justice
Crime Prevention Act: Weak Oversight Has Hindered Its Meaningfut Implementation,”
an audit that was the result of a Joint Legislative Audit Committee Request.

Our County has a history of prioritizing the utilization of our JICPA funding for direct services
to our youth and families. We will continue to work together with our decision makers and
stakeholders to implement strategies that positively impact programming for our youth in
Los Angeles County.

Additionally, | appreciate the process and time your Audit staff spent with my Department so
that we could provide requested information and respond to this audit. Please direct any
additional questions to Felicia Cotton, Deputy Director, Juvenile Field Services at
(562) 940-2526 or via email at Felicia.Cotton @ probation.lacounty.gov.

Sincerely,

Ray Léyva
Interim Chief Probal

Officer
Attachment
c: Sheila E. Mitchell, Chief Deputy — Juvenile Services

Tom Faust, Acting Chief Deputy — Juvenile Services
Felicia Cotton, Deputy Director — Juvenile Field Services

Rebuild Lives and Provide for Healthier and Safer Communities

*  (California State Auditor’s comments begin on page 97.




94

California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

The following includes the County of Los Angeles’ detailed response, by Chapter and
Recommendation, to the Auditor of the State of California’s draft report titled, “Juvenile
Justice Crime Prevention Act: Weak Oversight Has Hindered Its Meaningful
Implementation.”

Overview

Overall, Los Angeles County’s JJCPA funding has been a part of our Juvenile Justice
continuum for program and service provision to our youth and families since inception.
As mentioned in the draft report, recent efforts to update our County’s comprehensive
plan expanded and included additional stakeholders in the development process.
Revisions throughout the years were based on strategies, which thereby impacted
programs. Additionally, Los Angeles County went above and beyond by having our
contracted JJCPA evaluator produce an annual report utilized to inform decision makers
and stakeholders about promising program results.

Chapter 1: County Oversight of the JJCPA

Recommendation: To determine the effectiveness of its use of JICPA funds, Los
Angeles should include in its year-end reports to Community Corrections descriptions or
analyses of how its JUCPA funded programs influenced the county's juvenile justice
trends, as required by law.

Response: Agree. Los Angeles County included the intended outcomes in the year-
end reports, however there was a rich body of information from the evaluator and other
researchers that could have been included as a supplement. This supplemental
information has been utilized to inform decision makers and established policies
throughout the juvenile justice community in the County of Los Angeles. The RAND
Corporation, our JJCPA program evaluator during a portion of the audit period (Fiscal
Years' 2013-14, 2014-15, 2015-16) and Resource Development Associates {(published
evaluation in April 2018 for FYs 2012-13, 2013-14, 2014-15 and 2015-16) published
reports on their public websites that affirmed such efforts

Recommendation: Los Angeles should collect data on all participants in each JICPA
program and service to adequately assess the effectiveness of those programs at
reducing juvenile crime and delinquency.

Response: Agree.

Recommendation: To accurately assess the effectiveness of its programs, Los Angeles
should determine how to accurately identify in its case management systems the JJCPA
programs and services in which each individual participated or enhance these systems
to provide this capability.

Response: Agree. Los Angeles utilizes several source systems to track the various
youth and families who receive services through JICPA funding. Our case management
system is utilized for case information related to Probation youth.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Chapter 2: State Oversight of the JICPA

Recommendation: None.

Appendix A - Program Descriptions, Expenditures, and Demographics of JJCPA
Program Participants at the Five Counties We Reviewed, Fiscal Years 2013-14
through 2017-18

Comments: Table A.4, titled, “Percentages of Certain Demographics for Los Angeles
JJCPA-Funded Programs During Fiscal Years 2013-14 through 2017-18,” includes our
Base-Funded Programs and only one (1) identified One-Time Projects Program (the Early
Intervention and Diversion Program). Additionally, the Table A.4 footnote mentions that
“Los Angeles does not track demographic data for its Early Intervention and Diversion
Program or its One-Time Projects Program. To clarify, the Early Intervention and
Diversion Program is a One-Time Projects Program. Los Angeles has various One-Time
funded programs for which we may collect participant or demographic information where
applicable; some funded projects included system enhancements, transportation and
other programs.

95

©)



96 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Comments

CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENTS ON THE
RESPONSE FROM THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
PROBATION DEPARTMENT

To provide clarity and perspective, we are commenting on the
response from Los Angeles. The numbers below correspond to the
numbers we have placed in the margin of Los Angeles’s response.

On page 27 of our report we acknowledge Los Angeles’s contract
with an external evaluator to assess the effectiveness of its
JJICPA-funded programs. However, we disagree with the county’s
characterization that it went “above and beyond” because

Los Angeles did not include the key findings from its evaluator in its
2018 year-end report that it submitted to Community Corrections.
As we note on page 27, by not including its evaluator’s key findings
in its year-end report, Los Angeles missed an opportunity to

inform decision makers, stakeholders, and other counties about the
effectiveness of its use of JJCPA funds.

Although Los Angeles indicates that it included the intended
outcomes in its year-end reports, we found it did not report the
measures of effectiveness required by state law. As we describe
starting on page 27, Los Angeles did not include in its year-end
reports descriptions or analyses of how its JJCPA-funded programs
may have contributed to or influenced countywide juvenile justice
trends, such as declining arrests.

Los Angeles incorrectly states that Table A.4 on page 49 includes
only one identified One-Time Projects program—the Early
Intervention and Diversion program. In fact, Table A.4 includes
information for all of the programs Los Angeles reported that it
operated from fiscal years 2013—14 through 2017-18, including

the Early Intervention and Diversion program and the One-Time
Projects program. Further, Los Angeles’s assertion that the Early
Intervention and Diversion program should be classified as a
One-Time Projects program contradicts what it reported to
Community Corrections. Specifically, in its year-end reports to
Community Corrections, which was the source of the information
presented in Appendix A, Los Angeles did not indicate that the
Early Intervention and Diversion program was a One-Time Projects
program. Thus, we expected Los Angeles to provide demographic
data separately for both the Early Intervention and Diversion
program and the One-Time Projects program.

May 2020

97



98 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Mendocino County Probation Department

Izen Locatelli
Chief Probation Officer

March 19, 2020

Elaine M. Howle, CPA*
California State Auditor
621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200
Sacramento, CA 95814

Dear Ms. Howle:

Please accept this letter as the County of Mendocino’s response to the California State Auditor’s draft, redacted
report entitled, “"Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act: Weak Oversight Has Hindered lts Meaningful
Implementation”. As stated in our response, Mendocino County is committed to the goal of reducing crime and
delinguency among young people.

We appreciate the professionalism of your audit team and look forward to seeing the final report.

Should you have any questions, please contact me at (707) 234-6911.

Izen Locatelli
Chief Probation Officer

Sincerely,

Attachment

ce: Carmel Angelo, Chief Executive Officer
Christian Curtis, Acting County Counsel
Brina Blanton, Deputy County Counsel

Admin/Adult Court & Field Services: 589 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 234-6900 Admin/Court Fax (707) 463-5461 Field Fax (707) 463-5749
Coastal Adult Field Office: 700 S. Franklin, Ste. 107, Ft. Bragg, CA 95437 Ph (707) 234-6900 Fax (707) 961-2400
North County Adult Field Office: 472 E. Valley St, Willits, CA 95490 Ph (707) 234-6900 Fax (707) 459-7899
Juvenile Services: 585 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 234-6930 Fax (707) 463-44234
Juvenile Hall: 585 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 463-6368 Fax (707) 463-4460

*  (California State Auditor's comment appears on page 103.

May 2020

929



100 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Mendocino County Probation Department

Izen Locatelli
Chief Probation Officer

March 19, 2020

Mendocino County submits this response to the recommendation and statements made in the draft, redacted
State Audit Report 2019-116, “Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act: Weak Oversight Has Hindered lts
Meaningful Implementation”.

Overview of the Report

Mendocino County is committed to the goal of reducing crime and delinguency among the young people in our
communities. We appreciate the thoroughness with which this audit was conducted. While the scope of the
audit was focused on the Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act (JJCPA) funding, Mendocino County wanted to
highlight other fund expenditures in the area of juvenile justice. It was mentioned within the report that
Mendocino County had not contracted with Community Based Organizations (CBO'’s) and other agencies for

@ JJCPA funds. It should be noted, however, that Mendocino utilized a significant amount of its Youthful Offender
Block Grant (YOBG) expenditures towards CBO's. Specifically, during the 5 years that covered this audit,
Mendocino County spent 64% of total YOBG expenditures in those years with a CBO for a community-based
Drug and Alcohol Treatment program. This program supports two out-patient, community-based programs to
address substance abuse. The Foundations program provides early intervention services to youth with low-level
drug and alcohol offenses and juvenile probationers with drug or alcohol-related probation violations. The
Passages program provides treatment to youth on probation who have a dual diagnosis (mental health and
substance abuse). These programs service not only youth currently in the juvenile justice system, but also
serves youth in a pro-active and prevention method through direct referrals from schools and also through
diversion alternatives. In the development of our updated Comprehensive Multi-agency Juvenile Justice Plan,
this program will now be funded with JJCPA funding.

Also mentioned in the report is the Comprehensive Multi-agency Juvenile Justice Plan being outdated and
incomplete. As was noted in the report, this plan has been in place in its current form since 2009-2010. While
we continued to operate the same program since that year with no substantive modifications, Mendocino County,
in conjunction with stakeholders, acknowledge the need to update our plan. While this is not a recommendation
of the report, Mendocino County has taken additional steps beyond the recommendations of the audit report to
complete an extensive and in-depth CMJJP which will be presented at our newly reconvened Juvenile Justice
Coordinating Council this month.

Response to Recommendations Made in the Draft Audit Report for Mendocino County

Recommendation 1: To ensure that its Coordinating Council meets statutory requirements and is transparent to
stakeholders, Mendocino County should reinstate its Coordinating Council, and should develop and implement
bylaws for its Coordinating Council.

Admin/Adult Court & Field Services: 569 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 234-6300 Admin/Court Fax (707) 463-5461 Field Fax (707) 463-5749
Coastal Adult Field Office: 700 S. Franklin, Ste. 107, Ft. Bragg, CA 95437 Ph (707) 234-6900 Fax (707) 961-2400
North County Adult Field Office: 472 E. Valley St, Willits, CA 95490 Ph (707) 234-6900 Fax (707) 459-7899
Juvenile Services: 585 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 234-6930 Fax (707) 463-4434
Juvenile Hall: 585 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 463-6368 Fax (707) 463-4460



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Mendocino County Probation Department

Izen Locatelli
Chief Probation Officer

Response 1: Mendocino County agrees with this recommendation and has taken the necessary steps in
reinstating our Juvenile Justice Coordinating Council (JJCC). We have developed a draft updated
Comprehensive Multi-agency Juvenile Justice Plan (CMJJP) by contacting key stakeholders and those required
to be a part of the JJCC as defined by 749.22 of the Welfare & Institutions Code. Additionally, draft bylaws have
been prepared. At this time our new reinstated JJCC is scheduled to meet on March 27, 2020 at which time the
JJCC will be presented with both the CMJJP and bylaws for review, comment and approval. Once the JJCC has
approved both the CMJJP and the bylaws, both documents will be presented to the Mendocino County Board of
Supervisors for final approval, tentatively scheduled for April 20, 2020.

Recommendation 2: To determine the effectiveness of their use of JUCPA funds, Mendocino should include in
its year-end reports to Community Corrections descriptions or analyses of how its JJCPA-funded program
influenced the county’s juvenile justice trends, as required by law.

Response 2: Mendocino County agrees and will take steps to implement this recommendation.

Recommendation 3: Mendocino should collect data on all participants in each JICPA program and service to
adequately assess the effectiveness of those programs at reducing juvenile crime and delinquency.

Response 3: Mendocino County agrees and will take steps to implement this recommendation. As the updated
CMJJP includes new JJCPA funded programs, Mendocino plans to commence data collection on the funded
programs at the on-set of these programs. A critical part of this recommendation which Mendocino County will
address involves the definition and parameters of the data to be collected. As mentioned in the report,
Mendocino County does have limitations in our current case management system to collect all necessary data in
a method that will allow effective data extraction and, thus, analysis. We will be working with our system vendor
to identify and make system modifications, where possible, to allow for the effective collection and extraction of
data through the system. Where the system is unable to support necessary data collection needs, Mendocino
County will work on developing alternative data collection methods.

Mendocino County believes the responses above will effectively address the recommendations addressed in the
draft audit report.

Admin/Adult Court & Field Services: 589 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 234-6900 Admin/Court Fax (707) 463-5461 Field Fax (707) 463-5749
Coastal Adult Field Office: 700 S. Franklin, Ste. 107, Ft. Bragg, CA 95437 Ph (707) 234-6900 Fax (707) 961-2400
North County Adult Field Office: 472 E. Valley St, Willits, CA 95490 Ph (707) 234-6900 Fax (707) 459-7899
Juvenile Services: 585 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 234-6930 Fax (707) 463-4434
Juvenile Hall: 585 Low Gap Rd, Ukiah, CA 95482 Ph (707) 463-6368 Fax (707) 463-4460

101



102 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116

Comment

CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S COMMENT ON THE
RESPONSE FROM THE MENDOCINO COUNTY PROBATION
DEPARTMENT

To provide clarity and perspective, we are commenting on the
response from Mendocino. The number below corresponds to the
number we have placed in the margin of Mendocino’s response.

Mendocino asserts that it used funding from the Youthful Offender
Block Grant to support a drug and alcohol treatment program
operated by a CBO. As we describe on page 12, state law currently
requires counties to include information about the JJCPA and

the Youthful Offender Block Grant in their comprehensive plans.
However, the Audit Committee did not ask us to audit expenditures
of the Youthful Offender Block Grant and therefore, we cannot
comment on Mendocino’s assertion.

May 2020

103



104 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Blank page inserted for reproduction purposes only.



California State Auditor Report 2019-116 105
May 2020

Stephanie L.James CHIEF PROBATION OFFICER

March 16, 2020

Elaine M. Howle, CPA
California State Auditor

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200
Sacramento, CA 95814

RE: State Audit Report —Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act
Dear Ms. Howle,

On behalf of the San Joaquin County Probation Department, this letter provides a response to
the draft redacted State Audit report titled, “Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act: Weak
Oversight Has Hindered Its Meaningful Implementation.”

In response to the draft audit report recommendation, the Probation Department provides the
following:

Recommendation #1: To ensure that it’s Coordinating Council meet statutory requirements
and are transparent to stakeholders, San Joaquin should develop and implement bylaws for its
Coordinating Council.

Response #1: While not required by legislation, the San Joaquin County Probation Department
acknowledges that it is a best practice and will implement the recommendation.

Recommendation #2: To determine the effectiveness of its use of JJCPA funds, San Joaquin
should include in its year-end reports to Community Corrections descriptions or analyses of
how its JICPA-funded programs influenced the county’s juvenile justice trends, as required by
law.

Response #2: The San Joaquin County Probation Department is committed to evaluating its
JJCPA programs. As such, we have been under contract with an outside evaluator, the San
Joaquin Community Data Co-Op (Data Co-Op) since 2001. The Data Co-Op prepares an annual
evaluation report that they present annually to the Juvenile Justice Coordinating Council. The
report includes a wide range of findings on program outcomes. However, the California State

Juvenile Court and Field Services Juvenile Detention Facilities Adult/AB 109 Services Administration
575 W. Mathews Road 535 W. Mathews Road > Canlis Building, 24 S. Hunter Street 575 W. Mathews Road
French Camp, CA 95231 French Camp, CA 95231 * Stockton, CA 95202 French Camp, CA 95231

209.468.4000 209.468.4200 209.953.7812 209.468.4068



106 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

Supporting

Stephanie L. James CHIEF PROBATION OFFICER

Auditor is correct and we have not been including these findings on our annual report to the
Board of State and Community Corrections. The San Joaquin County Prabation Department will
begin doing so with our next report.

Recommendation #3: San Joaquin should collect data on all participants in each JJICPA program
and service to adequately assess the effectiveness of those programs at reducing juvenile crime
and delinquency.

Response #3: The San Joaquin County Probation Department has consistently collected data
for the two primary JJCPA Praobation Department programs: Probation Officers on Campus and
Reconnect Day Reporting Center. The Neighborhood Service Centers provides their data
directly to the Data Co-Op for evaluation purposes. However, when we began funding the
Family Focused Intervention Team in 2017-2018 and the Positive Youth Justice Initiative in
2018-2019, the Department inadvertently forgot to have the Data Co-Op evaluate those
programs. We have since increased our contract with the San Joaquin Community Data Co-Op
and will include this information in our next report. It is important to note, the San Joaquin
County Probation Department recently entered into a contract to replace its Juvenile Justice
Case Management System. It is expected to go live during the 2020-2021 fiscal year.

The Probation Department would like to thank you and your staff for their professionalism and
diligence during this audit process. We look forward to seeing the final report.

Thank you,

Stephanie L. James
Chief Probation Officer

Juvenile Court and Field Services ! Juvenile Detention Facilities Adult/AB 109 Services s Administration
575 W. Mathews Road L 535 W. Mathews Road Canlis Building, 24 S. Hunter Street 575 W. Mathews Road
French Camp, CA 95231 ' French Camp, CA 95231 Stockton, CA 95202 French Camp, CA 95231

209.468.4000 209.468.4200 209.953.7812 209.468.4068



California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

PROBATION DEPARTMENT  [AMWAHETMAN

County of Santa Barbara HOLLYL BENTON
Deputy Chief Probation Officer
KIMBERLY SHEAN
Deputy Chief Probation Officer
117 E. Carrillo St., Santa Barbara, CA 93101 SHAWN E. SMALL
(805) 882-3700 * Fax (805) 882-3651 Deputy Chief Probation Officer
www.sbprobation.org DAMON FLETCHER, CPA

Administrative Deputy Director

March 19, 2020

Elaine M. Howle

State Auditor

621 Capitol Mall, Suite 1200
Sacramento, CA 95814

Dear Ms. Howle:

The County of Santa Barbara submits this response to the recommendations and statements made in the draft
audit report 2019-116, entitled “Juvenile Justice Crime Prevention Act: Weak Oversight Has Hindered Its
Meaningful Implementation.” This audit was conducted at the direction of the Joint Legislative Audit Committee
(JLAC) of the California Legislature.

Recommendation 1: To determine the effectiveness of the use of its JJCPA funds, Santa Barbara should include
in its year-end reports to Community Corrections descriptions or analyses of how its JJCPA-funded programs
influenced the county’s juvenile justice trends, as required by law.

County of Santa Barbara Response: We agree that descriptions of how our JJCPA-funded programs
influenced juvenile justice trends could be more robust in our year-end reports. Enhanced data collection and
program monitoring is key to this analysis. In FY 2018-19, in response to the issues which emerged from the
Probation Department’s comprehensive data mining, the Department asked our local providers to embrace new
models of programming, and introduced the idea of evidence-based practices in our services. In FY 2019-20, the
Department introduced very basic performance measures, to help providers understand the concepts of program
evaluation and begin the transition to more comprehensive evaluation measures. In FY 2020-21, the Department
is implementing robust performance measures for each provider, which include a set of measures standardized
across all programs, as well as a set of program-specific measures tailored to the services each provider is
contracted to perform. These measures will be incorporated into each provider contract and will be reported on
quarterly, The Department has also created a department business specialist position to perform program and
contract analysis; that position will be responsible for ongoing evaluation of performance measures, and
conducting fidelity checks to ensure evidence-based programs are provided according to the program models.

With more comprehensive program/contract monitoring and better performance outcome data, combined with
continued scrutiny of our internal data (risk assessment and recidivism information, in particular), we will be
able to provide stronger analysis over time of the nexus between funded programs and the county’s juvenile
justice trends.

Recommendation 2: To accurately assess the effectiveness of its programs, Santa Barbara should determine
how to accurately identify in its case management systems the JJCPA programs and services in which each
individual participated or enhance these systems to provide this capability.

107



108 California State Auditor Report 2019-116
May 2020

County of Santa Barbara Response: We agree with this recommendation. Many changes have been made to
the County’s JJCPA-funded services and programs over the last 20 years. Unfortunately, the electronic tracking
mechanisms for those programs and services did not always change concurrently, which has led to inaccuracies
in the historical JJCPA data. As program names changed and service models shifted, this was not always
reflected in the case supervision types used to indicate youth receiving JJCPA services in our case management
system. In some cases, supervision types were removed from the system or disabled when a program was
renamed or terminated, but without a clear replacement which would enable continuous tracking of those cases
assigned under JJCPA-funded programs. This reflects a disconnect between the service and supervision being
provided daily, and the electronic tracking components associated with the case management system. Our
electronic case management system has the capability we require; the Department has begun exploring solutions
to the problem of tracking and identification.

Sincerely,
Cﬂa\jac{i 0ehv\a—
Tanja Heitman

Chief Probation Officer
County of Santa Barbara Probation Department



	07-23-20 agenda
	Item 2. FY 20-21 JJCPA Budget May Revise
	Item 3. Final BSCC FY 2020-21 JJCPA-YOBG Consolidated Annual Plan
	Item 4 - JJCPA Report 2019-116
	Cover
	Public Letter
	Selected Abbreviations Used in This Report
	Contents
	Summary
	Introduction
	Table 1
	Chapter 1—THE COUNTIES HAVE PROVIDED WEAK OVERSIGHT OF THE JJCPA
	Table 2
	Figure 1
	Figure 2
	Table 3
	Figure 3
	Recommendations
	Chapter 2—THE STATE HAS NOT PROVIDED SUFFICIENT OVERSIGHT OF THE JJCPA
	Table 4
	Figure 4
	Figure 5
	Figure 6
	Recommendations
	Appendix A—JJCPA Program Descriptions, Expenditures, and Participant Demographics at the Five Counties We Reviewed, Fiscal Years 2013–14 Through 2017–18
	Table A.1
	Table A.2
	Table A.3
	Table A.4
	Table A.5
	Table A.6
	Table A.7
	Table A.8
	Table A.9
	Table A.10
	Table A.11
	Table A.12
	Table A.13
	Table A.14
	Table A.15
	Table A.16
	Table A.17
	Table A.18
	Table A.19
	Table A.20
	Table A.21
	Table A.22
	Table A.23
	Table A.24
	Table A.25
	Table A.26
	Table A.27
	Table A.28
	Appendix B—Scope and Methodology
	Table B
	Agency Response—Board of State and Community Corrections
	California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From the Board of State and Community Corrections
	Agency Response—Kern County Probation Department
	California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From the Kern County Probation Department
	Agency Response—County of Los Angeles Probation Department
	California State Auditor’s Comments on the Response From the County of Los Angeles Probation Department
	Agency Response—Mendocino County Probation Department
	California State Auditor’s Comment on the Response From the Mendocino County Probation Department
	Agency Response—San Joaquin County Probation Department
	Agency Response—County of Santa Barbara Probation Department




